University of South Carolina Scholar Commons

Theses and Dissertations

8-9-2014

LONGITUDINAL CHANGES IN THE INFLAMMATORY POTENTIAL OF DIET AND RISK OF CANCER IN WOMEN

Fred KinyuyTabung University of South Carolina,

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarcommons.sc.edu/etd Part of the <u>Public Health Commons</u>

Recommended Citation

KinyuyTabung, F.(2014). LONGITUDINAL CHANGES IN THE INFLAMMATORY POTENTIAL OF DIET AND RISK OF CANCER IN WOMEN. (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from https://scholarcommons.sc.edu/etd/2905

This Open Access Dissertation is brought to you by Scholar Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Scholar Commons. For more information, please contact dillarda@mailbox.sc.edu.



LONGITUDINAL CHANGES IN THE INFLAMMATORY POTENTIAL OF DIET AND RISK OF CANCER IN WOMEN

by

Fred KinyuyTabung

Bachelor of Medical Laboratory Science University of Buea 2001

Master of Science in Public Health University of South Carolina, 2009

Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

For the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy in

Epidemiology

The Norman J. Arnold School of Public Health

University of South Carolina

2014

Accepted by:

Susan E. Steck, Major Professor

James R. Hebert, Committee Member

Angela D. Liese, Committee Member

JiaJia Zhang, Committee Member

Yunsheng Ma, Committee Member

Lacy Ford, Vice Provost and Dean of Graduate Studies



© Copyright by Fred Kinyuy Tabung, 2014 All Rights Reserved.



DEDICATION

This dissertation is dedicated to my wife, Nicole and kids, Prince, Blaise and Brielle; who have been a great source of support and encouragement, helping me to overcome the challenges of graduate school. I am truly thankful for having all of you in my life. I also dedicate this work to my mother, Mary Bernsa, who relentlessly encouraged me to always work hard for success and not to despair when success doesn't come soon enough.



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First, I would like to thank my wife, Nicole Tabung, for being such a supportive wife to me and a wonderful mother to our three great kids. I can't thank you enough and could not have been able to achieve success without your support.

I would like to thank my dissertation committee chair, Dr. Susan Steck, whose guidance and mentorship throughout my doctoral program have been invaluable to my success in the program. I am very grateful for the many opportunities you afforded me in grant writing, participation in numerous scientific meetings and manuscript preparation. Our weekly meetings were crucial for my scientific and career development and I always looked forward to them. I would like to thank also, the members of my dissertation committee: Dr. James Hebert, Dr. Angela Liese, Dr. Jiajia Zhang and Dr. Yunsheng Ma. I am grateful for the interest and dedication you showed in my work. I highly appreciate the expertise and support that you readily provided me, not only for my dissertation, but also on many other aspects of my scientific and career development.

My dissertation research was supported by the Ruth L. Kirschstein National Research Service Award (F31CA177255) from the National Cancer Institute, and I am grateful also, to the Women's Health Initiative for providing all the data for this work.

I am deeply appreciative of many other people who have helped me throughout this process, including friends like Eric Wanneh, Shaun Owens and many others, and the constant support of all my siblings; Edith, Michael, Joseph, Martha, and Gilbert.



ABSTRACT

Introduction: The dietary inflammatory index (DII) assesses an individual's overall diet quality with regards to its inflammatory potential on a continuum from maximally anti-inflammatory (lower or healthier DII scores) to maximally proinflammatory (higher or unhealthy DII scores). The DII measured at one point in time has been associated with cancer risk in previous studies; however, data are lacking regarding the change in DII over time and how these changes impact cancer risk. We assessed changes in the DII, and evaluated associations between cumulative history, and changes over time in dietary inflammatory potential, and risk of colorectal cancer (CRC) and breast cancer (BRCA). Methods: Study participants were women aged 50-79 years recruited from 1993-1998 into the Women's Health Initiative (WHI) Observational Study (OS) and Dietary Modification Trial (DMT), and followed through September 30, 2010. The DII was calculated from repeated food frequency questionnaires (FFQ) data in the OS (n=76,671) at baseline and Year 3, and in the DMT (n=48,482) at up to 11 time points. Univariate generalized estimating equations were used to compare mean DII over time, adjusting for multiple comparisons. We calculated ten cumulative averages of DII, incrementally from baseline to Year 10, categorized each average into quintiles, and estimated hazard ratios (HR) and 95% confidence intervals (95%CI) for CRC, colon, rectal cancer and invasive BRCA incidence by DII quintiles in multivariable-adjusted



www.manaraa.com

v

Cox regression models. We also derived patterns of changes in DII between baseline and Year 3; and calculated HR for CRC, colon, rectal, and breast cancer incidence including molecular and histologic BRCA subtypes, using multivariable-adjusted Cox regression models. **Results**: In the OS, mean DII decreased from $-1.14 (\pm 2.58)$ at baseline to -1.50 (± 2.60) at Year 3. In the DMT, DII decreased from -0.40 (± 2.54) to its lowest point of -1.70 (± 2.63) at Year 3 in the intervention arm and from -0.38 (± 2.55) to its lowest point of $-1.04 (\pm 2.60)$ at Year 3 in the control arm. These changes were influenced by BMI, education, and race/ethnicity. During an average 11.7 years, 1,240 cases of CRC and 4,242 cases of BRCA were identified. HR for the association between high DII scores and CRC were consistently significantly elevated in the first seven years of follow up, for colon cancer with multivariable-adjusted HR ranging from 1.30 to 1.58 in quintile 3 vs. 1, while no significant associations were observed for rectal cancer. Compared to participants in the anti-inflammatory stable category, risk was increased in participants with a pro-inflammatory stable diet, for CRC (HR, 1.18; 95% CI, 0.99, 1.41), and for rectal cancer (HR, 1.53; 95%CI, 1.01, 2.32). HR revealed no significant association between changes in DII and risk of invasive BRCA or its subtypes. Conclusion: In this large prospective study of postmenopausal women, dietary inflammatory potential was relatively stable in OS participants, but decreased significantly over time in women enrolled in the DMT. DII changes were modified by BMI, education, and race/ethnicity. Long-term pro-inflammatory diets increased the risk of colon cancer, while shorter-term stable pro-inflammatory diets increased the risk of rectal cancer but not breast cancer or its subtypes. Lowering the inflammatory potential of diet could be a means for colon cancer, and potentially rectal cancer prevention in postmenopausal women.



vi

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DEDICATIONiii				
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS iv				
ABSTRACTv				
LIST OF TABLES x				
LIST OF FIGURES xi				
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS				
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION 1				
1.1 Statement of the Problem				
1.2 Purpose and Objectives				
1.3 Significance/relevance of the dissertation research				
1.4 Study Outline				
CHAPTER 2: BACKGROUND				
2.1 Chronic inflammation and cancer				
2.2 Dietary patterns and chronic inflammation				
2.3 Statistical approaches for analyzing repeated measures of diet data				
2.4 Risk factors for colorectal cancer				
2.5 Risk factors for breast cancer				
CHAPTER 3: METHODS				
3.1 Statement of research aims and hypotheses				
3.2 Description of the study population				



3.3	Diet assessment	51		
3.4	Outcomes assessment			
3.5	Description of the dietary inflammatory index (DII)			
3.6	Statistical analysis	56		
3.7	Tables and figures			
CHAPTER 4: LONGITUDINAL CHANGES IN THE DIETARY INFLAMMATORY INDEX: AN ASSESSMENT OF THE INFLAMMATORY POTENTIAL OF DIET OVER TIME IN POSTMENOPAUSAL WOMEN				
4.1	Abstract	65		
4.2	Introduction	66		
4.3	Methods	67		
4.4	Results	70		
4.5	Discussion	72		
4.6	Conclusion	76		
4.7	Tables and figures	77		
CHAPTER 5: CHANGES IN THE INFLAMMATORY POTENTIAL OF DIET OVER TIME AND RISK OF COLORECTAL CANCER IN POSTMENOPAUSAL WOMEN				
5.1	Abstract	88		
5.2	Introduction	89		
5.3	Methods			
5.4	Results	96		
5.5	Discussion			
5.6	Conclusion	100		
5.7	Tables and figures	101		



CHAPTER 6: A PROSPECTIVE INVESTIGATION OF CHANGES IN THE INFLAMMATORY POTENTIAL OF DIET AND RISK OF BREAST CANCER IN				
POSTN	INTERIORAL WOMEN			
6.1	Abstract			
6.2	Introduction			
6.3	Methods114			
6.4	Results			
6.5	Discussion			
6.6	Conclusion			
6.7	Tables and figures 126			
CHAPTER 7: LONGITUDINAL CHANGES IN DII AND RISK OF CANCER: A DISCUSSION OF STUDY RESULTS				
7.1	Summary of results			
7.2	Potential mechanisms of action136			
7.3	Strengths and limitations			
7.4	Public health implications			
7.5	Suggestions for future research			
7.6	Conclusion140			
7.7	Acknowledgements 141			
REFER	RENCES			
APPENDIX A - SHORT LIST OF WHI INVESTIGATORS 172				



LIST OF TABLES

Table 3.1. Estimated ranges of hazard ratios for colorectal and breast cancers based onthe available incidence proportions for the two cancer sites
Table 4.1.Baseline characteristics of study participants, frequency (%), Women's HealthInitiative, 1993-1998
Table 4.2. Bonferroni-adjusted p-values of all pair-wise comparisons of the mean dietaryinflammatory index scores across years of follow-up in the Dietary Modification Trial;Women's Health Initiative, 1993-201081
Table 4.3. Multivariable predictive model of change in dietary inflammatory index overtime in the Observational Study; Women's Health Initiative, 1993-201085
Table 5.1. Frequencies (%) of participant's characteristics across quintiles of cumulativeaverage DII (Years 0-3); Women's Health Initiative, 1993-2010
Table 5.2. Risk of colorectal cancer by quintiles of cumulative average dietaryinflammatory index over a ten-year period of time; Women's Health Initiative, 1993-2010
Table 5.3. Risk of colorectal cancer across patterns of change in the dietary inflammatory index (DII) between baseline and year 3; Women's Health Initiative, 1993-2010 109
Table 6.1. Frequencies (%) of participant's characteristics across quintiles of cumulativeaverage DII (Years 0-3); Women's Health Initiative, 1993-2010
Table 6.2. Risk of invasive breast cancer by quintiles of cumulative average dietaryinflammatory index over a ten-year period of time; Women's Health Initiative, 1993-2010
Table 6.3. Risk of breast cancer by subtype, across patterns of change in the dietaryinflammatory index (DII) between baseline and year 3; Women's Health Initiative, 1993-2010.132



LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 4.2. Average dietary inflammatory index (DII)¹ scores across years of follow-up in the Dietary Modification Trial, by study arm; Women's Health Initiative, 1993-2010²...80

Figure 4.3. Average dietary inflammatory index over time by body mass index category and Dietary Modification Trial arm; Women's Health Initiative, 1993-2010 82



LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

24HR	
A/PI	Asian/Pacific Islander
AA	African American
aHEI	Alternate healthy eating index
BMI	
BRCA	Breast cancer
CFA	Confirmatory factor analysis
COX	Cyclo-oxygenases
CRC	Colorectal cancer
CRP	C-reactive protein
CUP	Continuous update project
СТ	Clinical trial
DASH	Dietary approaches to stop hypertension
DGA	Dietary guidelines for Americans
DII	Dietary inflammatory index
EA	European American
EPIC	European prospective investigation into cancer
ER	Estrogen receptor
FFQ	Food frequency questionnaires
GEE	Generalized estimating equations
HEI-2010	



HER-2/NEU	Human epidermal growth receptor 2, neuroblastoma
HP	Hispanic
HR	
IL-6	Interleukin-6
Med-diet	
MUFA	Monounstaturated fatty acids
NCI	National Cancer Institute
NDSR	Nutrient Data system for research
NIH	National Institutes of Health
NSAID	Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs
OR	Odds ratio
OS	Observational Study
РА	Physical activity
PCA	Principal component analysis
РН	Proportional hazards
PR	Progesterone receptor
PRO	Pooled repeated observations
PUFA	Polyunsaturated fatty acids
ROS	
RPA	
RRR	
SAA	Serum amyloid A
SEER	Surveillance, epidemiology, and end results
SFA	Saturated fatty acids
ΤΝFα	



USPSTF	US Preventive Services Task Force
WHI	Women's Health Initiative
WCRF/AICRWorld cancer resear	ch fund / American institute for cancer research



CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Statement of the Problem

Inflammation is a process central to carcinogenesis and other chronic diseases, and there is consistent evidence that diet modulates inflammation.¹⁻⁶ Evidence from both observational and intervention studies show that chronic inflammation is associated with the development of many cancers including colorectal and breast cancers.^{2,7-10} Studies have shown an association between chronic inflammatory conditions and subsequent malignant transformation in the inflammed tissue with some examples being inflammatory bowel disease and subsequent development of colorectal cancer,^{11,12} or Helicobacter pylori-related gastritis and gastric cancer.⁸ The etiology of inflammation varies and can be infectious, such as viruses or bacteria, or it may be a noninfectious irritant such as certain dietary factors.

Many dietary factors are known to affect inflammation, through pro-inflammatory or anti-inflammatory mechanisms. A Western-style diet tends to be rich in proinflammatory foods that are high in sugar (especially desserts and soft drinks), refined grains, red and processed meats, and fried foods that increase pro-inflammatory biomarkers such as C-reactive protein (CRP), interleukin-6 (IL-6) and tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNFα).^{1-3,7,9,13,14} By contrast, diets that are rich in fruits, vegetables, whole



grains, legumes, nuts, olive oil and fish (e.g., Mediterranean-type diet) tend to be associated with reduced chronic inflammation.^{3,4,15-17} Likewise, East Asian populations, whose diets contain many anti-inflammatory constituents and are absent many of the proinflammatory components in Western diets, have very low CRP levels.^{18,19} Specific components of the diet also have been shown to be associated with lower levels of inflammation; e.g., fruits and vegetables, omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs), fiber, moderate alcohol intake, vitamin E, vitamin C, β -carotene, and magnesium.²⁰ Dietary patterns are generally known to have a much wider safety margin with prudent consumption than do pharmaceuticals.^{21,22} Conceptually, dietary indices or patterns represent a broader picture of food and nutrient consumption, and may thus provide an approach to examining the relationship between diet and the risk of chronic diseases that may produce more intuitively appealing results that may be more predictive of disease risk as compared to the examination of individual foods or nutrients separately.²³⁻³⁰

Despite the growing use of dietary pattern analysis, relatively few studies have investigated the stability of dietary patterns over time,³¹⁻³⁷ and to the best of our knowledge, none has done so in relation to the inflammatory potential of diet. Dietary behavior is subject to change over time,^{34,35} and dietary behaviors mainly influence chronic disease outcomes when they persist for a longer period of time.³¹ Knowledge of the stability of dietary patterns over time could aid researchers in planning follow-up times right from study outset. The cost of maintaining large cohorts could be reduced if diet is proven to be stable over time. For example, reduced frequency of diet data collection may be warranted if there is not much variation in dietary habits over time.³⁴



Given the evidence that many dietary factors have either anti- or proinflammatory properties, and the idea that no nutrient is consumed alone but in conjunction with other nutrients and non-nutrient components of food, the dietary inflammatory index (DII) was developed³⁸ and validated.³⁹ The goal of the DII was to assess an individual's diet on a continuum from maximally anti-inflammatory to maximally pro-inflammatory, thus providing a tool to measure the inflammatory potential of whole diets and their associations with markers of inflammation, and with the development of chronic diseases including cancer.

1.2 Purpose and Objectives

We proposed to utilize data from the Women's Health Initiative (WHI) to describe longitudinal changes in the inflammatory potential of diet and evaluate the association of changes in the inflammatory potential of diet and risk of colorectal cancer and breast cancer in postmenopausal women. The WHI began in 1992, and enrolled a total of 161,808 women 50 to 79 years old, in 40 sites in the United States between 1993 and 1998.⁴⁰ We hypothesized that the inflammatory potential of diet changes over time and long-term pro-inflammatory diets or shorter-term changes towards pro-inflammatory diets, increase risk of colorectal cancer and of breast cancer. Our study aims were the following:

Aim I: To investigate the stability of the inflammatory potential of diet over time.

The WHI recruited a study population with a high racial and geographic diversity. We proposed to calculate the DII at all the eleven time points at which food frequency questionnaires were administered in the WHI, using data from the Observational Study



www.manaraa.com

(OS) (baseline and year 3) and Dietary Modification Trial (DMT) (baseline, year 1 to 10). We expected that the inflammatory potential of diet would significantly change over time and be influenced by social, demographic and clinical factors. The main study questions for aim #1 included the following:

- 1. Are there changes in dietary inflammatory potential over time?
- 2. If there are any significant changes, how do demographic and lifestyle factors such as body mass index (BMI), education, and race/ethnicity impact such changes?
- 3. What social, demographic and clinical factors predict change in DII?
- 4. How does the change in the inflammatory potential of diet in an intervention setting differ from that in an observational setting?

Aim II: To evaluate the association between changes in the inflammatory potential of diet over time and risk of colorectal cancer.

In specific aim #2, we evaluated the association between the inflammatory potential of diet and risk of colorectal cancer with the hypothesis that a long-term proinflammatory diet increases colorectal cancer risk. The dietary inflammatory potential assessed at baseline only has been linked to colorectal cancer risk (Tabung FK, Steck, SE, Ma Y, et al, unpublished data, 2014), however, data is lacking on the impact of longitudinal changes in dietary inflammatory potential on colorectal cancer development. Utilizing the DII to evaluate the role of long term dietary inflammatory potential on the risk of colorectal cancer is therefore warranted. The main questions for this aim included the following:



- 1. How does long-term cumulative history of dietary inflammatory potential affect colorectal cancer risk?
- 2. How do shorter-term changes in patterns of the inflammatory potential of diet over time affect risk of colorectal cancer?
- 3. Do risk estimates differ by anatomic subsite (colon, rectum) both for cumulative history and patterns of change in the dietary inflammatory potential?

Aim III: To investigate the association between changes in the inflammatory potential of diet over time and risk of breast cancer in postmenopausal women.

In specific aim #3, we investigated the association between the inflammatory potential of diet and breast cancer risk in postmenopausal women, with the hypothesis that a long-term pro-inflammatory diet increases breast cancer risk. The association between dietary patterns and breast cancer risk is inconsistent,⁴¹⁻⁴⁵ with findings from three large cohort studies not supporting an association between dietary patterns and breast cancer risk. Given the central role of chronic inflammation in the carcinogenesis process,⁴⁸⁻⁵⁰ and the modulation of inflammation by some dietary patterns,^{3,4,14,16,17,48} an assessment of the dietary inflammatory potential at multiple time points may be more predictive of breast cancer risk. The main questions for this aim included the following:

- 1. How does long-term cumulative history of dietary inflammatory potential affect breast cancer risk?
- 2. How do shorter-term changes in patterns of the inflammatory potential of diet over time affect risk of breast cancer?



3. Do risk estimates differ by molecular or histologic subtype of breast cancer for patterns of change in the dietary inflammatory potential?

1.3 Significance/relevance of the dissertation research

This dissertation addressed an important area of cancer research which includes the role of total diet with respect to its inflammatory potential, in relation to risk of cancer in a large, well-characterized cohort (the WHI) with adequate number of outcomes providing ample power to detect significant associations. Given that the DII has been shown to be associated with inflammatory biomarkers (Tabung FK, Steck SE, Zhang J, Ma Y, et al., unpublished data, 2014) and with colorectal cancer incidence (Tabung FK, Steck SE, Ma Y, et al., unpublished data, 2014) in this study population, the examination of DII changes over time and cancer endpoints is a crucial next step in evaluating the DII as a tool for cancer prevention.

1.3.1 High public health and clinical impact

This study is innovative in that this is the first time that repeated measures of the DII are being used to evaluate the association between changes in the dietary inflammatory potential over time and cancer endpoints. The study will likely have a large public health impact by strengthening the evidence for a new tool assessing the long-term overall quality of diet and providing support for its use in other studies of diet and cancer.

Patients at risk of inflammation-related conditions such as osteoporosis, obesity, cardiovascular disease, and diabetes, may also be at risk of cancer.^{51,52} Therefore a reduction in the inflammatory potential of the diet among patients with these conditions may improve overall health and reduce their cancer risk. The diagnosis of most of these chronic diseases may be also a teachable moment during which most patients undergo



lifestyle changes including diet changes to improve their survival experience.^{53,54} Health professionals armed with the knowledge of the inflammatory potential of diets may be able to impart sound nutritional guidance that improves the overall health of patients with inflammation-related chronic diseases.

1.3.2 The role of the inflammatory potential of whole diets and dietary patterns on cancer risk is largely unknown

Studies of individual foods and nutrients may be inadequate to elucidate the overall role of long term diets and dietary patterns on the risk of degenerative diseases including colorectal cancer and breast cancer. The role of diet in the risk of these cancers is of great interest as a potentially modifiable risk factor given that most risk factors for breast cancer are not generally modifiable. Many epidemiological studies of the association between single dietary factors and colorectal and breast cancers have not yielded consistent conclusive evidence except for overweight/obesity (increases risk of postmenopausal breast cancer and colorectal cancer),⁵⁵⁻⁶² regular alcohol consumption,^{55,63,64} and red meat intake.⁶⁵⁻⁷⁰

In a dietary guidelines adherence study, Harnack and colleagues found evidence to suggest that adherence to the cluster of dietary behaviors included in the Dietary Guidelines for Americans is associated with a lower risk of cancers including colon and breast cancers,⁷¹ while McCullough and colleagues found that following cancer prevention guidelines, reduces risk of cancer, cardiovascular disease, and all-cause mortality.⁷² This evidence supports the idea that studies of the oncogenic role of whole diets and not individual nutrients may be more appropriate for population-based cancer prevention efforts. As further evidence, the impact of total caloric intake, energy balance, and weight gain on the risk of breast^{73,74} and colorectal cancer^{75,76} indicate a role for



overall diet and dietary patterns that may not be captured in studies of individual foods and nutrients.⁶²

1.4 Study Outline

Chapter 1 of this dissertation introduces the problem by first establishing the link between dietary patterns and chronic inflammation, and the link between inflammation and cancer, with the ultimate aim to elucidate the role of dietary inflammatory potential in cancer development. Aims have been stated and their specific significance described, in addition to the overall significance of the dissertation. Chapter 2 presents a detailed background to the aims in an extensive review of the literature. It describes the relation between diet and inflammation and inflammation and cancer, including possible mechanisms of action. Selected theoretically-derived diet quality indices and their relation to inflammation are described, including empirical methods of evaluating dietary patterns and some statistical approaches to analyzing repeated dietary exposures with dichotomous outcomes. Chapter 2 ends with a detailed review of possible risk factors for colorectal cancer and breast cancer. In chapter 3, we describe the methods used to achieve each of the three aims, including a detailed description of the DII. Results for each of the three aims are presented separately in chapters 4, 5 and 6, as standalone publishable manuscripts. Chapter 7 provides a detailed discussion of the results and a conclusion.



CHAPTER 2

BACKGROUND

2.1 Chronic inflammation and cancer

2.1.1 Overview

In the mid nineteen century, Virchow theorized that the lymphoreticular infiltrate at sites of chronic inflammation may establish the setting in which cells grow abnormally.^{7,77} A more contemporary version of Virchow's hypothesis is that the inflammatory processes induced by chronic injury contribute to the multistage development of cancer and that the inflammation, rather than the specific cause of the injury, account for subsequent carcinogenicity.⁷⁸ Inflammation is a crucial function of the innate immune system with acute inflammation being a self-limiting process that protects against pathogens and initiates specific immunity, however, acute inflammation does not always resolve.⁷⁹ Many of the diseases of middle and old age may be driven, at least in part, by chronic and often subclinical inflammation.⁷⁹ Several lines of evidence, including general or cell-specific gene inactivation and population-based studies, are consistent with the view that inflammation plays an important role in cancer causation and/or progression. As Balkwill et al. indicated,⁷⁹ the links between chronic inflammation and cancer are reinforced by several concepts including the following: i) many cancers arise at sites of chronic inflammation and chronic inflammation increases cancer risk, ii) the



www.manaraa.com

immune cells that mediate chronic inflammation are found in cancers and promote tumor growth, iii) cancers produce chemical mediators that regulate inflammation, iv) experimental cancers have been inhibited by the inhibition of inflammatory mediators, v) susceptibility to, and severity of cancer is altered by the variation of inflammatory genes, and vi) the long term use of non-steroidal inflammatory drugs reduces the risk of some cancers.⁷⁹

More recently, the role of inflammation in cancer development was highlighted by Brucher and Jamall when they proposed a new paradigm for the epistemology of the origin of cancer.⁸⁰ They stressed that less than 10% of all cancers are hereditary, and departed from the widely held concept that cancer originates from somatic mutations and an inhibition of growth suppression, followed by cell proliferation and metastasis.⁸⁰ According to their new paradigm, the origin of cancer follows a sequence of events beginning with 1) a pathogenic stimulus which can be biologic or nonbiologic (including diet), 2) followed by chronic inflammation, 3) from which fibrosis develops, with associated changes in the cellular microenvironment if the inflammation does not resolve, 4) a pre-cancerous niche then develops which triggers 5) a chronic stress escape strategy 6) that transforms a normal cell to a cancer cell if the chronic stress does not resolve.⁸⁰ If this hypothesis is true, then intervening to prevent or reduce chronic inflammation that may be triggered by potentially modifiable risk factors such as diet, may present an excellent opportunity for the primary prevention of cancers.

2.1.2 Chronic inflammation and colorectal cancer

Several lines of evidence suggest that colorectal neoplasia may arise from colonic areas with chronic low grade subclinical inflammation.^{81,82} Chronic inflammatory bowel



diseases, such as ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease have been associated with increased risk of colon cancer.¹² Moreover, several studies have shown a reduced risk of colon cancer with use of aspirin or other anti-inflammatory agents.^{79,83,84} Patients with long-standing ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease have an increased risk of developing colorectal cancer and patients with Crohn's disease in the small intestines are at increased risk of small bowel adenocarcinoma.^{82,85} Inflammatory bowel disease-related colorectal cancer is the result of a process which is believed to begin from no dysplasia, progressing to indefinite dysplasia, low-grade dysplasia, high-grade dysplasia and finally to invasive adenocarcinoma.⁸⁶ This is also called the adenoma-carcinoma sequence, although colorectal cancer can arise without proceeding through each of these steps.^{12,86,87}

Several prospective studies have supported the hypothesis that inflammation is a risk factor for the development of colon cancer.⁸⁸⁻⁹¹ A study analyzing change in C-reactive protein (CRP) and serum amyloid A (SAA) over time in relation to risk of colorectal cancer using data from the WHI observational study, observed an increased risk of colon cancer among women in the highest quintile of CRP change compared to those in the lowest quintile (OR; 1.37, 95%CI; 0.95, 1.97), p-trend = 0.04) but no association with SAA.⁸⁹ Women with elevated concentrations of both CRP and SAA had an increased risk of colon cancer (OR; 1.50, 95%CI; 1.12–2.00) compared to those with low concentrations.⁸⁹ The study observed no positive associations with rectal cancer and weaker associations for colorectal cancer overall. Furthermore, temporal changes in biomarkers more than 3 years did not predict risk.⁸⁹ An examination of the association of CRP levels with colorectal cancer incidence in a nested case-control study within the Alpha Tocopherol, Beta-Carotene Cancer Prevention Study found an increased risk of



colon cancer incidence for men with the highest concentration of CRP (OR, 2.9; 95%CI, 1.4, 6.0) compared to men with the lowest concentration, with the association being stronger among lean individuals than in heavier individuals.⁹¹ Another nested case-control study found that the odds of developing colorectal cancer increased with higher concentrations of CRP, such that persons in the highest quartile of CRP had a 2-fold increased risk of colorectal cancer compared with persons in the lowest quartile (OR, 2.00; 95%CI, 1.16-3.46; Ptrend = 0.008), but the study did not conduct separate analysis for rectal cancer.⁹⁰

In summary, whether levels of inflammatory biomarkers are elevated before biological onset of colorectal cancer, or indeed whether inflammatory biomarkers are risk factors for the *de novo* development of colorectal cancer, are questions that relatively few of the prospective studies have tried to address.⁹² The presence of malignant disease may itself affect concentrations of circulating inflammatory biomarkers from retrospective case-control studies or from cohort studies where case diagnosis close in time to blood draw might reflect tumor marker status rather than true risk assessment. Whether circulating concentration of inflammatory biomarkers truly reflects colonic inflammation and/or translates into biological activity is unclear. This emphasizes the need for more research to explore the association of inflammatory biomarkers with colonic inflammation. As cancer is a relatively rare disease, small numbers of colorectal cancer cases and lack of power pose problems in many prospective epidemiologic studies.

2.1.3 Inflammation and breast cancer

Studies focusing on the tumor microenvironment have demonstrated that inflammation correlates with increased invasiveness and poor prognosis in many types of



cancer, including breast cancer.⁹³ The cytokines interleukin-6 (IL-6), IL-1 β and tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF α), have been found to be associated with breast cancer progression.⁹⁴⁻⁹⁶ An analysis of data from the Health, Eating, Activity, and Lifestyle Study on the relationship between circulating markers of inflammation (CRP and SAA) and breast cancer survival found that SAA and CRP significantly predicted long-term survival in breast cancer patients, independent of race, tumor stage, and BMI.⁹³ In contrast, a meta-analysis of prospective studies of the association between circulating CRP and IL-6 and the development of specific cancers, found no association with an increased breast cancer risk.⁹⁷ In a Swedish study of 2,577,565 women to examine possible associations between mastitis and subsequent risk of breast cancer, the investigators found that breast cancer risk was slightly elevated in women with a history of mastitis (incidence rate ratio: 1.23, 95%CI, 1.02-1.49).⁹⁸ The absence of a correlation between laterality of lesions (i.e., the breast with mastitis was not always the breast with cancer), however, did not support a causal association between inflammation (mastitis) and the development of breast cancer in the study.⁹⁸

An assessment of the association for use of aspirin, other non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), and acetaminophen with breast cancer risk among breast cancer-free (at baseline) premenopausal women in the Nurse's Health Study II, found that regular use of aspirin (\geq 2 times/ week) was not significantly associated with breast cancer risk (RR, 1.07; 95%CI, 0.89-1.29). Additionally, non-aspirin NSAIDs or acetaminophen were not consistently associated with breast cancer risk in premenopausal women, and results did not vary by frequency (days per week), dose (tablets per week), duration of use or estrogen and progesterone receptor status of the tumor.⁹⁹ In another



study, the use of ibuprofen or acetaminophen was not associated with breast cancer risk.¹⁰⁰ In contrast, a case-control study to investigate the association of adult lifetime aspirin intake with breast cancer risk, found evidence that aspirin use throughout a woman's life may confer some benefit (adjusted OR 0.80, 95% CI: 0.68-0.94), comparing aspirin users to non-users, and a large cohort study of postmenopausal women followed for more than 6 years, found a trend of decreasing risk of incident breast cancer with increasing frequency of aspirin use (Ptrend = 0.001).¹⁰¹ The multivariate-adjusted RR of breast cancer was 0.71 (95% CI 0.58-0.87) for women who reported using aspirin six or more times per week compared with women who reported no use. No association was found between non-aspirin NSAID use and incident breast cancer.¹⁰¹

In summary, while most of the evidence is consistent that chronic inflammation increases the risk of breast cancer recurrence or survival, the evidence has been less consistent for the association between chronic inflammation and breast cancer incidence. Most of the research on the association between chronic inflammation and breast cancer incidence has been through the intermediacy of anti-inflammatory drugs such as aspirin and non-aspirin NSAIDs and is inconsistent.

Many sites of chronic uncontrolled low grade inflammation many exist in the body at the same time and most of the biomarkers of inflammation usually employed in epidemiologic studies are non-specific. This may explain the weak associations or lack thereof, between biomarkers of inflammation and the development of breast cancer or colorectal cancer in some studies. Thus, biomarkers of inflammation are associated with breast or colorectal cancer incidence and/or progression only to the extent that these



markers correlate with breast or colorectal inflammation respectively. Moreover, CRP (used in most of the studies) is a non-specific marker of inflammation.

2.1.4 Biologic plausibility and mechanisms for inflammation and cancer

The chronic inflammatory response represents a fine balance between active inflammation, repair, and destruction that occurs in response to a persistent stimulus over a prolonged period of time.⁹ Activation of leukocytes in response to such an ongoing stimulus leads to the production of cytokines, and reactive oxygen species (ROS), resulting in accumulated tissue destruction and subsequent attempts at healing via remodeling, angiogenesis, and connective tissue replacement.^{9,102} A wide variety of chronic inflammatory diseases are associated with cancer.⁷⁸ Indeed, chronic inflammation orchestrates a tumor-supporting microenvironment that is an indispensable participant in the neoplastic process. Important components in this linkage are the cytokines produced by activated innate immune cells that stimulate tumor growth and progression.¹⁰³

Supporting evidence for the inflammation-cancer link comes from studies showing that diverse infections and mechanistic agents trigger the inflammation associated with human cancer. These links have been confirmed especially in terms of colon cancer (colitis),^{8,12} gastric cancer and MALT¹ lymphoma (Helicobacter pylori infection),^{8,104,105} liver cancer (cholangitis and hepatitis virus B and C),^{106,107} and Kaposi's Sarcoma (Human Herpes Virus 8 infection).¹⁰⁸ Chronic inflammation appears to predispose to the development of colon cancer in the setting of inflammatory bowel disease,^{79,109,110} following an "inflammation-dysplasia-carcinoma" model.¹¹¹

ل للاستشارات

¹mucosa-associated lymphoid tissue

A second line of evidence for the biologic plausibility of the association between inflammation and cancer relates to the increased expression of inflammatory mediators that occurs during tumor development. Balkwill and Mantovani demonstrated that acute inflammation triggered by the exogenous administration of inflammatory biomarkers in murine models promotes malignancy and metastasis under controlled conditions.⁷ The link between inflammation and cancer is further supported by evidence from studies showing a positive association between higher concentrations of inflammatory biomarkers and increased risk of colon cancer.^{89,112,113}

The third and complementary line of evidence is the fact that NSAIDs, which inhibit COX-2 activity and tumor development in many experimental and clinical settings, are inversely associated with certain cancers in epidemiological studies.^{78,114} Inflammatory cytokines induce the production of inflammatory enzymes such as the cyclo-oxygenases (COX). The expression of COX-2 and lipid mediators of inflammation increases during the multistage progression of neoplastic conditions.¹¹⁵ Observational studies and human intervention trials have also indicated that the regular administration of NSAIDs confers a 30–50% reduction in colorectal cancer risk or adenoma recurrence.^{116,117} We previously found an association between the consumption of highly pro-inflammatory diets and higher concentrations of inflammatory biomarkers including IL-6, hs-CRP, TNF α -R2 and an overall inflammatory biomarker score derived from a combination of these biomarkers (Tabung FK, Steck SE, Zhang J, et al, unpublished data, 2014). In another study to evaluate the association between the inflammatory potential of diet and risk of colorectal cancer, we found an increased risk of colorectal cancer in



participants consuming a highly pro-inflammatory diet (Tabung FK, Steck SE, Ma Y, et al., unpublished data, 2014).

2.2 Dietary patterns and chronic inflammation

2.2.1 An overview of opportunities and challenges

The traditional approach to studying the relation between diet and disease has been to focus on the effects of specific nutrients, foods or food groups but people consume a wide variety of diets, not isolated nutrients or foods. Additionally, people eat diets in specific patterns that are influenced by the environmental conditions of living, religious opinions, personal preferences, food availability, economical status and many other cultural factors. Dietary pattern research thus offers a more comprehensive approach to the investigation of diet-disease associations. Nutritional epidemiologists cite several reasons for preferring the dietary pattern approach over the traditional nutrientbased approach, including the following:^{25-27,118-121} 1) nutrient-based research does not consider the complex interactions among nutrients in metabolic reactions; nutrients may interact with each other and influence their bioavailability and absorption; 2) increased consumption of one food (i.e., red meat and related products) may be associated with reduced consumption of other foods (i.e., fruit and vegetables) since the total energy intake of individuals should remain stable; 3) many nutrients are highly correlated and studying their separate effects is hampered by collinearity; 4) the effects of single nutrients may be too small to detect while the synergistic and larger effect of nutrients with similar effects may be more easily detected in dietary patterns; 5) analysis of individual nutrients may be confounded by dietary patterns and 6) the success of "whole diet" interventions including the Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension (DASH) trial



and the Lyon Diet Heart Study.¹²²⁻¹²⁴ The two main approaches for deriving dietary patterns are the *a priori* or index-based approach and the *a posteriori* or data-driven approach. These approaches are reviewed in more detail in sections 2.2.2 and 2.2.3.

The index-based approach is intuitively appealing, analytically simple to compute, and easily reproducible and comparable across different studies. Scores that dichotomize components do not account for the full range of foods consumed, while scores that award points for a range of intakes consider variability in food intake but not the amounts at the extremes of component intake distributions.^{25,28} Subjectivity may be introduced during index construction in the selection of foods for inclusion. Also, the addition of equally weighted components implies that each component is additively related to health and equally important.²⁵

Data-driven methods (e.g., factor analysis, cluster analysis) have shown some level of reproducibility across populations.^{125,126} Patterns allow for biologic interactions and can thus be the starting point for modeling different types of interactions among foods.²⁵ While factor analysis describes the variation in food intake in the population based on correlations among dietary factors as a continuous variable, cluster analysis separates subjects into mutually exclusive groups based on dietary intake as a categorical variable.²⁵ Generally, there is limited data on the reproducibility and validity of data-driven methods, though reproducibility in different populations can never be expected to be exact due to the data-driven nature of the approach. Subjectivity is introduced at various points including grouping of dietary items, treatment of input items (e.g., whether to use grams, servings, percent energy or standardized intake items), the choice of



analytical procedure (e.g., type of rotation to use), and deciding on the final dietary pattern solution.²⁵

Both index-based and data-driven approaches to dietary pattern analysis thus characterize total diet and overcome most of the limitations of single-nutrient research, and analysis results are more meaningful, interpretable and associated with health outcomes.

Regarding the relation of dietary pattern and inflammation, Western-style eating patterns are characterized by frequent intake of energy-dense food and beverage portions delivering an excess of readily available carbohydrates and fats, and few other nutrients. This eating pattern, combined with a sedentary lifestyle, results in weight gain, but it is also associated with increased production of reactive oxygen species (ROS).¹²⁷ As people gain weight and become overweight and obese, CRP, along with other inflammatory mediators, also increases.^{128,129} ROS, also known as free radicals, lead to an acute oxidative imbalance, resulting in oxidative stress. Oxidative stress "turns on" genes that control the production of cytokines and other proteins (biomarkers) involved in inflammation.^{130,131} Since eating is not a one-time activity, but rather an activity that we repeat meal after meal and day after day, the diet then becomes a central point of negotiation for oxidative and inflammatory balance.

2.2.2 Comparison of selected diet quality indices and their association with inflammation

This section reviews the strengths and limitations of three diet quality indices [healthy eating index-2010 (HEI-2010)], dietary approaches to stop hypertension



(DASH), and the Mediterranean dietary pattern), comparing each of them to the dietary inflammatory index (DII) in terms of their ability to modulate inflammation. The discussion is undertaken from both the perspective of the theoretical underpinnings of the respective strategies for the development of each index, as well as the statistical considerations /limitations of each index.

2.2.2.a Brief overview of the dietary inflammatory index (DII)

Details of the development³⁸ and validation³⁹ of the DII have been described elsewhere. Briefly, an extensive literature search was performed to obtain peer-reviewed journal articles that examined the association between six inflammatory biomarkers (IL-1 β , IL-4, IL-6, IL-10, TNF α , and CRP) and 45 specific foods and nutrients (components of the DII). Scores were derived and standardized to a representative global diet database constructed based on 11 datasets from diverse populations in different parts of the world. Overall DII scores for each individual represent the sum of each of the DII components in relation to the comparison database.³⁸ The DII score characterizes an individual's diet on a continuum from maximally anti-inflammatory to maximally pro-inflammatory, with a higher DII score indicating a more pro-inflammatory diet and a lower DII score indicating a more anti-inflammatory diet. A more detailed description of the DII can be found in chapter 3, section 3.5.

2.2.2.b Healthy Eating Index (HEI)

The HEI was developed based on a 10-component system of five food groups (grains, vegetables, fruits, milk and meat), four nutrients (percent energy from total fat, percent energy from saturated fat, cholesterol intake, sodium intake), and a measure of variety in food intake. Each of the 10 components has a score ranging from 0 to 10, so the



total possible index score is 100. A score of 0 indicates non-compliance with recommended amounts or ranges while a score of 10 indicates intakes closest to recommended amounts or ranges.¹³²

Though the HEI was developed to measure adherence to the Dietary Guidelines for Americans (DGA) and the Food Guide Pyramid, some studies have investigated the association of the HEI and inflammation with the main finding being that the HEI does not significantly predict biomarkers of systemic inflammation such as CRP, SAA and IL-6.¹³³⁻¹³⁵ and has equally performed poorly in predicting chronic disease risk.¹³⁶ The HEI's low predictive ability (or lack thereof) for chronic systemic inflammation and chronic disease may be due to its inability to distinguish between the form of carbohydrate, saturated and unsaturated fats, or protein sources (e.g., processed meats versus fish). These limitations were addressed in the development of an alternate HEI (aHEI). A study comparing the disease predictive ability of the HEI and aHEI found that the aHEI significantly predicted risk of cardiovascular disease (CVD) but both indices failed to predict cancer risk.^{136,137} In a study to assess the association between several diet-quality indices and plasma concentrations of biomarkers of inflammation and endothelial dysfunction, higher aHEI scores were associated with lower concentrations of inflammatory biomarkers.¹³⁴

An updated version of the HEI (HEI-2010) was published in February 2013, to reflect the 2010 updated DGA (DGA-2010).¹³⁸ In accordance with the DGA-2010, the HEI-2010 allows for flexibility in food choices. The advantage of this is that lack of any one commodity does not prevent anyone from having a perfect HEI-2010 score. Furthermore, the added component of seafood and plant proteins explicitly allows for


vegan diets to be scored. Similar to the aHEI, the HEI-2010 now distinguishes quality within food groups and acknowledges the health benefits of unsaturated fats. For example, whole fruit and total fruit are now separate items, in order to operationalize the recommendation to consume more whole fruit than fruit juices; and the maximum standard for fatty acids is based on the ratio of monounstaturated fatty acids (MUFA) plus polyunstaturated fatty acids (PUFA) to saturated fatty acids (SFA).¹³⁸

The energy density approach adopted in the construction of the HEI-2010 adjusts for energy intake. In contrast to the food-based adequacy components of the HEI-2010 where assigning the minimum score of zero was easily determined by no intake for the specific component, arbitrary decisions had to be made for the moderation components (sodium, refined grains and empty calories), for assigning the minimum score because these components are reverse-scored and there is no scientific evidence on which to base the minimum scores.¹³⁸ For example, no scientific evidence specifies how high a sodium intake would qualify for a score of zero. A value at approximately the 85th percentile of the 2001-2002 population distribution of 1-day intakes was used to set the minimum standards for these components.¹³⁸

The validity of the HEI-2010 has not yet been determined for ethnic and cultural groups, but the index would be expected to be valid for assessing the diets of subpopulations for which the DGA are appropriate because the mixed dishes and sauces that distinguish ethnic and cultural diets would be broken down into their ingredients and assigned to food groups and nutrients, which are generally culturally neutral. Also, given that the HEI-2010 has incorporated most of the limitations identified in the aHEI, its



predictive ability for both chronic systemic inflammation and inflammation-related chronic diseases will be expected to improve compared to the original HEI.

2.2.2.c Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension (DASH)

The DASH-style diet is typically high in fruits and vegetables, moderate in lowfat dairy products, and low in animal protein but with substantial amount of plant protein from legumes and nuts.¹³⁹ Evidence for the usefulness of the DASH diet plan in disease prevention first came from two multicenter randomized controlled feeding trials.^{123,124} and has been incorporated in the DGA¹⁴⁰ and the National Heart Lung and Blood Institute's DASH eating plan.¹⁴¹ These two trials demonstrated that a diet rich in fruit, vegetables, and low-fat dairy products and low in saturated and total fat (DASH diet) reduced blood pressure and that blood pressure is further reduced when the DASH diet is followed in conjunction with significant reductions in sodium intake.^{123,124} The DASH diet therefore includes food groups and sodium, with the food groups being grains, vegetables, fruits, dairy, lean meat, nuts/seeds/legumes, fats/oils, and sweets.

The DASH diet has been shown to be associated with reduced systemic inflammation¹⁴² and reduced risk of several inflammation-related chronic diseases such as diabetes,^{143,144} cancer.¹⁴⁵ and heart disease and stroke.¹³⁹ Several diet indices have been developed to capture the DASH diet plan and evaluate associations with health outcomes. In a recent study, Miller et al compared four established DASH indices in regards to their associations with colorectal cancer in the same population (the NIH-AARP cohort).²⁸ They calculated separate indices defined by Dixon (7 food groups, saturated fat, and alcohol), Mellen (9 nutrients), Fung (7 food groups and sodium), and Guenther (8 food groups), and found that higher scores on all four indices were associated with reduced



risk of colorectal cancer in both men and women.²⁸ Miller et al concluded that "the consistency in findings, particularly in men for both colon and rectal cancer, suggests that all indices capture an underlying construct inherent in the DASH dietary pattern, although the specific index used can affect results."

There is no standardized methodology for calculating the DASH index and the discrepancy in the predictive ability of the four indices, where the DASH-Dixon index did not significantly predict colorectal cancer risk in women (in contrast to the other three indices) demonstrates the idea that differences in the composition of the indices and scoring algorithms can affect results.

2.2.2.d Mediterranean Diet Score (Med-diet)

A traditional Med-diet pattern typically has a high ratio of MUFA to SFA and omega-3 to omega-6 PUFA. It equally has a rich supply of fruits, vegetables, nuts, seeds, legumes, and grains. The Med diet has been widely studied with more than 20 different indices developed based on the Med-diet and used to evaluate health outcomes. The Med-diet has been shown to be associated with reduced chronic systemic inflammation^{4,134,146-150} and reduced risk of several inflammation-related chronic diseases such as diabetes,¹²³ cancer¹³⁹ and heart disease.^{140,151} A study to compare and evaluate the reliability of 10 of these indices showed satisfactory performance in assessing adherence to the Med-diet. However, in order to improve the reliability, and concordance between the indices, the investigators suggested further research to standardize the number and selection of components and the scoring criteria of the indices.¹⁴⁶

The Med-diet score as described by Trichopoulou et al.,¹⁵² has been adapted and used in many studies. Generally, the score is constructed by assigning a value of 1 to a



high intake (\geq median) of each desirable component, a value of 1 to a low intake (<median) of each undesirable component, and a value of 0 to all other intakes. Desirable components may include vegetables, fruits, nuts, seeds, whole grains, legumes, fish, unsaturated fats, moderate alcohol, while undesirable components may include saturated fat, red and processed meats, and dairy products. The higher the Med diet score, the greater the adherence to the Med-diet pattern.¹⁵²

2.2.3 Empirical methods to derive dietary patterns

Three statistical methods used to define dietary patterns include factor analysis, cluster analysis, and reduced rank regression.^{23,125} These so-called *a posteriori* approaches build on statistical exploratory methods driven by data.¹⁵³ Despite the differences in the goal of these methods, they are similar regarding their mathematical foundation.¹⁵⁴ There are many opportunities for subjectivity and decisions made by the investigators may have an impact on the number and type of patterns derived, reported, and analyzed. Specifically, the investigator must first decide whether or not to further collapse the primary dietary data into a smaller number of items for entry into the analysis. If the data are collapsed, a decision must be made on how to group the data. Next, the investigator must decide how the input variables should be treated. After the input variables have been entered into the procedure, a decision must be made on how many patterns (the output variables) need to be retained in the final solution, which patterns should be reported or analyzed, and how the patterns should be named.^{23,25,120,155,156}



2.2.3.a Factor analysis

Factor analysis is a multivariate statistical technique, which uses information reported in nutritional assessment methods (FFQs, 24HRs, or food records) to identify common underlying dimensions (factors or patterns) of food consumption,²³ by reducing data into patterns based upon intercorrelations between dietary items.¹²⁰ Factor analysis includes both principal component analysis (PCA) and confirmatory factor analysis (CFA). In nutritional epidemiology, the most commonly used method to derive dietary pattern is PCA with varimax rotation, which enhances the difference between factor loadings, and allow for easier interpretability.¹²⁰ It is an appropriate modeling approach for dietary patterns that are not necessarily independent of each other (that is, correlated patterns).¹²⁰ Factor analysis aggregates specific food items or food groups on the basis of the degree to which food items in the dataset are correlated with one another.²³ A summary score for each pattern is then derived and can be used in either correlation or regression analysis to examine relationships between various eating patterns and outcomes of interest.²³ Verasso et al., (2012) compared dietary patterns derived through PCA and CFA used as equivalent approaches in terms of stability and relevance and found that CFA may be a useful alternative to PCA in epidemiologic studies, especially when the sample size is small.¹⁵⁴

2.2.3.b Cluster analysis

In contrast to factor analysis, cluster analysis aggregates individuals into relatively homogeneous and mutually exclusive subgroups (clusters) with similar diets and may use several different methods to do so (e.g., K-Means or Ward's method).^{23,120} Individuals can be classified into distinct clusters or groups on the basis of the frequency of food intake, the percentage of energy contributed by each food or food group, the



average grams of food intakes, standardized nutrient intakes, or a combination of dietary and biochemical measures.²³ Compared to factors (continuous variables), clusters (categorical variables) may be easier to handle in the analysis since they are mutually exclusive and categorical. The idea that individuals have scores for all of the derived factors makes the concept of factor scores less intuitive than an individual belonging to a specific dietary pattern (or cluster).¹²⁰

Cluster analysis may be preferable for use in planning dietary interventions targeted to risk groups, as it allows the identification of subgroups and the association of clearly defined eating patterns with outcome measures.¹¹⁹ Although conceptually different, cluster analysis and factor analysis have shown similarities in grouping foods into patterns. For example, several studies have identified a healthy cluster, with important contributions from fruit, vegetables, breakfast cereals or whole grains, and lowfat dairy products, and with some including fish and nuts.^{119,120,157,158} One limitation of the cluster analysis approach is lower power when comparing multiple subgroups with health outcomes, relative to the linear variables generated by factor analysis (PCA). This may be one reason why PCA has been more frequently adopted in nutritional epidemiology. Nonetheless, when power is adequate, cluster analysis provides clear descriptions of existing subgroup diets.¹¹⁹

2.2.3.c Reduced rank regression

Reduced rank regression (RRR) or maximum redundancy analysis determines linear functions of predictors (foods) by maximizing the explained variation in responses (disease-related nutrients). Key nutrients or biomarkers of disease (e.g., CRP, IL-6, HDLcholesterol) function as the response variables and linear combinations of foods are



derived which maximize the explained variance in these responses.¹⁵⁹ The classic PCA method selects factors that explain as much predictor variation as possible. In contrast, RRR extracts factors that explain as much response variation as possible.¹⁶⁰ The results from a limited number of investigations using RRR have shown stronger relations between derived dietary patterns and cardiovascular disease than results from studies using PCA.^{160,161} However, Tucker argued that because the dietary patterns are "forced" to predict biological markers, the patterns are proxy variables for the biomarkers rather than independent variables, and that the biomarkers are known to be good predictors of the disease in question, therefore the dietary pattern derived is also predictive of the disease in the same or very similar populations.¹¹⁹ While this may be a valid argument, several other studies have applied RRR in different populations and settings^{153,162-165} though with mixed results that may not be necessarily related to issues of heterogeneity in study populations.

2.3 Statistical approaches for analyzing repeated measures of diet data

In longitudinal observational studies of the role of diet on health outcomes, diet can be assessed several times during follow-up. Applying these repeated diet measures in the evaluation of health outcomes is not always as straightforward as using diet data at one point in time. Standard methods of analyzing these repeated measures require that the number of measurements be constant over study participants and over time, e.g., the proportional hazards assumption in Cox regression models,¹⁶⁶ and thus most analyses often ignore the repeated diet measures and use only baseline data to evaluate long term disease outcomes. The following analytical approaches make use of repeated diet data:



2.3.1 Patterns of change in diet intake over time

To create patterns of change over time in diet intake, the investigator needs to decide how many time points of diet data to use, though it becomes increasingly difficult to define patterns when using more than two time points. The data is categorized into quantiles and patterns are defined as movements between quantiles across different points in time.¹⁶⁷ Quantiles must be chosen carefully to avoid too narrow or too wide definition of patterns. For example, tertiles provide only three categories and the investigator needs to decide whether change would be defined as movement of one tertile or two tertiles. A categorical independent variable is then created with the patterns as categories, and used to predict the outcome in an appropriate regression model (e.g., logistic regression model or Cox proportional hazards regression model).

2.3.2 Absolute/relative changes in diet over time

This approach would typically consider one interval of time at a time. The use of absolute change may be misleading because the absolute difference between two high diet intake values or two low diet intake values across two points in time may be numerically identical and when the difference is entered in a regression model, these two participants with different diet intake levels will be classified in the same group.

The usefulness of percent change or relative change in classifying participants based on their diet intake may depend on the range of values for the specific dietary factor. For a composite factor that may include both positive and negative values within a narrow range, for example, the dietary inflammatory index, percent change may not properly classify participants. Movement from a score of -1 to -2 (1 unit change in the



anti-inflammatory direction) has a 100% change, whereas movement from 9 to 8 (another 1 unit change in the anti-inflammatory direction) only has an 11% change, even though the absolute value of the change and the direction are the same.

2.3.3 Pooled repeated observations (PRO) of diet

This approach is a generalized person-year technique which incorporates all repeated diet measurements made at equally spaced intervals of time.¹⁶⁸ This is the method used in the Framingham Study Cohort.^{168,169} The method as originally proposed by Wu and Ware treats each time interval as a mini-follow-up study and pools observations across all intervals to examine the short-term development of disease.¹⁶⁶ The outcome for this method is assumed to occur once (that is, event/no event), in contrast to other sampling designs in which the outcome is also measured repeatedly over time.¹⁶⁶

In analyses using only baseline diet data, repeated observations are ignored. These observations are time dependent and since individuals change over time, this data which could influence the outcome is lost. The PRO method uses all of this data and updates the risk factors or diet data and persons at risk at the beginning of each observation interval.¹⁶⁸ For example, if 500 persons were enrolled in a study and at the end of the first interval, 30 were diagnosed with the disease of interest, while 20 were lost to follow-up or died of other causes, these 50 persons are removed from the population at risk and the remaining 450 become at risk for the next interval and so on till the last interval. The data obtained from all intervals is then pooled to yield a sample from which interval predictions for disease can be examined as opposed to one long term prediction as would be the case if only baseline diet data were used.¹⁶⁸



Three main assumptions underlie the PRO method, which include the following: 1) the time at which data is recorded is not relevant to the occurrence of an event; for example, the probability of developing disease among persons with the same risk profile in the first interval is the same as in the ninth interval, 2) the relation between risk factors (e.g., diet) and outcome is independent of time, that is, there are no secular trends, and 3) the current risk profile is all that is needed to predict risk in the next interval, meaning that a person's past history is not important in this prediction.¹⁶⁸

Wu and Ware proposed a general logistic regression model to incorporate repeated measurements in predicting a dichotomous outcome.¹⁶⁶ When the three assumptions listed above are applied to this model, it reduces to the PRO method.¹⁶⁸ The PRO method can also be implemented using the complementary log transformation [(-log (1-p)] for the conditional probability of survival in an interval, proposed by Prentice and Gloeckler.¹⁷⁰ These two regression models produce similar results when the intervals are short and the outcome is rare compared to number of persons at risk for the outcome.¹⁷¹

2.3.4 Cumulative average diet

The incidence of the outcome in an interval going forward can be related to the cumulative average of diet intake calculated from the preceding intervals. For example, the incidence of the outcome from year 3 going forward can be related to the cumulative average of diet data from baseline, years 1 to 3, while the incidence of the outcome from year 5 going forward can be related to the cumulative average of baseline, years 1-5 diet data. The averages can be calculated unweighted or weighted. For example, if previous diet history is hypothesized to influence the outcome more than current diet, more weight can be given to diet data from older intervals compared to more recent intervals. Hu and



colleagues related incidence of cardiovascular disease in two-year intervals, to cumulative average fat intake from all preceding intervals, in a study comparing approaches for modeling repeated dietary measurements.¹⁷² To avoid the possibility of change of diet due to subclinical disease, outcomes that developed during the period for which diet is being averaged can be excluded from analyses. Exclusion of previously diagnosed cases also ensures that only participants at risk of developing the outcome going forward are included in the models

2.4 Risk factors for colorectal cancer

Colorectal cancer (colon and rectum cancers combined) is the third (after lung and breast cancer) most commonly diagnosed cancer and the second leading cause of cancerrelated deaths in the US.¹⁷³ The American Institute for Cancer Research (AICR) estimates that half of colorectal cancers can be prevented by healthy lifestyle habits. In total, close to 400,000 cases of colorectal cancer in the United States can be prevented each year by eating a healthy diet, undertaking regular physical activity, maintaining a healthy weight and limiting alcohol consumption.¹⁷⁴ This suggests that colorectal cancer is one of the most preventable types of cancer. An analysis of colon cancer risk factors in women found reduced risk for current postmenopausal hormone use, being physically active, taking aspirin, and being screened. Women who smoked, had a consistently high relative weight, had a low physical activity level, consumed red or processed meat daily, were never screened, and consumed low daily amounts of folate, had almost a 4-fold higher cumulative risk of colon cancer by age 70 years. The study also found that for women with a high risk factor profile, adopting a healthier lifestyle could dramatically reduce colon cancer risk.¹⁷⁵



2.4.1 Dietary patterns

The 2011 Continuous Update Project report of the WCRF/AICR, on colorectal cancer found that consuming foods containing fiber and being physically active reduces colorectal cancer risk, while having excess body fat, alcohol, and intake of red and processed meats increase risk.¹⁷⁴ The WCRF/AICR "Second Expert Report" indicated that there is convincing evidence linking specific dietary factors to colorectal cancer risk, but suggested the examination of broad patterns of diet as a way of understanding the causal relationship between diet and cancer development.¹¹ The field of dietary patterns research has been growing rapidly, with five systematic reviews/meta-analyses examining the association between dietary patterns and colorectal cancer risk, published between 2010 and 2013.¹⁷⁶⁻¹⁸⁰ However, none of the studies included in these reviews examined associations between changes in dietary patterns and colorectal cancer risk.

Despite some differences in design, methods and population characteristics of the individual studies included in the different reviews, all five reviews produced remarkably consistent results on the associations between the dietary patterns identified and risk of colorectal cancer. Results from *a posteriori* patterns generally showed a reduced risk of colorectal cancer from consuming a plant-based pattern characterized by a high intake of fruits and vegetables, legumes, and some dairy, while an animal-based pattern characterized by high intake of red/processed meat, refined gains, and added sugars was associated with increased risk.^{28,30,41,42,176,177,180-182}

The consistency of results despite differences in the number, type and quantity of foods in the identified patterns between different populations could mean that specific differences in foods are not as important as consuming an overall plant-based or animal-



based dietary pattern to have a beneficial or detrimental effect respectively, on colorectal cancer risk.¹⁸⁰ The reviews also included results from *a priori* diet quality indices such as DASH, HEI, aHEI and Med Diet. Higher scores on the dietary indices showed a protective association with colorectal cancer risk. These indices share similar features such as the emphasis on whole grains, fruits and vegetables intakes and the penalization of excessive intake of animal products.^{177,180} These features broadly align *a priori* dietary patterns with the patterns that have been identified using *a posteriori* methods.

However, these findings are heterogeneous by gender and anatomic subsite of colorectal cancer. There has been more consistency in findings for colon cancer than for rectal cancer. In the review by Megalhaes et al., there were significant and similar findings for proximal and distal colon tumors but no significant association with rectal cancer.¹⁷⁹ Miller et al., found more consistent results for *a priori* patterns and colorectal cancer in men,^{177,183} while findings from *a posteriori* patterns were less clear, with four of eight studies and five of nine studies observing significant associations in men and women, respectively.¹⁷⁷

Current data do not place emphasis on the analysis of changes over time in dietary patterns in relation to colorectal cancer risk, despite the idea that dietary behavior is not stable over time and dietary changes may impact colorectal cancer risk estimates differently than diet assessed at only one point in time. Findings of the association between dietary patterns and colorectal cancer risk have been consistent despite differences in the composition of *a posteriori* and *a priori* dietary patterns. The majority of studies have been conducted in North America or European populations including mostly Europeans or European Americans. Studies conducted in diverse and disparate



populations will be needed to determine the impact of sociodemographic factors (including gender) on the association between dietary patterns and risk of colorectal cancer.

2.4.2 Smoking and alcohol intake

Carcinogens from tobacco reach the colorectal mucosa through either the gut or the circulatory system and could damage or alter the expression of important cancerrelated genes.¹⁸⁴ Tobacco smoking has consistently been associated with colorectal adenomas (precursors of colorectal cancer)¹⁸⁵ but not with colorectal cancer until recently. It has been suggested that the reason for this discrepancy may be a 35- to 40year lag time between exposure and disease, which would not be captured by earlier studies and studies with shorter follow-up.¹⁸⁶ Recent investigations, with more thorough measurement of smoking exposure and longer exposure periods, have reported a positive association between cigarette smoking and the risk of colorectal cancer.^{184,187,188} Paskett et al., investigated the associations between cigarette smoking and colorectal cancer in the Women's Health Initiative, and found that active exposure to cigarette smoking appears to be a risk factor for rectal cancer but not colon cancer.¹⁸⁹ Several systematic reviews and meta-analyses have been conducted with the consistent conclusion that cigarette smoking significantly increases colorectal cancer risk.^{184,190} There are however, inconsistencies relative to colorectal cancer subsite, with some studies showing positive results only for the rectum.^{189,191}

With the considerable evidence linking smoking to higher risk of colorectal cancer, it is also important to consider the impact of quitting smoking on risk attenuation. In a pooled analysis of eight studies to evaluate the association between cigarette



smoking history and colorectal cancer risk, researchers found that colorectal cancer risk remained increased for about 25 years after quitting smoking, and the pattern of decline in risk varied by colorectal cancer subsite.¹⁹² A study that examined lifetime smoking history and incidence of colorectal cancer in a large cohort of men followed for more than 12 years, also found that past and current smoking are associated with an increase in risk.¹⁹³

The International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) concluded that the burden of alcohol-associated cancer (including colorectal cancer) is substantial and needs to be considered when making public health recommendations on alcohol consumption,¹⁹⁴ though unresolved issues relative to anatomical site (colon/rectum) remain. A meta-analysis of 27 cohort and 34 case-control studies found strong evidence (with dose-response) for an association between alcohol drinking of >1 drink/day and colorectal cancer risk.¹⁹⁵ Several other meta-analyses have supported a positive association between alcohol intake and colorectal cancer risk.¹⁹⁶⁻¹⁹⁹ Acetaldehyde may be predominantly responsible for alcohol-associated carcinogenesis. Acetaldehyde is carcinogenic and mutagenic, binds to DNA and proteins, destroys folate and results in secondary hyperproliferation.²⁰⁰ Acetaldehyde is produced by tissue alcohol hydrogenases, cytochrome P 4502E1 and through bacterial oxidative metabolism in the upper and lower gastrointestinal tract.²⁰⁰

2.4.3 Overweight/obesity and physical activity

In 2001, the IARC convened a panel of international experts to discuss the role of overweight, obesity and lack of physical activity in cancer prevention and control. The panel judged that there was sufficient evidence (causal) that excess body weight increases



the risk of cancers of the colon, breast (in postmenopausal women), endometrium, kidney, and adenocarcinoma of the esophagus.²⁰¹ Regarding physical activity, the IARC panel judged also that there was sufficient evidence from human studies for a cancerpreventive effect of physical activity against cancers of the colon and breast.²⁰¹ The WCRF/AICR 2010 CUP panel on colorectal cancer reviewed the most recent evidence on physical activity and colorectal cancer and concluded that there was convincing evidence that higher levels of physical activity, within the range studied, protect against colon cancer, with evidence of dose-response. The report further indicated that the effect is stronger for colon cancer; but with no evidence of an effect for rectal cancer. The effect was strong and consistent in men, but less so in women and there was plausible evidence for mechanisms of action in humans.¹⁷⁴ Evidence from the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC) on the association between adherence to the WCRF/AICR recommendations on weight management and physical activity, showed that risk reduction in participants in the fourth and fifth categories of the adherence score compared with those within the first category was 27% for colorectal and 16% for breast cancer.²⁰²

One major class of mechanisms that may form a physiological and causal link between excess body weight, physical inactivity and cancer risk are alterations in the metabolism of endogenous hormones, including insulin, bioavailable sex steroids, insulin-like growth factor (IGF-I), IGF-binding proteins (IGFBPs)^{174,201,203} and chronic low-grade inflammation.²⁰⁴ Obesity increases insulin resistance and associated changes in blood values (high glucose, free fatty acids, insulin, and IGF-1). These circulating factors increase proliferation and decrease apoptosis of cancer cells, thus promoting tumor



growth.^{174,205} Sustained moderate physical activity raises the metabolic rate and increases maximal oxygen uptake. In the long term, regular periods of such activity increase the body's metabolic efficiency and capacity, and so have a beneficial effect on body fatness. In addition, physical activity may protect against colon cancer by decreasing inflammation.¹⁷⁴

2.4.4 Regular use of Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug (NSAID)

Several studies have suggested a protective effect of aspirin and non-aspirin NSAIDs on colorectal cancer^{79,83,84} but some studies have failed to show a beneficial effect. The effect of aspirin on the risk of cancer among healthy women has been examined in the Women Health Study, a randomized controlled trial with an average follow-up time of 10.1 years. A dose of 100mg of aspirin was administered in the intervention group every other day against a placebo in the control group. The outcome was confirmed cancer of any site. This trial concluded without enough evidence that alternate day use of low-dose aspirin for an average 10 years of treatment lowers the risk of total cancer, breast, colorectal, or other site-specific cancers.²⁰⁶ Another randomized controlled trial examined the association between regular use of low-dose aspirin and incidence of invasive and noninvasive colorectal tumors. The aspirin arm was terminated after a mean follow-up of 5 years. The relative risk of developing colorectal cancer for aspirin compared with placebo was 1.15 (95%CI 0.80–1.65), with no significant trend for decreasing risk by year of follow-up.²⁰⁷

In contrast, two large meta-analyses have demonstrated a beneficial effect of aspirin and non-aspirin NSAIDs on colorectal cancer development. In 2007, the US Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF) commissioned the two meta-analyses:^{83,84} the



one examined the benefits and harms of non-aspirin NSAIDs and cyclooxygenase (COX-2) inhibitors for the prevention of colorectal cancer and adenoma. Colorectal cancer incidence was lower with non-aspirin NSAIDs in cohort studies (RR; 0.61, 95%CI; 0.48, 0.77) and case-control studies (RR; 0.70, 95%CI; 0.63, 0.78).⁸⁴ Risk of colorectal adenoma was also reduced with non-aspirin NSAIDs use in cohort studies (RR; 0.64, 95%CI, 0.48, 0.85) and case-control studies (RR; 0.54, 95%CI, 0.40, 0.74]) and by COX-2 inhibitors in randomized, controlled trials (RR; 0.72, 95%CI, 0.68 to 0.77).⁸⁴ The other meta-analysis examined the benefits and harms of employing aspirin for the chemoprevention of colorectal cancer. In this study, regular use of aspirin reduced the incidence of colonic adenomas in randomized clinical trials (RR; 0.82, 95%CI, 0.70 to 0.95), case-control studies (RR; 0.87, 95%CI, 0.77 to 0.98), and cohort studies (RR; 0.72, 95%CI, 0.61 to 0.85).⁸³ In cohort studies, regular use of aspirin was associated with reduced risk of 22% for colorectal cancer.⁸³

Despite this evidence showing that aspirin and non-aspirin NSAIDs appear to be effective at reducing the incidence of colonic adenoma and colorectal cancer, especially if used in high doses for a prolonged period of time, the USPSTF currently recommends against the use of aspirin and non-aspirin NSAIDs for the prevention of colorectal cancer in individuals at average risk for the disease (D recommendation). This is likely due to adverse side effects such as cardiovascular events and gastrointestinal harms.⁸⁴ This recommendation may likely change as more evidence accumulates.

2.5 Risk factors for breast cancer

Breast cancer is the most commonly diagnosed cancer in women, and is the second leading cause of cancer-related deaths in American women after lung cancer.¹⁷³



Breast cancer in women accounts for about a third of all cancer cases and about 15% of all cancer deaths among women in the United States. Risk factors include diet, physical activity, body size, reproductive and hormonal factors, among many other factors. The role of diet in breast cancer risk is of great interest as a potentially modifiable risk factor.

2.5.1 Dietary patterns

Most of the established risk factors for breast cancer such as family history, lactation, and reproductive history are generally not modifiable. Epidemiological studies have shown that the risk of breast cancer varies with diet - a potentially modifiable factor - though the evidence is inconsistent.^{41-47,181,182,208-211} Dietary patterns contain a complex mix of foods, nutrients and other compounds that could influence breast cancer risk in ways not detected by studies of individual foods and nutrients. Evidence shows a positive association between the Western-style dietary pattern (rich in added sugar, refined grains, red and processed meats, and fried foods) and increased risk.^{41,43,212-214} Studies have also observed a decreased risk with the prudent-type dietary pattern (rich in fruits, vegetables, whole-grains, legumes, nuts, olive oil and fish),^{43,181,182,212-217} but other studies have not found significant associations with any of these dietary patterns identified by *a posteriori* methods except in subgroup analyses in some studies.^{46,180,181,212,218,219} In the Black Women's Health Study, the prudent pattern was weakly associated with lower risk overall, but was significantly associated with lower risk in normal weight women and in women with estrogen receptor negative breast cancer.²²⁰ A meta-analysis of 15 prospective studies found that high intake of fruits, and fruits and vegetables combined, is associated with a weak reduction in risk of breast cancer with no dose-response.²²¹ Similarly, in a pooled analysis of 8 large prospective studies, only weak and non-



significant associations were observed with increasing consumption of fruit and vegetables.²¹⁹ Other dietary patterns investigated are the vegetarian diet. One study found no significant association between a vegetarian versus non-vegetarian diet and breast cancer risk,²²² while there was a non-significant inverse association between vegetarianism and risk of pre- or postmenopausal breast cancer in the EPIC-Oxford cohort, United Kingdom.²²³

Regarding *a priori* dietary patterns, an index derived from 23 recommended food items was not associated with breast cancer risk in one study.²²⁴ Similarly, in the Nurse's Health Study, an investigation of the association of several dietary indices and postmenopausal breast cancer found no significant association with any of the indices, except when stratifying by hormone receptor status of the cancer. Women who scored high in some of the indices had a lower risk of estrogen receptor negative breast cancer.²²⁵

Studies of the association between dietary patterns and breast cancer risk have been conducted in populations other than North Americans and Europeans. Some reports indicate that dietary patterns rich in vegetables and seafood are associated with a decreased breast cancer risk in Korean women,^{226,227} and Chinese women.²²⁸ Findings from one study suggest that a diet characterized by low intake of meat/starches and high intake of legumes is associated with a reduced risk of breast cancer in Asian Americans, ²¹³ while another study found evidence of an inverse association between a healthy dietary pattern and breast cancer risk among Iranian women.²¹² A Japanese study found that the prudent dietary pattern is negatively associated with breast cancer risk, while the high fat and Japanese patterns may increase breast cancer risk among obese Japanese



women.²¹⁴ It is also important to note that none of the published studies examined the association of changes in dietary patterns and risk of breast cancer, though changes in dietary patterns may impact risk differently than dietary patterns assessed at only one point in time.

2.5.2 Overweight/obesity and physical activity

Obesity is a state of chronic systemic low-grade inflammation.²²⁹ Adipose tissue is now known to secrete a growing number of inflammatory mediators (adipokines) including CRP. The secretion of these inflammatory mediators is increased in obesity,²³⁰ and they regulate physiological and pathological processes, including immunity and inflammation.²²⁹ There is increasing epidemiologic evidence of an association between BMI and energy expenditure and the risk of breast cancer. Women who are overweight or obese, especially women who gain weight throughout adulthood, are at an increased risk for developing breast cancer after menopause.²³¹⁻²³³ Conversely, overweight women are at reduced risk for developing breast cancer in the premenopausal years.²³⁴ A pooled analysis of cohort studies showed that BMI has significant inverse and positive associations with breast cancer among pre- and postmenopausal women, respectively. Compared with premenopausal women with a BMI of less than 21 kg/m^2 , women with a BMI exceeding 31 kg/m² had a relative risk of 0.54 (95%CI; 0.34, 0.85). In postmenopausal women, the relative risk for these women was 1.26 (95%CI; 1.09, 1.46).²³⁵ A meta-analysis to assess the strength of associations between BMI and different sites of cancer estimated that each 5 kg/m² increase in BMI was associated with a 12% increased risk of postmenopausal breast cancer (RR; 1.12; 95%CI, 1.08, 1.16).²³⁶ In postmenopausal women, the association has been shown to be modified by hormone



replacement therapy; users are at higher risk compared to non-users, and by estrogen receptor/progesterone receptor (ER/PR) status; with women having ER+/PR+ tumors being at higher risk compared to ER-/PR- tumors.^{231,233,237} A meta-analysis of 9 cohorts and 22 case-control studies, further confirmed that the association between BMI and breast cancer risk is dependent on menopausal status and ER/PR status.²³⁷

Studies have shown that physical activity increases concentrations of a number of cytokines with anti-inflammatory effects such as IL-1ra (interleukin-1 receptor antagonist) and IL-10 and inhibits the production of the pro-inflammatory cytokine $TNF\alpha$.²³⁸ Physical activity also has been shown to be associated with reduce concentrations of some pro-inflammatory cytokines such as CRP and other biomarkers of inflammation.²³⁹⁻²⁴² These results consistently show that physical activity reduces chronic inflammation – a crucial process in cancer development.

Physical activity has been shown to reduce breast cancer risk. A study investigating the relation between recreational physical activity (RPA) and breast cancer risk, found that RPA at any intensity level during the reproductive and postmenopausal years was associated with reduced breast cancer risk and that substantial postmenopausal weight gain may eliminate the benefits of RPA.²⁴³ Physical activity also was found to be associated with reduced breast cancer risk in the WHI, with longer duration providing the most benefit.²⁴⁴ The association between physical activity and postmenopausal breast cancer risk has been confirmed consistently enough that the US Department of Health and Human Services Physical Activity Guidelines Advisory Committee concluded in 2008 that "strong evidence demonstrates that, compared with less active persons, more active women have lower rates of breast cancer."²⁴⁵



2.5.3 Hormone replacement therapy and oral contraceptive use

Evidence shows that oral contraceptive use increases a young woman's risk of breast cancer. A multisite case-control study analyzed data on women younger than 45 years of age (to maximize opportunities for extended exposure) who used oral contraceptives throughout their entire reproductive years. In this population of younger women, use of oral contraceptives for 6 months or longer was associated with an increased risk for breast cancer of 30% (OR,1.3; 95%CI, 1.1, 1.5).²⁴⁶ There was also a significant dose-response relationship. To investigate the possibility that chance or bias, including selective screening of contraceptive users, contributed to the putative association, an evaluation of screening histories and methods of diagnosis failed to support the speculation that associations could be due to selective screening.²⁴⁶ Among women 45 years of age and older, no associations of risk with use of oral contraceptives were noted.²⁴⁶

Increased risk of breast cancer with combined use of estrogen and progesterone has been reported in some studies.^{247,248} In the study by Schaier et al., the risk was greater for lean women, but there was no evidence of increased risk in heavier women,²⁴⁸ which is similar to the finding in the collaborative reanalysis.²⁴⁹ This effect modification by BMI is contrary to the study results that endogenous estrogen increases risk of breast cancer, given that overweight and obese women have relatively higher endogenous estrogen levels than lean women due to non-ovarian synthesis of estrone as a result of the peripheral conversion of androgens.²⁴⁸ Another study reported that obese postmenopausal women had a greater increase in circulating free estradiol in response to oral estrogen compared with normal weight women.²⁵⁰



The association between exogenous estrogen use and breast cancer risk lacked clinical trial support until 1993 when the WHI began two randomized placebo-controlled trials that separately evaluated estrogen plus progestin (in women with an intact uterus) as well as estrogen alone (in women with a previous hysterectomy)²⁵¹ (NB: In the absence of a uterus, estrogen treatment is the only way to relieve a women of hot flashes or other menopausal symptoms, and in the estrogen-alone trial, there would be confounding by endogenous estrogen if the uterus is present). After a mean follow-up of 5.3 years there was a slightly increased risk of breast cancer, HR, 1.26; 95%CI, 1.00, 1.59.²⁵¹ However, women reporting prior use of estrogen plus progesterone experienced higher risk for breast cancer associated with estrogen plus progesterone use than those who never used postmenopausal hormones. Longer duration of prior use of estrogen plus progestin on risk of incident breast cancer and these effects were not found to be modified by age, race/ethnicity, family history, parity, age at first birth or BML²⁵¹

In contrast to the substantial evidence linking exogenous hormone use (combined estrogen plus progestin) with increased breast cancer risk, the parallel WHI estrogenalone trial showed an unanticipated potential reduction in breast cancer risk (HR, 0.77; 95%CI, 0.59, 1.01) in the estrogen-alone group compared to the placebo group after 7.1 years of follow-up.²⁵² Differences in breast cancer screening between the intervention and placebo groups did not explain the observed effects.⁴⁰ The suggestion of a reduced risk for breast cancer motivated Stefanick et al to conduct a detailed analysis of the WHI estrogen-alone trial data focusing only on breast cancer outcome. Their main analysis results provided no evidence that the use of estrogen-alone increased risk of breast



cancer (HR, 0.80; 95%CI, 0.62, 1.04).²⁵³ However, in adherence-adjusted analyses that censored follow-up 6 months after a woman became nonadherent, a larger and significant reduction in the incidence of invasive breast cancer was observed in the estrogen-alone group compared with the placebo group (HR, 0.67; 95%CI, 0.47-0.97) and the risk did not differ by estrogen or progesterone receptor status of the cancer.²⁵³

No significant interaction of exposure to exogenous hormone and BMI on breast cancer risk was observed in either the estrogen-alone trial or in the combined estrogen plus progestin trial.²⁵¹⁻²⁵³ The differences in the results of the two WHI trials strongly suggest a role for progestin in increasing breast cancer risk. The biological mechanisms underlying an effect of exogenous hormones on the breast are complex. One hypothesis is that progesterone does not down-regulate estrogen and progesterone receptors in the breast may contribute to its adverse effects.²⁵⁴ It is paradoxical however, that the addition of exogenous estrogen by use of conjugated equine estrogen in the WHI trial²⁵³ and the reduction of endogenous estrogen by use of aromatase inhibitors (exemestane) in the MAP.3 trial²⁵⁵ both reduced risk of breast cancer incidence. The conceptual model that breast cancer growth may be stimulated or inhibited <u>solely</u> by the respective addition or withdrawal of estrogen thus falls apart.

In summary, the long-term effect of estrogen use on the risk of breast cancer is still an open question. Women exposed to exogenous hormones (especially combined estrogen and progestin) are at increased risk for breast cancer. The risk increases with duration of use, but also reduces after cessation of use of exogenous hormones and has largely, if not wholly disappeared after 2 to 5 years post-cessation. The increase in risk among older women exposed to exogenous hormones suggests that the trade-offs



between risks and benefits should be carefully assessed. In this assessment, it is important to consider the type of hormone as well as individual characteristics of the woman, such as BMI.

2.5.4 Demographic factors

Many demographic factors influence the incidence and survival rates from breast cancer. The disease is more common in older women, among women in upper rather than lower social classes, among women who never have been married, among women living in urban areas, and among European Americans than African Americans, at least among those over age 50.²⁵⁶

The strongest risk factor for breast cancer is age. A woman's risk of developing the disease increases as she gets older. That is because with more years of life, there are more opportunities for genetic damage (mutations) in the body, and as we age, our bodies are less capable of repairing genetic damage. According to Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER) program statistics from 2005-2009, the median age at diagnosis for cancer of the breast was 61 years of age. Approximately 0% were diagnosed under age 20; 2% between 20 and 34; 10% between 35 and 44; 22% between 45 and 54; 25% between 55 and 64; 20% between 65 and 74; 15% between 75 and 84; and 6% 85+ years of age.²⁵⁷

European American women are slightly more likely to develop breast cancer (age-adjusted incidence rate: 127.3 per 100,000 women) than African American (121.2 per 100,000 women), Hispanic, and Asian women. But African American women are more likely to develop more aggressive, more advanced-stage breast cancer that is



diagnosed at younger ages. African American women are also more likely to die from breast cancer. Based on the SEER data for patients who died in 2005-2009 in the US, the breast cancer mortality rate for African American women is 31.6 per 100,000 women compared with 22.4 per 100,000 women for European American women.²⁵⁷ Some of these differences in outcomes may be due to tumor biology (e.g., higher prevalence of triple negative tumors in African Americans).²⁵⁸ Compared to European American women, women of African ancestry tend to have more aggressive breast cancers that present more frequently as estrogen receptor-negative (ER-) tumors.²⁵⁸⁻²⁶⁰ Triple negative comprise approximately 15% of breast cancers and have been associated with high-grade histology, aggressive clinical behavior, and poor survival.²⁶¹ Other possible explanations for racial disparities in aggressiveness of disease include less access to mammography screening and lower quality medical care,^{262,263} as well as various lifestyle patterns (eating habits and weight issues for example) that are more common in some ethnic groups than in others. In a study to evaluate differences in the stage and biology of breast cancer between African American and European American women who had a screening mammogram, Grabler et al., found that African American women in the regularly screened population were less likely than irregularly screened African American women to have ER- breast cancers (26% vs. 36%, p<0.05), PR- breast cancers (35% vs. 46%, p<0.05), and poorly differentiated breast cancers (39% vs.53%, p<0.05).²⁶⁴ European American women in the irregularly screened population also had worse prognostic factors than European American women in the regularly screened population, though these were not statistically significant.²⁶⁴ Regular screening for breast cancer may thus contribute to the narrowing of racial disparities in breast cancer risk.



CHAPTER 3

METHODS

3.1 Statement of research aims and hypotheses

The overall aim of this study was to characterize longitudinal trends in the inflammatory potential of the diet and then evaluate the association of longitudinal changes in the inflammatory potential of diet and risk of colorectal cancer and breast cancer in the WHI. Our overall hypothesis is that long term changes in dietary behavior towards increased consumption of pro-inflammatory diets increases the risk of cancer over time.

In specific aim #1, we investigated the stability of the inflammatory potential of diet over time using the dietary inflammatory index (DII). In this aim we hypothesized that the inflammatory potential of diet significantly changes over time and is influenced by social, demographic and clinical factors. In specific aim #2, we examined the association between the inflammatory potential of diet and risk of colorectal cancer with the hypothesis that a sustained high level of dietary inflammatory potential over time, increases risk of colorectal cancer. In specific aim #3, we examined the association between the inflammatory potential of diet and breast cancer in postmenopausal women,



with the hypothesis that a sustained high level of dietary inflammatory potential over time, increases risk of breast cancer in postmenopausal women. Specific research questions have been restated in section 3.6, before the description of the statistical methods for each of the three aims.

3.2 Description of the study population

The WHI study is a large and complex clinical investigation of strategies for the prevention and control of some of the most common causes of morbidity and mortality among postmenopausal women. The design of the WHI has been described in detail elsewhere.⁴⁰ Briefly, The WHI began in 1992, spanning across 40 sites in the United States, and enrolled a total of 161,808 women between 1993 and 1998 and included fullscale randomized controlled trials, with an average of 11.3 years of follow-up until September 30, 2010. The WHI enrolled 93,676 women into the OS and 68,132 participants into clinical trials (CT).²⁶⁵ The WHI CT included: the DMT component, n=48,835, the Hormone Therapy component (HT, estrogen-alone or estrogen plus progestin, n=27,347). Participants enrolled in at least one of the clinical trial components were screened for eligibility and invited to join the calcium and vitamin D component (CaD, n=36,282) at their first or second annual clinic visits. For the DMT, women were randomly assigned to a usual-diet comparison group (n = 29,294) or an intervention group with a 20% low-fat dietary pattern with increased vegetables, fruits, and grains (n = 1)19,541). At baseline, the mean age was 63 years and about 18% of the women were from ethnic minority groups including: 9.1% African-Americans (n=14,618), 4% Hispanics (n=6,484), and 2.6% Asians (n=4,190). Women who proved to be ineligible for, or who



www.manaraa.com

were unwilling to enroll in the CT components were invited to be part of the prospective cohort of women in the OS.⁴⁰

Exclusion criteria for both the OS and CT included any medical condition associated with a predicted survival of less than three years, alcoholism, other drug dependency, mental illness (e.g., major depressive disorder), dementia, active participation in another intervention trial and not likely to live in the area for at least 3 years. Demographic information and dietary data were obtained by self-report using standardized questionnaires. Certified staff performed physical measurements, including blood pressure, height and weight, and blood samples at the baseline clinic visit. Women were further excluded from the DM if their diets were assessed to have <32% energy from fat.²⁶⁶ The WHI protocol was approved by the institutional review boards at the Clinical Coordinating Center at the Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Center (Seattle, WA) and at each of the 40 Clinical Centers.¹⁴

3.3 Diet assessment

During baseline screening for the WHI, all participants completed a standardized food frequency questionnaire (FFQ) developed for the WHI to estimate average daily nutrient intake over the previous three-month period. At follow-up, the FFQ was completed at year 3 for all the observational study participants and for all participants in the DMT at year 1, and a random third of DMT participants from year 2 onwards. The three sections of the WHI FFQ included 19 adjustment questions related to type of fat intake, 122 composite and single food line items asking about frequency of consumption and portion size, and four summary questions that asked about the usual intake of fruits and vegetables and added fats for comparison to information gathered from the line



items. The nutrient database, linked to the University of Minnesota Nutrient Data System for research (NDSR), is based on the US Department of Agriculture Standard Reference Releases and manufacturer information. This FFQ has demonstrated good comparability to 24-hour dietary recall interviews and food records in the WHI.²⁶⁶ For all three study aims, we used all the FFQs in the OS and DMT and calculated the DII at eleven different time points.

3.4 Outcomes assessment

For aim #1, changes in the DII over time, calculated at 11 time points constituted our outcome of interest. A detailed description of the DII is provided in section 3.5. In aims #2 and #3, where colorectal cancer and breast cancer were the outcomes of interest, the DII was the main exposure of interest.

The WHI outcomes ascertainment and adjudication methods have been previously described.²⁶⁷ Briefly, physicians in the Clinical Centers, the Clinical Coordinating Center, and the National Institutes of Health (NIH) classified WHI outcomes. In the first stage, the local Clinical Center physician adjudicator reviewed the documents and assigned a diagnosis. All locally adjudicated primary and safety endpoint events of each trial component were then centrally reviewed. A fraction of locally adjudicated secondary endpoints were also referred for central adjudication for quality control purposes. The primary results for each clinical trial component were based on data derived from central adjudication. To minimize potential bias in the ascertainment and classification of outcomes, WHI required that local and central physician adjudicators not be exposed to any information that could result in potential unblinding, including participant contact or other aspects of the research record.



Invasive breast and colorectal cancers were documented and coded according to primary site, anatomic subsite, diagnosis date, extent of disease (stage, tumor size, and laterality), tumor morphology (behavior, grade, histology) her2neu status and estrogen and progesterone receptors status (breast cancer only). We have chosen to focus on breast and colorectal cancers in this dissertation because these cancers have been associated with diet and inflammation in previous studies and because these were primary or secondary endpoints in WHI allowing for adequate numbers of cases for analyses. Incident invasive and in situ (ductal and lobular carcinoma in situ) breast cancers, including second primaries, were ascertained and adjudicated. Incident invasive and in situ colon and rectal cancers were determined. Recurrent cancers were not included. All cancer related hospitalizations, surgeries, procedures, diagnostics or treatments for each first self-report of a malignant tumor were investigated. For the full coding of the cancer, pathology reports from diagnostic aspirations, biopsies, and surgeries, plus the discharge summary, were used.

Since the diagnosis of some early cancers and cancer precursors is dependent on whether or not screening has occurred, there was potential for over-reporting of diagnoses in some arms of the study, particularly the unblinded intervention arm of the DMT component. For this reason and for safety purposes in the HT component, all clinical trial participants had regular screening mammograms as part of study protocol. Screening for colorectal cancer was not done in WHI. At each follow-up contact (semiannually in the clinical trial, and annually in the observational study), however, information on screening procedures for colorectal cancer was collected, including: fecal occult blood testing, flexible sigmoidoscopy, and colonoscopy.



3.5 Description of the dietary inflammatory index (DII)

The development³⁸ and validation³⁹ of the DII has been described elsewhere. The goal in developing the DII was to create a score for specific foods and dietary constituents thought to positively or negatively affect levels of inflammation. All research articles through the year 2010 that were identified as assessing the role of one or more of 45 different foods and dietary constituents on specific inflammatory markers were used to create the scores. Due to the large number of articles on inflammation, the literature search was limited to six well-established inflammatory markers: CRP, IL-1 β , IL-4, IL-6, IL-10, and TNF α out of which CRP, IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α are considered pro-inflammatory biomarkers and IL-4 and IL-10 are considered anti-inflammatory cytokines. A total of 1,943 research articles were reviewed and scored in the creation of the DII.

One of three possible values was assigned to each article based on the effect of the food parameter on inflammation: "+1" was assigned if the effects were proinflammatory (significantly increased IL-1B, IL-6, TNF α , or CRP or decreased IL-4 or IL-10); "-1" if the effects were anti-inflammatory (significantly decreased IL-1B, IL-6, TNF α , or CRP or increased IL-4 or IL-10) and "0" if the food parameter was not significantly associated with the inflammatory marker. Full details of the scoring algorithm are described in this reference.³⁸

Articles were first weighted by study design, with clinical trials in humans receiving the greatest weight (i.e., 10 of possible 10) to cell culture experimental studies receiving the lowest weight (i.e., 3 of possible 10). Using these weighted values, the proand anti-inflammatory fractions for each food parameter were calculated. The food



www.manaraa.com

parameter-specific overall inflammatory effect score was then calculated by: 1) dividing the weighted pro- and anti-inflammatory articles by total weighted number of articles and 2) subtracting the anti-inflammatory fraction from the pro-inflammatory fraction (Figure 3.1). A cut point of 236, the median of the total weighted number of articles across all the food parameters, was chosen to indicate an optimally robust pool of literature. All food parameters with a weighted number of articles \geq 236 were assigned the full value of the score. Foods and constituents with a weighted number of articles <236 were adjusted as follows: 1) number of weighted articles was divided by 236; 2) the fraction was then multiplied by the food parameter-specific raw inflammatory effect score, which resulted in the food parameter-specific overall inflammatory effect score.

To avoid the arbitrariness resulting from simply using raw intake amounts (resulting in different units of measurement for various nutrients having large influences on the overall score), the DII was standardized to a representative range of dietary intake based on actual human consumption. This was accomplished by constructing a composite database representing a wide range of diets across diverse populations living in a variety of countries in different regions of the world. Authors of articles reporting on data from nutrition surveys were contacted to request access to complete datasets. A total of 11 such datasets were identified and used in developing the composite database.³⁸

Calculation of the DII in a given study is based on dietary intake data that are then linked to the global mean intake database derived from the 11 datasets. An individual's diet is then expressed relative to the standard global mean as a z-score. This is achieved by subtracting the standard global mean from the amount reported by the individual and dividing this value by its standard deviation. To minimize the effect of "right skewing,"



www.manaraa.com

this value is converted to a percentile score. To achieve a symmetrical distribution with values centered on 0 (null) and bounded between -1 (maximally anti-inflammatory) and 1 (maximally pro-inflammatory) each percentile score is doubled and then 1 is subtracted. The centered-percentile value for each food parameter is then multiplied by its respective food parameter-specific inflammatory effect score to obtain a food parameter-specific DII score. Finally, all of the food parameter-specific DII scores are summed to create the overall DII score for an individual. More positive scores represent a more pro-inflammatory diet, whereas more negative scores represent a more anti-inflammatory diet.

3.6 Statistical analysis

3.6.1 Statistical methods applicable to all three aims

<u>Confounding</u> in all the Cox proportional hazards (PH) regression models was assessed using the following three questions as suggested by Szklo and Nieto:²⁶⁸ 1) is the confounder related to both exposure (DII) and outcome (colorectal cancer or breast cancer)? 2) Does the exposure-outcome association seen in the age-adjusted crude model have the same magnitude and similar direction as the associations observed within strata of the potential confounder? 3) Does the exposure-outcome association seen in the crude model have the same magnitude and similar direction as that observed association in the model have the same magnitude and similar direction as that observed association in the model adjusted for the potential confounder? Confounding was not assessed in aim #1 as there was no specific exposure of interest in the prediction model for DII change.

<u>Effect modification</u> took precedence over confounding; that is, if a variable was assessed to be both a confounder and effect modifier, it was treated as an effect modifier.



We inserted "interaction terms" of main exposure and effect modifier in the models and considered significant effect modification at $P \le 0.05$.

Statistical modeling consisted of variable selection and model selection. For the DII prediction model in aim #1, the automated stepwise approach was used to identify significant predictors of DII change. In the Cox PH models in aims #2 and #3, all variables assessed to be confounders or significant effect modifiers were retained in the models. Model selection was considered in specific situations to either include or exclude a covariate from the model and improve the model's overall precision. The log-likelihood ratio test was used for model selection.

Participant characteristics were summarized using frequencies (percentage) for categorical variables and means (standard deviation) for continuous variables. All p-values were 2-sided, and P <0.05 for aim #1 and 95% confidence intervals not including 1 for aims #2 and #3, were considered to indicate statistical significance. All statistical analyses were conducted using Statistical Analysis Systems software, version 9.3 (SAS, Inc., Cary, NC).

3.6.2 Statistical methods for specific aims #1

The statistical methods for this aim were designed to answer the following four research questions: 1) Are there changes in dietary inflammatory potential over time? 2) If there are significant changes, how do demographic and lifestyle factors impact these changes? 3) What social, demographic and clinical factors significantly predict changes in DII in an observational setting? and 4) How does the change in the inflammatory potential of diet in an intervention setting differs from that in an observational setting?


We computed mean DII scores at baseline and Year 3 in the OS and at 11 different time points between baseline and Year 10 inclusive in the DMT; and used these to describe changes over time in the OS, or plotted DII scores on graphs for a visual appraisal of the longitudinal trend, separately for the intervention and control arms of the DMT. Analyses were stratified by BMI, race/ethnicity and educational level. To determine significant differences between mean DII scores calculated at different time points, we constructed marginal linear regression models using generalized estimating equations (GEE) that adjusted for the within-subject correlation in the DII measurements, to calculate and compare all pair-wise contrast estimates between mean DII scores. The GEE model was a univariate model with time from baseline as the only independent variable and changes in the DII over time as the dependent variable, adjusted for multiple comparisons using the Bonferroni approach, and stratified in the DMT by intervention arm.

Next, we utilized stepwise linear regression to construct the most parsimonious predictive multivariable model for change in DII from baseline to Year 3 in the OS. A previous WHI study investigated predictors of dietary change and maintenance in the DMT and included intrapersonal, interpersonal, intervention characteristics and clinical center characteristics as predictors.²⁶⁹ The DMT intervention moved participants toward an anti-inflammatory diet; therefore, predictors of dietary change investigated by Tinker et al are likely to predict DII change in the DMT. We therefore focused mainly on the potential predictors of DII change in the OS. We included the following baseline variables in the stepwise regression model: baseline DII, age group, BMI (kg/m²), race/ethnicity, education, smoking status, physical activity, history of diabetes,



hypertension, arthritis, cancer, use and duration of estrogen-alone and of combined estrogen and progesterone, use of statins, anti-depressants, and non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs (NSAID) (see section 4.3 for the categories of these variables). The entry criterion into the stepwise linear regression model was P <0.1, while the exit criterion was P >0.1. The stepwise model identified variables that were included in a multivariable linear regression model to calculate beta (β) coefficients, corresponding pvalues and the R² for the overall predictive model. Participants with implausible reported energy (<600kcal/d or >5000kcal/d), extreme BMI values (<15kg/m² or >50kg/m²), single FFQs or missing FFQs, as well as those with missing data in the predictors in the final model were excluded from this analysis.

3.6.3 Statistical methods for specific aims #2 and #3

Statistical methods for these two aims were similar and designed to provide answers to the following three main questions: 1) How does long-term cumulative history of dietary inflammatory potential impact risk of colorectal cancer and risk of breast cancer? 2) How do shorter-term changes in patterns of the inflammatory potential of diet over time impact risk of colorectal cancer and risk of breast cancer? 3) Do risk estimates differ by anatomic subsite (colon, rectum) of colorectal cancer and by molecular or histologic subtype of breast cancer?

We used data from 142,511 women participating in the WHI OS and DMT. Women with colorectal cancer or breast cancer at baseline or missing colorectal cancer or breast status at baseline, or those who reported breast removal at baseline were excluded, as well as women with implausible reported total energy intake values (≤ 600 kcal/day or ≥ 5000 kcal/day) or extreme BMI values (< 15kg/m² or > 50kg/m²).



www.manaraa.com

To determine how cumulative history of dietary inflammatory potential affects risk of colorectal cancer and breast cancer, we calculated ten cumulative averages of DII incrementally starting from the average between baseline and year one DII.¹⁷² The cumulative average was then categorized into quintiles, and used to estimate hazards ratios for colorectal cancer or breast cancer in multivariable-adjusted Cox proportional hazards (PH) regression models, while excluding from the models colorectal cancer cases or breast cancer cases diagnosed prior to year one. This approach was repeated for the average DII of baseline, year one, and year two with cancer cases diagnosed prior to year two excluded to avoid the possibility of change in diet due to subclinical disease, and to include only participants at risk of developing cancer going forward. This approach was repeated until DII estimates at all time points were used.¹⁷²

For each time segment, Cox proportional hazards regression models were used to estimate hazards ratios (HR) and 95% confidence intervals (95%CI) for colorectal, colon, rectal cancer, and invasive breast cancer incidence, by quintiles of cumulative average DII, with adjustment for multiple covariates.

To determine how changes in patterns of the inflammatory potential of diet over time affect risk of colorectal cancer or breast cancer, we calculated the DII from baseline and year 3 food frequency questionnaires (FFQ) in the OS and DMT in participants with at least two FFQs at these two time points. Since diet data was assessed in the OS at baseline and Year 3 only, we selected these two time points to maximize the number of participants with at least two FFQs. We categorized the DII at both time points into quintiles (Q) and further categorized changes in the inflammatory potential of diet based on quintile differences between baseline and year 3, as follows: 1) anti-inflammatory



stable: Q1 or Q2 at both time points or change from Q3 to Q2; 2) anti-inflammatory change: changes \leq -2Q; 3) neutral inflammation stable: changes from Q2 to Q3, Q4 to Q3 or stable at Q3 at both time points; 4) pro-inflammatory change: changes \geq 2Q; 5) proinflammatory stable: Q4 or Q5 at both time points or change from Q3 to Q4. Cox proportional hazards regression models were used to estimate hazard ratios (HR) and 95% confidence intervals (95%CI) for colorectal, colon (proximal and distal), and rectal cancer incidence, by patterns of changes in DII, with adjustment for multiple covariates. Similar models were constructed for invasive breast cancer. We used AIC to determine the model with the best precision. Each covariate in the final model was tested for the proportional hazards assumption using cumulative sums of Martingale-based residuals.

All multivariable-adjusted models included the following covariates: age, race/ethnicity, educational level, smoking status, diabetes, hypertension, arthritis, NSAIDs use, category and duration of estrogen use, category and duration of estrogen & progesterone use, DMT arm , BMI, and physical activity (minutes/week) as potential confounders. Effect modification in models for both the cumulative average DII and changes in the DII and cancer incidence was investigated by included 2-way cross product terms in the models. Potential effect modifiers included age group, BMI, educational level, race/ethnicity, combined use of estrogen and progesterone. We conducted a power analyses to determine ranges of estimated HR to be obtained in the analytic models given the incidence proportions (event rate) for colorectal and breast cancers in this study, using the PASS software program (NCSS, LLC, Kaysville, Utah) (Table 3.1).



www.manaraa.com

3.7 Tables and figures



Figure 3.1: Sequence of steps in creating the DII. (adapted from Shivappa, N., Steck SE, Hurley TG, Hussey JR, Hebert JR, *Designing and Developing a Literature-derived, Population-based Dietary Inflammatory Index*. Public Health Nutr, 2013: p. 1-8.)



Cancer Site	Estimated range of hazard ratios (HR) based on available cancer cases	Cancer incidence proportion (event rate)				
Models for cumulative average DII (baseline to Year 2)						
Colorectal	1.06 – 1.19	0.0132				
Colon	1.06 - 1.21	0.0107				
Rectal	1.13 - 1.47	0.0026				
Invasive breast cancer	1.03 – 1.10	0.0455				
Models for Patterns of change in DII quintiles between baseline and Year 3						
Colorectal	1.04 - 1.12	0.0135				
Colon	1.04 - 1.14	0.0113				
Rectal	1.07 - 1.32	0.0024				
Invasive breast cancer	1.02 - 1.06	0.0518				
Triple negative BRCA	1.08 - 1.26	0.0038				
HER2+/ER- subtype	1.12 - 1.43	0.0016				
Luminal A BRCA	1.03 - 1.09	0.0270				
Luminal B BRCA	1.07 - 1.25	0.0042				
Ductal carcinoma	1.02 - 1.08	0.0338				
Lobular carcinoma	1.06 - 1.21	0.0054				
Mixed ductal/lobular carcinoma	1.05 - 1.18	0.0074				

Table 3.1. Estimated ranges of hazard ratios for colorectal and breast cancers based on the available incidence proportions for the two cancer sites

NB: power=80%, tests=2-sided, alpha=0.05, standard deviation of DII =2.30, R^2 varied from 0.1 to 0.9 by 0.1, and the event rate was the incidence proportion of each cancer type. (BRCA=breast cancer)



CHAPTER 4

LONGITUDINAL CHANGES IN THE DIETARY INFLAMMATORY INDEX: AN ASSESSMENT OF THE INFLAMMATORY POTENTIAL OF DIET OVER TIME IN POSTMENOPAUSAL WOMEN²

To be submitted to the European Journal of Clinical Nutrition



² Fred K. Tabung^{1,2}, Susan E. Steck^{1,2,3}, Jiajia Zhang¹, Yunsheng Ma⁴, Angela D. Liese^{1,3}, Frances A. Tylavsky⁵, Mara Z.Vitolins⁶, Judith K. Ockene⁴, James R. Hebert^{1,2,3}

¹Department of Epidemiology and Biostatistics, University of South Carolina; ²Cancer Prevention and Control Program, University of South Carolina; ³Center for Research in Nutrition and Health Disparities, University of South Carolina; ⁴Division of Preventive and Behavioral Medicine, University of Massachusetts Medical School; ⁵University of Tennessee Health Science Center; ⁶Department of Epidemiology & Prevention, Wake Forest School of Medicine

4.1 Abstract

Introduction: The dietary inflammatory index (DII) measured at one point in time has been associated with cancer risk in previous studies and repeat measures have been analyzed in relation to inflammatory biomarkers. However, data are lacking regarding the change in DII over longer periods of time. We assessed changes in the DII among women in the Women's Health Initiative (WHI). Methods: The DII was calculated using data from repeated food frequency questionnaires in the WHI Observational Study (OS; n=76,671) at baseline and Year 3, and in the Dietary Modification Trial (DMT; n=48,482) at 11 time points. Univariate generalized estimating equations were used to compare mean DII changes over time, adjusting for multiple comparisons. Multivariable linear regression models were used to determine predictors of DII change. **Results**: In the OS, mean DII decreased from -1.14 at baseline to -1.50 at Year 3. In the DMT, DII decreased from -0.40 to -1.70 in the intervention arm and from -0.38to -1.04 in the control arm from baseline to Year 3. These changes were influenced by BMI, education, and race/ethnicity. A prediction model explained $\approx 22\%$ of the variance in the change in DII scores in the OS. Conclusion: In this population of postmenopausal women, dietary inflammatory potential was relatively stable in OS participants, but decreased significantly over time in women enrolled in the DMT. DII changes were modified by BMI, education, and race/ethnicity. Future research is warranted to examine whether reductions in DII over time are associated with decreased chronic disease risk.

Key words: dietary inflammatory index, Women's Health Initiative, prediction, longitudinal trends



www.manaraa.com

4.2 Introduction

Dietary index or pattern analysis can produce more intuitively appealing results that may improve prediction of disease risk as compared to examining individual foods or nutrients separately.^{4,23,24,26} Despite the growing use of dietary index or pattern analysis,²⁸⁻³⁰ relatively few studies have investigated the stability of dietary indices or patterns over time,³¹⁻³⁷ or the factors influencing such stability.²⁶⁹⁻²⁷¹ To the best of our knowledge, this evaluation has not been conducted in relation to the inflammatory potential of diet.

Dietary behaviors are subject to change over time,^{34,35} and mainly influence chronic disease outcomes when they persist over time.³¹ Knowledge of the longitudinal stability of dietary patterns could aid researchers in planning follow-up measurements or, as Weismayer et al. indicated,³⁴ the cost of maintaining such cohorts could be reduced if diet is proven to be stable over time (e.g., by reducing the necessity for frequent data collection).

The dietary inflammatory index (DII) was developed³⁸ and validated³⁹ based on the evidence that many dietary factors have anti- or pro-inflammatory properties and the idea that no nutrient or food is consumed alone but in conjunction with other nutrients. In the current study, we calculated the DII based on the food frequency questionnaires (FFQ) used in the Women's Health Initiative (WHI) Observational Study (OS) and Dietary Modification Trial (DMT). Our goal was to examine the stability of the inflammatory potential of diet, and the predictors of change in dietary inflammatory potential over time. We compared dietary behaviour change in an observational cohort of participants as well as in the DMT (i.e., intervention) population.



4.3 Methods

4.3.1 Participants

The design of the WHI has been described in detail elsewhere.⁴⁰ The WHI began in 1992, spanning across 40 sites in the United States, and enrolled a total of 161808 women between 1993 and 1998 and included full-scale randomized controlled trials, with ongoing follow-up. We used data up to September 30, 2010 for this investigation. The women were enrolled into the OS (n=93676) or Clinical Trials (CT, n=68132), with one of the CTs being the DMT (n=48835). Other components of the CT included hormone therapy and calcium and vitamin D.²⁶⁵ The three CT components were overlapping, with some participants simultaneously recruited into more than one trial.⁴⁰

Exclusion criteria included any medical condition associated with a predicted survival of <3 years, alcoholism, other drug dependency, mental illness (e.g., major depressive disorder), dementia, not likely to live in the area for \geq 3 years, and active participation in another intervention trial. Women were further excluded from the DMT if their diets were assessed to have <32% energy from fat.²⁶⁶ Demographic information and dietary data were obtained by self-report using standardized questionnaires, and certified staff performed physical measurements. The WHI protocol was approved by the institutional review boards at the Clinical Coordinating Center at the Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Center (Seattle, WA) and at each of the 40 Clinical Centers.¹⁴

4.3.2 Dietary Assessment

Figure 4.1 describes the administration of FFQs in the WHI OS and DMT. During screening for the WHI, all participants completed a baseline FFQ. Follow-up measures



included: an FFQ completed by all DMT participants in Year 1; an FFQ completed annually from Year 2 until study end (approximately ten years) in a random third of DMT participants; and an FFQ completed at Year 3 for \approx 90% of OS participants. There was an average of two FFQs per participant in the OS and three FFQs per participant in the DMT. The 122-item WHI FFQ line item nutrient data was obtained from the University of Minnesota's Nutrient Data system for research (NDSR) version 4.03_31 software,²⁷² which is based on the US Department of Agriculture Standard Reference Releases and manufacturer information. The WHI FFQ has shown comparable results with 24-hour dietary recall interviews and food records in the WHI.²⁶⁶

4.3.3 Description of the DII (outcome of interest)

The main outcome of interest is longitudinal change in the DII. Details of the development³⁸ and validation³⁹ of the DII have been described elsewhere. Briefly, an extensive literature search was performed to obtain peer-reviewed journal articles that examined the association between six inflammatory biomarkers (IL-1 β , IL-4, IL-6, IL-10, TNF α , and CRP) and 45 specific foods and nutrients (components of the DII). Scores were derived and standardized to a representative global diet database constructed based on 11 datasets from diverse populations in different parts of the world. Overall DII scores for each individual represent the sum of each of the DII components in relation to the comparison database.³⁸ The DII score characterizes individuals' diets on a continuum from maximally anti-inflammatory to maximally pro-inflammatory, with higher DII scores indicating more pro-inflammatory diets, while lower scores indicate more anti-inflammatory diets. In the WHI FFQ, 32 of the 45 original DII components were available for inclusion in the overall DII score. Components such as ginger, turmeric,



garlic, oregano, pepper, rosemary, eugenol, saffron, flavan-3-ol, flavones, flavonols, flavonones, anthocyanidins that are included in the original DII calculation³⁸ were not included in the current study because they were not assessed in the WHI FFQ.

4.3.4 Statistical analysis

Participants with reported total energy intake judged to be implausible (<600 kcal/d or > 5000 kcal/d) (n=1,796), or with extreme body mass index (BMI) $(<15 \text{kg/m}^2 \text{ or } >50 \text{kg/m}^2)$ (n=2,051) as well as those with only one FFO (n=1,5479) or missing FFQ (n=32), were excluded from the current study, leaving 76,671 in the OS and 46,482 in the DMT for the final analyses (Figure 1). Frequencies and percentages were calculated to describe baseline characteristics of participants. We computed mean DII scores at baseline and Year 3 in the OS and at 11 different time points between baseline and Year 10 inclusive in the DMT; and used these to describe changes over time in the OS, or plotted DII scores on graphs for a visual appraisal of the longitudinal trend, separately for the intervention and control arms of the DMT. Analyses were stratified by BMI, education, and race/ethnicity. To determine significant differences between mean DII scores calculated at different time points, we constructed marginal linear regression models using generalized estimating equations (GEE) that adjusted for within-subject correlation in the DII measurements, in order to calculate and compare all pair-wise contrast estimates between mean DII scores. The GEE model was a univariate model with time from baseline as the only independent variable and changes in the DII over time as the dependent variable, adjusted for multiple comparisons using the Bonferroni approach, and stratified in the DMT by intervention arm.



Next, we utilized stepwise linear regression to construct the most parsimonious predictive multivariable model for change in DII from baseline to Year 3 in the OS. A previous WHI study (Tinker et al., 2007) investigated predictors of dietary change and maintenance in the DMT and included intrapersonal, interpersonal, intervention characteristics and clinical center characteristics as predictors ²⁶⁹. The DMT intervention moved participants toward an anti-inflammatory diet; therefore, predictors of dietary change investigated by Tinker et al are likely to predict DII change in the DMT. We therefore focused mainly on the potential predictors of DII change in the OS. We included the following baseline variables in the stepwise regression model: baseline DII, age group, BMI, race/ethnicity, educational level, physical activity, history of diabetes, hypertension, arthritis, cancer, use of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), statins, anti-depressants, unopposed estrogen use, combined estrogen and progesterone use (Table 4.1 presents categories of potential predictors). The entry criterion into the stepwise linear regression model was P < 0.10, while the exit criterion was P > 0.10. The stepwise model identified variables that were included in a multivariable linear regression model to calculate beta (β) coefficients, corresponding p-values, and the R² for the overall predictive model. Participants with missing data in the predictors (n=3,438) were further excluded, leaving a final sample of 73,233 OS participants for the prediction model.

Analyses were conducted using $SAS^{\text{(B)}}$ version 9.3 (SAS Institute). All tests were 2-sided and p<0.05 was used to assess statistical significance of parameter estimates.

4.4 **Results**

Participant characteristics were similar between OS and DMT for many covariates including race/ethnicity, educational level, smoking status, arthritis, unopposed estrogen



use, and combined estrogen and progesterone use (Table 4.1). More OS (23.8%) than DMT (16.7%) participants were \geq 70 years; a higher proportion of participants in the DMT (38.4%) than OS (25.4%) were obese; and the proportion of individuals with a previous cancer diagnosis reported at baseline, was about three times higher in the OS (12.8%) than in the DMT (4.4%), likely due to cancer survivors joining the WHI but being excluded from the DMT (Table 4.1).

In the OS, the mean (\pm SD) overall DII decreased from -1.14 (\pm 2.58) at baseline to -1.50 (\pm 2.60) at Year 3. Corresponding averages for the DMT intervention arm were -0.40 (\pm 2.54) and -1.70 (\pm 2.63); and for the control arm, -0.38 (\pm 2.55) and -1.04 (\pm 2.60) (Figure 4.2) (all p-values for between-group differences across time were <0.0001). Mean DII scores at baseline were significantly different than at all other time points in both the intervention and control arms, as shown in the Bonferroni-adjusted p-values for all pairwise comparisons in Table 4.2.

There was evidence for interaction between DII change and BMI, education, and race/ethnicity; so, analyses were further stratified by these variables in the OS and DMT. In the OS, normal-weight women experienced the largest decrease in DII between baseline and Year 3 [-1.39 (± 2.55) to -1.81 (± 2.54)] compared to obese women [-0.78 (± 2.61) to -1.04 (± 2.67)]; while women with at least some college education showed the greatest change in DII [-1.39 (± 2.51) to -1.77 (± 2.52)] compared to women with less than a high school education, whose DII scores were more pro-inflammatory [0.26 (± 2.71) to 0.06 (± 2.71)]. In terms of race/ethnicity, Asians/Pacific Islanders (A/PI) experienced the largest change in DII [-1.76 (± 2.53) to -2.04 (± 2.51)], followed by European Americans



www.manaraa.com

(EA) [-1.25 (±2.52) to -1.63 (±2.53)]. African Americans (AA) and Hispanics (HP) had more pro-inflammatory DII scores.

Figures 4.3, 4.4 and 4.5 present the corresponding longitudinal trends in the DMT intervention and control arms, which parallel those in the OS upon stratification by BMI, education, and race/ethnicity; though DII changes in the intervention arm were greater than in the control arm. Normal-weight women consistently experienced the largest DII decrease over time, followed by overweight women, while obese women showed the smallest decrease in DII over time (Figure 4.3). Highly educated women experienced the largest DII decreases over time, while AA and HP showed the smallest changes over time (Figure 4.5).

The final predictive model presented in Table 4.3 explained 22% of the variance in DII changes between baseline and Year 3 in the OS. Decreases in DII over time were predicted by baseline DII (having a higher baseline DII predicted a larger decrease in DII), being A/PI or EA, having BMI<25kg/m², being more educated, being a nonsmoker, and meeting public health recommendations for physical activity.

4.5 Discussion

Using data from both the WHI OS and DMT, we described changes over time in the inflammatory potential of diet using the DII. The DII score in the OS remained relatively stable from baseline to Year 3, with an average change of -0.36 ± 2.35 , representing about 2% of the full range of change in DII scores (-9.52 to 10.71). We demonstrated that the DII decreased substantially from baseline to Year 1 in the DMT intervention arm, achieving the lowest mean score in Year 3, and then increasing



gradually until study end. The longitudinal trend of DII changes was similar in both arms of the DMT; however, changes in the intervention arm were almost double those observed in the control arm during the first five years of follow-up. In both the OS and DMT, participants who experienced the largest DII decrease had a normal BMI, a high educational level, and were A/PI or EA. Those who experienced the smallest decrease were obese, had less than high school education, and were HP or AA.

OS participants may have started the study consuming foods with lower mean inflammatory potential compared to DMT participants, likely due to DMT eligibility that required women to consume diets with \geq 32% energy from fat.^{40,266} This requirement had the effect of producing higher DII scores (i.e., more pro-inflammatory) at baseline for DMT participants because fat is a strongly pro-inflammatory component of the DII ³⁸. It also could help explain reductions in the DII among DMT participants, who needed to meet a dietary fat entry criterion.²⁷³

Highly educated women could be more heavily exposed to information about healthier food choices and have better financial access to a wider variety of healthier food choices than women with lower educational levels. In a study on the longitudinal trends in diet over a 20-year period, diet quality improved with higher educational attainment.²⁷⁴ Chaix et al. observed that poorly educated participants shopping in specific supermarket brands and in supermarkets whose catchment areas included more poorly educated residents had higher BMIs or waist circumferences.²⁷⁵ Additionally, Drewnowski et al. found lower levels of education and incomes, among other factors, to be consistently associated with higher obesity risk.²⁷⁶ These findings could partially explain our result showing that obese and less-educated participants experienced the smallest decreases in



DII. The low DII scores in A/PI and EA compared to other race/ethnic groups may be due to different dietary patterns inherent in the cultures of the racial/ethnic groups. For example, diets of most Asian populations contain numerous anti-inflammatory constituents and lack many of the pro-inflammatory substances in Western diets.^{277,278} In the WHI, EA women are relatively better educated²⁷⁹ and may be more willing to change their diets in keeping with recommendations.²⁷⁶

While the slight decrease in the dietary inflammatory potential from baseline to Year 3 in participants in the OS, provided insights into changes in dietary behavior over time, the follow-up period was insufficient to draw conclusions regarding long-term changes in dietary behavior in an observational setting. Participants in the control arm of the DMT were not asked to make dietary changes and were observed throughout the 10year follow-up period; however, the trend in dietary behavior change over time in this group was similar, though smaller, to that observed in the intervention arm. Participants randomized to the control arm may have been motivated to change their diets prior to joining the study, and thus made personal efforts to improve their diets over time.

Some studies have examined the stability of dietary patterns over time;³¹⁻³⁷ however, to the best of our knowledge, this is the first to study the stability of a dietary index describing the inflammatory potential over time. Previous studies reported inconsistent results on the stability of dietary behaviors over time, with some indicating stable behaviors after a short follow-up period of about 2 to 4 years,^{33,37} and others reporting significant changes only after a moderately long follow up (e.g., \geq 7 years).^{34,36} Changes in diet over time may be due, in part, to the response to frequent updates to dietary guidelines, changes over time in the availability of different foods in some



www.manaraa.com

communities, and disease diagnosis that may alter dietary intake (e.g., diabetes or hypertension). Methodologic differences between studies would include differences in duration of follow-up, frequency and method of diet assessment, and sample composition and size.

This study has several strengths including the relatively large population-based sample in the OS and DMT, good regional and racial/ethnic representation, and inclusion of large number of potential predictors of DII change. The DMT had a relatively long follow-up duration with diet assessed annually on random subsamples of the study population. Our study also had some limitations: FFQ data were not available in the OS after Year 3; thus we were not able to compare dietary behavior change between the OS and DMT beyond the first three years of follow up. The decrease in dietary inflammatory potential in the first three years may have been due to survey learning effects, in part attributed to social desirability bias, rather than a real improvement in diet quality. This limitation might have been mitigated had social desirability, an established source of bias of dietary self-report data, been measured in the WHI.^{280,281} In our DMT sample, not every participant had FFQ data at all 11 time points, which could have reduced the effect of survey learning as participants did not complete the FFQ every year. Sample sizes from Year 8 to 10 were very small and may not be representative of the entire DMT population. Although WHI enrolled only postmenopausal women, average DII scores in the WHI were comparable to other US populations that have been examined.^{39,282}

After including a comprehensive list of demographic, lifestyle and health-related factors, our final prediction model explained 22% of the variation in DII change in the OS. This represents reasonable explanatory ability when one considers that a change



score is accompanied by large overall variance owing to the fact that the variance of a difference is the sum of the variance of the individual components²⁸³ (while the absolute difference can often be quite small). Other potential predictors of DII change that are outside the scope of the current study may include behavioural factors, such as those investigated by Tinker et al. in the prediction of dietary change and maintenance in the DMT.²⁶⁹

4.6 Conclusion

In this population of postmenopausal women, the average DII was relatively stable in the OS from baseline to Year 3, but decreased significantly over time in a manner consistent with improved anti-inflammatory potential, achieving its lowest mean value at Year 3 in DMT intervention participants and, to a smaller extent, among control arm participants. In all three study groups, the extent of decrease was influenced by BMI, education, and race/ethnicity. Baseline DII and several demographic, lifestyle and clinical factors significantly predicted changes in the inflammatory potential of diet in the first three years of follow up in an observational setting. Future research is warranted to examine whether reductions in DII over time are associated with decreased chronic disease risk.



4.7 Tables and figures



Figure 4.1. Participant flow in the administration of food frequency questionnaires in the Women's Health Initiative (WHI) Observational Study (OS) and Dietary Modification Trial (DMT), 1993-2010



www.manaraa.com

Characteristic	Observational Study (n=76,671)	Dietary Modification Trial intervention arm (n=18,604)	Dietary Modification Trial control arm (n=27,878)				
Age groups (years)							
<50-59	24144 (31.5)	6832 (36.7)	10203 (36.6)				
60-69	34293 (44.7)	8681 (46.7)	13033 (46.7)				
70-79	18234 (23.8)	3091 (16.6)	4642 (16.7)				
Body mass index (kg/m ²)							
Normal (<25)	30577 (39.9)	5230 (28.1)	6820 (24.5)				
Overweight (25.0 - <30)	26605 (34.7)	6534 (35.1)	9940 (35.7)				
Obese (≥30)	19489 (25.4)	6840 (36.8)	11118 (39.9)				
Race/ethnicity							
Asian or Pacific Islander	2102 (2.7)	421 (2.3)	645 (2.3)				
African American	4697 (6.1)	1932 (10.4)	2836 (10.2)				
Hispanic/Latino	2253 (3.0)	661 (3.6)	999 (3.6)				
European American	66331 (86.8)	15263 (82.2)	22916 (82.3)				
Other	1078 (1.4)	286 (1.5)	430 (1.6)				
Educational level							
Less than high school	814 (1.1)	186 (1.0)	332 (1.2)				
Some high school/GED	21209 (27.9)	5703 (30.8)	8609 (31.1)				
Some years of college/graduate Smoking status	54067 (71.0)	12604 (68.2)	18761 (67.7)				
Never	38661 (50.1)	9502 (51.7)	14386 (52.1)				
Former	32813 (43.3)	7715 (50.0)	11370 (41.2)				
Current	4242 (5.6)	1169 (6.3)	1842 (6.7)				
Physical activity (PA), minutes/week							
Not meeting PA recommendations	39636 (52.2)	10860 (65.2)	16421 (65.7)				
Meeting PA recommendations	36254 (47.8)	5797 (34.8)	8567 (34.3)				
Diabetes							
No	66796 (87.1)	15450 (83.1)	22952 (82.3)				
Yes	9875 (12.9)	3154 (16.9)	4926 (17.7)				
Hypertension No	51266 (68.0)	10811 (65.5)	15974 (64.5)				
No	51266 (68.0)	10811 (65.5)	15974 (64.5)				

Table 4.1.Baseline characteristics of study participants, frequency (%), Women's Health Initiative, 1993-1998



Yes	24147 (32.0)	5704 (34.5)	8794 (35.5)
Arthritis			
No	39324 (51.6)	10042 (54.5)	14989 (54.3)
Yes	36845 (48.4)	8371 (45.5)	12596 (45.7)
Cancer			
No	66375 (87.2)	17613 (95.6	26382 (95.6)
Yes	9757 (12.8)	809 (4.4)	1210 (4.4)
Duration of estrogen use by a	category		
None	47756 (62.3)	11648 (62.6)	17496 (62.8)
<5 Years	9785 (12.7)	2573 (13.8)	3748 (13.4)
5 to <10 Years	5808 (7.6)	1368 (7.4)	2086 (7.5)
10 to <15 Years	4609 (6.0)	1102 (5.9)	1685 (6.0)
15+ Years	8711 (11.4)	1911 (10.3)	2863 (10.3)
Duration of estrogen & proge	esterone use by cate	gory	
None	53804 (70.2)	13431 (72.2)	20195 (72.4)
<5 Years	10943 (14.3)	2671 (14.4)	3934 (14.1)
5 to <10 Years	6392 (8.3)	1388 (7.4)	2162 (7.8)
10 to <15 Years	37228 (4.9)	749 (4.0)	1103 (4.0)
15+ Years	1808 (2.3)	362 (2.0)	484 (1.7)
Statin use			
No	64049 (83.5)	13937 (74.9)	20601 (73.9)
Yes	12622 (16.5)	4667 (25.1)	7277 (26.1)
Antidepressant use			
No	67557 (88.1)	15502 (83.3)	23144 (83.0)
Yes	9114 (11.9)	3102 (16.7)	4734 (17.0)
NSAIDs use			
No	36819 (48.0)	6687 (35.9)	9732 (34.9)
Yes	39852 (52.0)	11917 (64.1)	18146 (65.1)

NSAIDs=Non-steroidal Anti-inflammatory Drugs





Figure 4.2. Average dietary inflammatory index (DII)¹ scores across years of follow-up in the Dietary Modification Trial, by study arm; Women's Health Initiative, 1993-2010²

¹(P-value for the difference in DII scores between intervention and control was 0.62 at baseline, and <0.0001 for each year from year 1 onwards)

²Numbers of participants (Intervention: 19470, 18061, 6081, 3255, 5071, 5835, 7160, 4641, 2734, 1578, and 417; Control: 29216, 26753, 8882, 4922, 7902, 9028, 10860, 7252, 4451, 2344 and 632; for Years 0, 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, and 10, respectively)



Time point (Sample size)	0 (18520)	1 (17383)	2 (5865)	3 (3131)	4 (4843)	5 (5596)	6 (6800)	7 (4404)	8 (2582)	9 (1497)	10 (391)
0 (277916)		< 0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001
1 (25749)	< 0.0001		< 0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	0.01	0.0004	0.99	0.99
2 (8524)	< 0.0001	< 0.0001		0.11	0.99	0.99	0.99	0.99	0.99	0.99	0.99
3 (4717)	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	0.23		0.99	0.99	0.01	0.001	0.99	0.004	0.61
4 (7553)	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	0.68	0.99		0.99	0.22	0.01	0.99	0.04	0.99
5 (10375)	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	0.0003	0.99	0.99		0.52	0.03	0.99	0.05	0.99
6 (8634)	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	0.01	0.99	0.99	0.99		0.99	0.99	0.99	0.99
7 (6918)	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	0.0002	0.99	0.99	0.99	0.99		0.99	0.99	0.99
8 (4240)	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	0.09	0.003	0.33	0.04	0.99		0.99	0.99
9 (2244)	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	0.99	0.99	0.99	0.99	0.99	0.99	0.14		0.99
10 (600)	0.0004	0.99	0.99	0.99	0.99	0.99	0.99	0.99	0.24	0.99	

Table 4.2. Bonferroni-adjusted p-values of all pair-wise comparisons of the mean dietary inflammatory index scores across years of follow-up in the Dietary Modification Trial; Women's Health Initiative, 1993-2010

Blue=control arm, Green=intervention arm

المتسارات

www.manaraa.com



Figure 4.3. Average dietary inflammatory index over time by body mass index category and Dietary Modification Trial arm; Women's Health Initiative, 1993-2010





Figure 4.4. Average dietary inflammatory index (DII) over time by educational level and Dietary Modification Trial arm; Women's Health Initiative, 1993-2010



Figure 4.5. Average dietary inflammatory index (DII) over time by race/ethnicity and Dietary Modification Trial arm; Women's Health Initiative, 1993-2010¹

Predictors	β (SE)	P-value (β)		
Baseline DII	-0.44 (0.00)	< 0.0001		
Body mass index (kg/m^2)				
Normal weight (>25)	referent			
Overweight(25 - <30)	0.25 (0.02)	<0.0001		
Obese(>30)	0.10 (0.02)	< 0.0001		
Race/ethnicity	× ,			
European American	referent			
African American	0.48 (0.03)	< 0.0001		
Asian or Pacific Islander	-0.17 (0.05)	< 0.0001		
Hispanic	0.68 (0.05)	< 0.0001		
Other	0.07 (0.06)	0.28		
Educational level				
Some college/graduate	referent			
Some high school/GED	0.31 (0.02)	< 0.0001		
Less than high school	0.47 (0.10)	< 0.0001		
Use of NSAIDs				
Yes	referent			
No	0.08 (0.01)	< 0.0001		
Age group (years)				
50-59	referent			
60-69	-0.04 (0.01)	< 0.0001		
70-79	0.02 (0.01)	0.18		
Physical activity (minutes/week)				
Meeting PA recommendation	referent			
Not meeting PA	0.26(0.02)			
recommendation	0.20 (0.02)	< 0.0001		
Smoking status				
Never	referent			
Former	-0.07 (0.02)	< 0.0001		
Current	0.24 (0.03)	< 0.0001		
Hypertension status				
No	referent			
Yes	0.06 (0.01)	< 0.0001		
Diabetes				
No	referent			
Yes	0.10 (0.02)	< 0.0001		

Table 4.3. Multivariable predictive model of change in dietary inflammatory index over time in the Observational Study; Women's Health Initiative, 1993-2010



Use of estrogen & progesterone		
None	referent	
< 5y	0.00 (0.02)	0.91
5 to <10y	-0.10 (0.02)	0.0001
10 to <15y	-0.09 (0.02)	0.0002
≥15y	0.10 (0.04)	0.02



CHAPTER 5

CHANGES IN THE INFLAMMATORY POTENTIAL OF DIET OVER TIME AND RISK OF COLORECTAL CANCER IN

POSTMENOPAUSAL WOMEN³

To be submitted to Epidemiology



³ Fred K. Tabung^{1,2}, Susan E. Steck^{1,2,3}, Yunsheng Ma⁴, Angela D. Liese^{2,3}, Jiajia Zhang², Dorothy S. Lane⁵, Gloria Y.F. Ho⁶, Lifang Hou⁷, Linda Snetselaar⁸, Judith K. Ockene⁴, James R. Hebert^{1,2,3}

¹Cancer Prevention and Control Program, University of South Carolina; ²Department of Epidemiology and Biostatistics, University of South Carolina; ³Center for Research in Nutrition and Health Disparities, University of South Carolina; ⁴Division of Preventive and Behavioral Medicine, University of Massachusetts Medical School; ⁵Department of Preventive Medicine, Stony Brook University School of Medicine; ⁶Department of Epidemiology and Population Health, Albert Einstein College of Medicine; ⁷Department of Preventive Medicine & The Robert H. Lurie Comprehensive Cancer Center, Feinberg School of Medicine, Northwestern University; ⁸Department of Epidemiology, The University of Iowa

5.1 Abstract

Introduction: To evaluate changes in the inflammatory potential of diet and subsequent risk of colorectal cancer (CRC), we used the dietary inflammatory index (DII), to predict newly incident CRC in the Women's Health Initiative (WHI). Methods: Data were obtained from 110,665 postmenopausal women recruited from 1993-1998 into the WHI and followed through September 30, 2010. Food frequency questionnaires data were used to compute cumulative average DII scores that were then used in Cox proportional hazards (PH) models to estimate hazard ratios (HR) and 95% confidence intervals (95%CI) for newly incident CRC. Patterns in DII change from baseline to Year 3 were computed in a subset of 79,484 women, from which HR were calculated using Cox PH models. **Results**: HR for the association between high DII scores and CRC were consistently significantly elevated in the first seven years of follow up, for colon cancer with multivariable-adjusted HR ranging from 1.30 in Year 2 to 1.58 in Year 7, comparing the highest with the lowest quintile. No significant associations were observed between cumulative average DII and rectal cancer. Compared to participants in the antiinflammatory stable category, risk was increased in participants with a pro-inflammatory stable diet, for CRC (HR, 1.18; 95% CI, 0.99, 1.41), and for rectal cancer (HR, 1.53; 95%CI, 1.01, 2.32). Conclusion: A history of long-term pro-inflammatory diets increases the risk of colon cancer while shorter-term stable pro-inflammatory diets, increase the risk of rectal cancer. Lowering the inflammatory potential of diet could be a means for colon cancer, and potentially rectal cancer prevention.

Key words: changes in dietary inflammatory potential, colorectal cancer, dietary patterns, Women's Health Initiative



5.2 Introduction

Colorectal cancer is the third most commonly diagnosed cancer in American women after lung and breast cancers.¹⁷³ The etiology of colorectal cancer involves a complex interaction of cellular and molecular processes with environmental factors. Of these factors, dietary patterns that modulate inflammation⁴⁸⁻⁵⁰ may be important, given the central role of inflammation in the carcinogenesis process.⁷⁹ The American Institute for Cancer Research estimates that half of colorectal cancers can be prevented by adopting healthy lifestyle behaviors including healthy dietary patterns.¹⁷⁴ Dietary patterns, or dietary indices that take into account multiple dietary factors, can provide a more comprehensive assessment of diet and may be more predictive of disease processes and outcomes than single nutrients or foods.^{23,26}

Most dietary patterns derived through data-driven approaches or index-based methods have been shown to be associated with colorectal cancer risk.^{28,30,176,177,180} However, these findings are often heterogeneous by anatomic subsite of colorectal cancer. We previously reported that a more pro-inflammatory diet as measured by the dietary inflammatory index (DII)^{38,39} was associated with increased risk of colorectal cancer using baseline food frequency questionnaire data in the Women's Health Initiative (WHI), and that the association was more pronounced for colon cancer than for rectal cancer (Tabung FK, Steck SE, Ma Y, et al., unpublished data, 2014).

Despite the growing interest in the role of dietary patterns in colorectal cancer risk,^{28,30,176,177,180} most studies have examined dietary patterns at one point in time only. However, dietary behaviors mainly influence chronic disease outcomes when they persist for a longer period of time.³¹ We have shown that DII scores decreased significantly in



women enrolled in the WHI Dietary Modification Trial. The longitudinal trend in DII scores was similar to that of percent fat reduction over time (Tabung FK, Steck SE, Zhang J, et al., unpublished data, 2014). Risk of colorectal cancer is believed to accumulate over time, thus, dietary changes over time may have a greater impact on colorectal cancer risk compared with diet assessed at only one point in time. In the current study, our objective is to evaluate the role of both the cumulative history, and the changes in the inflammatory potential of diet over time, on colorectal cancer risk.

5.3 Methods

5.3.1 Study population

The WHI study is a large and complex clinical investigation of strategies for the prevention and control of some of the most common causes of morbidity and mortality among postmenopausal women. The design of the WHI has been described in detail elsewhere.⁴⁰ Briefly, the WHI began in 1992, implemented in 40 sites across the United States, and enrolled a total of 161,808 women between 1993 and 1998. The WHI enrolled 93,676 women into an Observational Study (OS) and 68,132 participants into Clinical Trials (CT), with an average of 11.3 years of follow-up until September 30, 2010.²⁶⁵ The CTs included three components: Hormone Therapy, Calcium and Vitamin D, and the Dietary Modification Trial (DMT). For the DMT, women were randomly assigned to a usual-diet comparison group (n=29,294) or an intervention group (n=19,541) with a 20% low-fat dietary pattern with increased vegetables, fruits, and whole grains. Women who proved to be ineligible for, or who were unwilling to enroll in the CT components were invited to be part of the prospective cohort of women in the OS.⁴⁰



Exclusion criteria for both the OS and CT included any medical condition associated with a predicted survival of less than three years, alcoholism, other drug dependency, mental illness (e.g., major depressive disorder), dementia, active participation in another intervention trial and not likely to live in the area for at least 3 years. Demographic information and dietary data were obtained by self-report using standardized questionnaires. Certified staff performed physical measurements, including blood pressure, height and weight, and blood samples at the baseline clinic visit. Women were further excluded from the DMT if their diets were assessed to have <32% energy from fat.²⁶⁶ The WHI protocol was approved by the institutional review boards at the Clinical Coordinating Center (CCC) at the Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Center (Seattle, WA) and at each of the 40 Clinical Centers.¹⁴

5.3.2 Diet assessment

Figure 5.1 describes the administration of food frequency questionnaires (FFQ) in the WHI. During screening for the WHI, all participants completed a baseline FFQ. At follow-up, the FFQ was completed at Year 3 for \approx 90% of OS participants. About 92% of DMT participants completed an FFQ in Year 1, and a random third of participants were invited to complete an FFQ annually from Year 2 until study end (approximately ten years) (Figure 5.1). There was an average of two FFQs per participant in the OS and three FFQs per participant in the DMT. The 122-item WHI FFQ line-item nutrient data was obtained from the University of Minnesota's Nutrient Data system for research (NDSR) version 4.03_31 software,²⁷² which is based on the US Department of Agriculture Standard Reference Releases and manufacturer information. The WHI FFQ has shown comparable results with 24-hour dietary recall interviews and food records in the WHI.²⁶⁶



5.3.3 The dietary inflammatory index (DII)

Details of the development³⁸ and validation³⁹ of the DII have been described elsewhere. Briefly, an extensive literature search was performed to obtain peer-reviewed journal articles that examined the association between six well known inflammatory biomarkers (IL-1 β , IL-4, IL-6, IL-10, TNF α , and CRP) and 45 specific foods and nutrients (components of the DII). Scores were derived and standardized to a representative global diet database constructed based on 11 datasets from diverse populations in different parts of the world. Overall DII scores for each individual participant represent the sum of each of the DII components in relation to the comparison global diet database.³⁸ The DII score characterizes an individual's diet on a continuum from maximally anti-inflammatory to maximally pro-inflammatory, with a higher DII score indicating a more pro-inflammatory diet and a lower (i.e., more negative) DII score indicating a more anti-inflammatory diet. In the WHI FFQ, 32 of the 45 original DII components were available for inclusion in the overall DII score (see³⁸ for list of 45 DII components). Components such as ginger, turmeric, garlic, oregano, pepper, rosemary, eugenol, saffron, flavan-3-ol, flavones, flavonols, flavonones, anthocyanidins that are included in the original DII calculation³⁸ were not included in the current study because they were not available from the WHI FFQ.

5.3.4 Outcomes assessment

The WHI outcomes ascertainment and adjudication methods have been previously described.²⁶⁷ Briefly, participants (or next-of-kin) self-reported cancer diagnoses reported on questionnaires annually in the OS or semiannually in the CT through 2005 and



annually in all thereafter. Colorectal cancer events reported were verified by centrally trained physician adjudicators after review of medical records and pathology reports.

The outcome for these analyses was colorectal cancer, including cancers of the colon and rectum (including rectum and rectosigmoid). Proximal colon cancers were defined as cancers of the cecum, ascending colon, right colon, hepatic flexure of colon, and transverse colon (ICD=C18.0, C18.2-18.4), and distal colon cancers were defined as cancers of the splenic flexure of colon, descending colon, left colon and sigmoid colon (ICD=C18.5-18.7). Survival time was defined as days from enrollment or randomization until colorectal cancer diagnosis while censoring time was defined as days from enrollment or randomization until death or last contact occurring on or before September 30, 2010, in participants without colorectal cancer.

5.3.5 Statistical analysis

We utilized data from 142,511 women participating in the WHI OS and DMT. Exclusion criteria included: women with colorectal cancer at baseline or missing colorectal cancer status at baseline (n=2,272), women with reported total energy intake values judged to be implausible (\leq 600 kcal/day or \geq 5000 kcal/day) (n=1,796) or extreme BMI values (<15kg/m² or > 50kg/m²) (n=2,014), as well as women with single FFQs (n=15,122) or missing FFQs (n=32) (Figure 5.1). Additionally, we excluded participants with missing data in the covariates (n=10,610), leaving a total of 110,665 participants for these analyses (72,261 in OS and 38,404 in DMT). Frequencies and percentages were computed to describe the distribution of covariates across quintiles of cumulative average DII for the DII assessed from baseline to Year 3.


To determine the role of cumulative history of the inflammatory potential of diet in colorectal cancer risk over time, we calculated ten cumulative averages of DII incrementally starting from the average between baseline and year one DII.¹⁷² The cumulative average was then categorized into quintiles, and used to estimate hazard ratios (HR) for newly incident overall colorectal, colon, and rectal cancers, using multivariableadjusted Cox regression models Colorectal cancers diagnosed prior to year one were excluded from the models. This approach was repeated for the average DII of baseline, year one, and year two, with colorectal cancer cases diagnosed prior to year two excluded to avoid the possibility of change in diet due to subclinical disease and to ensure that only participants at risk of developing colorectal cancer going forward, were included in the models. This approach was repeated until DII estimates at all ten time points were used.¹⁷² We categorized the cumulative average DII into quintiles, used these to calculate HRs and then plotted the HRs on graphs for a visual appraisal of the longitudinal trend in risk, separately for colon and rectal cancers in the DMT.

To determine the role of changes in patterns of the inflammatory potential of diet over time in colorectal cancer risk, we calculated the DII from baseline and year 3 FFQs administered to 79,484 women in the OS and DMT. We categorized the DII at both time points into quintiles (Q) and further categorized changes in the inflammatory potential of diet based on quintile differences between baseline and year 3, as follows:

- 1. Anti-inflammatory stable: Q1 or Q2 at both time points or change from Q3 to Q2;
- 2. Anti-inflammatory change: changes \leq -2Q;
- 3. Neutral inflammation stable: changes from Q2 to Q3, Q4 to Q3 or stable at Q3 at both time points;



- 4. Pro-inflammatory change: changes $\geq 2Q$;
- 5. Pro-inflammatory stable: Q4 or Q5 at both time points, or change from Q3 to Q4.

The names given to these categories of DII changes were meant to be qualitative only. Next, Cox proportional hazards regression models were used to estimate HR and associated 95%CI for colorectal, colon (proximal/distal), and rectal cancer incidence, by patterns of DII changes, with adjustment for multiple covariates. The anti-inflammatory stable category, considered to be the healthiest category, was the referent for all models.

Potential confounders that changed HRs by >10% were retained in the final model and included: age group (years) (50-59, 60-69, 70-79); race/ethnicity, European American (EA), African American (AA), Hispanic (HP), Asian or Pacific Islander (A/PI), and other race groups (other); educational levels (less than high school, some high school /GED, at least some college/graduate education); smoking status (current, past, never); body mass index [BMI= weight(kg)/height(m)²] (normal weight (<25kg/m²), overweight (25-<30 kg/m²), and obese (\geq 30kg/m²)); physical activity (PA) was categorized based on public health recommendations,²⁸⁴ as meeting or not meeting PA recommendations (\geq 150 minutes/week of moderate intensity PA or \geq 75 minutes/week of vigorous intensity PA versus<150 minutes/week of moderate intensity PA or <75 minutes/week of vigorous intensity PA, respectively); history of diabetes (yes/no), hypertension (yes/no), arthritis (yes/no); non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug (NSAID) use (yes/no); category and duration of estrogen use and category and duration of combined estrogen and progesterone use both categorized into five groups (none, <5y, 5 to <10y, 10 to <15y, and \geq 15y). Data on potential confounders were collected by selfadministered questionnaires on demographics, medical history, and lifestyle factors.⁴⁰



Each covariate in the final models for both cumulative average DII and patterns of changes in DII was tested for proportional hazards using cumulative sums of Martingalebased residuals. Age group, and smoking status violated the PH assumption and models were therefore stratified by these two covariates. We investigated effect modification of the association between cumulative average DII, and changes in the DII and colorectal cancer incidence by age, race/ethnicity, education, BMI and NSAID use, by including two-way cross-product terms for these covariates in the models, and assessed significant effect modification at p < 0.05. None of the cross-product terms were significant and therefore no subgroup analyses were conducted. Statistical significance was determined by evaluating 95%CI. Statistical analyses were conducted using SAS[®] version 9.3 (SAS Institute, Cary, NC), and all tests were two-sided.

5.4 **Results**

Table 5.1 shows the distribution of participants' characteristics in quintiles of cumulative average DII from baseline to year 3. Proportions of most covariates differed between the quintiles. For example, there was a higher proportion of AA (15%), participants with < high school education (2%), current smokers (9%), and obese participants (37%), in the highest compared to the lowest quintile (Table 5.1). During an average 11.7 years of follow-up, 1,240 incident colorectal cancer cases (1,036 colon and 219 rectal) were identified.

Table 5.2 presents hazard ratios of the association between cumulative average DII and colorectal cancer. Comparing participants in the highest with the lowest quintile of DII, in Year 3 where OS participants had the only other diet assessment, the cumulative average DII was significantly associated with an increased risk of colorectal



www.manaraa.com

cancer overall (HR, 1.33; 95%CI, 1.10, 1.61) and in subgroup analyses of OS participants (HR, 1.34; 95%CI, 1.05, 1.70) but not DMT participants (HR, 1.28; 95%CI, 0.95, 1.73). In all other years of follow-up, HR were indicative of a positive association in DMT participants but did not attain statistical significance.

Figures 5.1 and 5.2 present HR and 95%CIs for colon and rectal cancers, respectively, at the various time points of cumulative diet assessment comparing DMT participants in the highest to the lowest cumulative average DII quintile. For colon cancer, risk was not significantly increased in Year 1, but from Year 2 to Year 7, risk was consistently significantly increased, and became attenuated from Year 7 to study end in Year 10 (Figure 5.1). We found no significant results for cumulative DII and rectal cancer (Figure 5.2).

In the first 3 years of follow-up, 29.3% of participants were classified as having an anti-inflammatory stable pattern, 11.7% experienced anti-inflammatory change, 23.6% were in the neutral inflammation stable category, 12.1% experienced pro-inflammatory changes, while 23.3% were in the pro-inflammatory stable category. Table 5.3 presents the results of the associations between changes in the inflammatory potential of diet and colorectal cancer risk. Using participants in the anti-inflammatory stable category as the referent, rectal cancer risk was significantly increased in participants with a proinflammatory stable diet (HR, 1.53; 95%CI, 1.01, 2.32). HR for colon cancer (HR, 1.11; 95%CI, 0.91, 1.35) and overall colorectal cancer (HR, 1.18; 95%CI, 0.99, 1.41) were positive but not statistically significant (Table 5.3).



www.manaraa.com

5.5 Discussion

In this large prospective study, we demonstrated that: 1) a higher cumulative average score of the DII is associated with an increased risk of colorectal cancer especially colon cancer, while 2) a stable pro-inflammatory diet from baseline to year 3 increased the risk of rectal cancer. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study to characterize the association between the cumulative history, and changes over time in the inflammatory potential of diet, and risk of colorectal cancer. Given that FFQs were administered to OS participants at baseline and Year 3; a cumulative average DII could only be calculated for OS participants at Year 3, whereas analyses at all other time points included DMT participants. We selected these two time points for the analyses of changes in the DII over time, to include the maximum number of participants with FFQs (Figure 5.1). There was no statistically significant association between cumulative average DII and rectal cancer in the DMT, though a power calculation indicated that we could observe significant HR ranging from 1.13 to 1.47. There was however, a significantly higher risk of rectal cancer in models for changes in DII between baseline and Year 3 where analyses included subjects from both the OS and DMT.

Our results are generally similar to previous findings from studies of diet quality and colorectal cancer risk,^{28,145,202,285} in terms of poorer diet quality (here characterized by higher, more pro-inflammatory DII scores) being associated with increased colorectal cancer risk. These other studies assessed diet quality at only one point in time. However, in a previous study we demonstrated that diet quality with respect to its inflammatory potential improves significantly over time in an interventional setting, though it is relatively stable in an observational setting (Tabung FK, Steck SE, Zhang J et al.,



www.manaraa.com

unpublished data, 2014). Risk of colorectal cancer is believed to accumulate over time; thus, dietary changes over time may have a greater impact on colorectal cancer risk compared with diet assessed at only one point in time.

However, the relative stability of the dietary inflammatory potential in an observational setting could mean that diet assessment at any point in time during the study could be equally important in determining disease risk estimates. In the current study, we obtained a HR of 1.18 (95%CI, 0.99, 1.41) for the association between changes from baseline to Year 3 in the inflammatory potential of diet and colorectal cancer risk, comparing a stable pro-inflammatory change to an anti-inflammatory stable change, and a HR of 1.34 (95%CI, 1.05, 1.70) for the association between cumulative average DII and colorectal cancer risk from baseline to Year 3, comparing the highest and lowest quintiles of cumulative average DII in the OS. These risk estimates are similar to the HR of 1.22 (95%CI, 1.05, 1.43) we obtained in a previous study, for the association between the dietary inflammatory potential at baseline only, and colorectal cancer risk (Tabung FK, Steck SE, Ma Y, et al., unpublished data, 2014).

The link between inflammation and colorectal cancer is supported by findings from several studies showing either a reduced risk of colorectal cancer with regular use of NSAIDs,^{83,84} or a positive association between higher concentrations of inflammatory biomarkers and increased colorectal cancer risk.^{89,113} Other potential mechanisms through which a pro-inflammatory diet may increase risk of colorectal cancer include components of the metabolic syndrome, especially insulin resistance or glucose intolerance,²⁸⁶⁻²⁸⁸ and the microbiota. A high and sustained pro-inflammatory potential of the diet may



compromise the host-microbiota mutualism favoring the proliferation of toxic bacteria that have been suggested to promote colorectal carcinogenesis.²⁸⁹

Strengths of the current study include accounting for changes in the inflammatory potential of diet over time in a large, well-characterized population of more than 110,000 women, a long follow-up period, the inclusion of women of diverse race/ethnic groups, and the central adjudication of colorectal cancer diagnosis. The use of a novel dietary index to score diet quality based on inflammatory potential supports the evidence linking inflammation and colorectal cancer. Limitations include known measurement error in using an FFQ for the assessment of diet and its inflammatory potential over time, potential residual or unmeasured confounding, though we adjusted for many potential confounders in the models. We assumed that the random 30% of DMT participants sampled from year 2 until study end was representative of the entire DMT study population, a plausible assumption since these random subsamples were used for intervention monitoring in the DMT, though the sample size reduced in the last two years of follow-up.

5.6 Conclusion

A history of long-term pro-inflammatory diets increases the risk of colon cancer, while shorter-term stable pro-inflammatory diets increase the risk of rectal cancer. Our findings suggest lowering the inflammatory potential of diet as a means for colon cancer, and potentially rectal cancer prevention.



www.manaraa.com

5.7 Tables and figures



Figure 5.1. Participant flow in the administration of food frequency questionnaires in the Women's Health Initiative (WHI) Observational Study (OS) and Dietary Modification Trial (DMT), 1993-2010



Characteristic	Q1 (-6.586, < - 3.184) (Healthiest)	Q2 (-3.184, < - 2.103)	Q3 (-2.103, < -0.734)	Q4 (< - 0.734, 1.041)	Q5 (1.041, 5.315) (Least healthy)
Age groups (years)					
<50-59	6980 (30.8)	6779 (30.3)	7191 (32.5)	7596 (34.7)	8040 (37.2)
60-69	10739 (47.4)	10527 (47.1)	10177 (46.0)	9784 (44.7)	9532 (44.1)
70-79	4934 (21.8)	5064 (22.6)	4777 (21.5)	4502 (20.6)	4043 (18.7)
Race/ethnicity					
Asian or Pacific Islander	988 (4.4)	537 (2.4)	569 (2.6)	517 (2.3)	394 (1.8)
African American	713 (3.1)	1021 (4.6)	1428 (6.4)	1906 (8.7)	3104 (14.4)
Hispanic/Latino	319 (1.4)	433 (1.9)	643 (2.9)	827 (3.8)	1166 (5.4)
European American	20339 (89.8)	20092 (89.8)	19189 (86.7)	18287 (83.6)	16596 (76.8)
Other	294 (1.3)	287 (1.3)	316 (1.4)	345 (1.6)	355 (1.6)
Educational level					
< High school	87 (0.4)	146 (0.6)	194 (0.9)	252 (1.1)	413 (1.9)
Some high school/GED	4315 (19.1)	5810 (26.0)	6407 (28.9)	7024 (32.1)	8339 (35.6)
Some years of college/graduate	18251 (80.6)	16414 (73.4)	15544 (70.2)	14606 (66.8)	12863 (59.5)
Smoking status					
Never	11335 (50.0)	11625 (52.0)	11554 (52.2)	11383 (52.0)	12248 (50.9)
Former	10572 (46.7)	9698 (43.3)	9365 (42.3)	9073 (41.5)	9276 (38.6)
Current	746 (3.3)	1047 (4.7)	1226 (5.5)	1426 (6.5)	2247 (9.3)
D 1 1 1 1 2					

Table 5.1. Frequencies (%) of participant's characteristics across quintiles of cumulative average DII (Years 0-3); Women's Health Initiative, 1993-2010

Body mass index (kg/m²)



Normal weight (<25)	9722 (42.9)	8285 (37.0)	7631 (34.5)	7009 (32.0)	6202 (28.7)
Overweight (25.0 - <30)	7728 (34.1)	7858 (35.1)	7864 (35.5)	7750 (35.4)	7397 (34.2)
Obese (≥30)	5203 (23.0)	6227 (27.9)	6650 (30.0)	7123 (32.6)	8016 (37.1)
Physical activity (PA), minutes/w	veek				
Not meeting PA recommendations	8016 (42.2)	11810 (52.8)	12667 (57.2)	13521 (61.8)	15096 (69.8)
Meeting PA recommendations	13090 (5.8)	10560 (47.2)	9478 (42.8)	8361 (38.2)	6519 (30.2)
Diabetes					
No	20000 (88.3)	19499 (87.2)	18915 (85.4)	18482 (84.5)	17870 (82.7)
Yes	2653 (11.7)	2871 (12.8)	3230 (14.6)	3400 (15.5)	3745 (17.2)
Hypertension					
No	15986 (70.6)	15238 (68.1)	14777 (66.7)	1445 (66.0)	13799 (63.8)
Yes	76667 (29.4)	7132 (31.9)	7368 (33.3)	7432 (34.0)	7816 (36.2)
Arthritis					
No	11669 (51.5)	11425 (51.1)	11628 (52.5)	11661 (53.3)	11950 (55.3)
Yes	10984 (48.5)	10945 (48.9)	10517 (47.5)	10221 (46.7)	9665 (44.7)
NSAIDs use					
No	9504 (42.0)	9064 (40.5)	9387 (42.4)	9881 (45.2)	10479 (48.5)
Yes	13149 (58.0)	13306 (59.5)	12758 (57.6)	12001 (54.8)	11136 (51.5)
Duration of estrogen use by categories	gory				
None	14000 (61.8)	13559 (60.6)	13684 (61.8)	13729 (62.7)	14198 (65.7)
<5 Years	2788 (12.3)	2823 (12.6)	2855 (12.9)	2900 (13.3)	2808 (13.0)
5 to <10 Years	1789 (7.9)	1773 (7.9)	1752 (7.9)	1578 (7.2)	1470 (6.8)
10 to <15 Years	1503 (6.6)	1464 (6.6)	1353 (6.1)	1279 (5.8)	1129 (5.2)
15+ Years	2573 (11.4)	2751 (12.3)	2501 (11.3)	2396 (11.0)	2010 (9.3)
Duration of estrogen & progester	one use by categor	ſy			
None	14746 (65.1)	15220 (68.0)	15649 (70.7)	15918 (72.7)	16585 (76.7)



<5 Years	3672 (16.2)	3316 (14.8)	3174 (14.3)	3033 (13.9)	2661 (12.3)
5 to <10 Years	2293 (10.1)	2008 (9.0)	1823 (8.2)	1618 (7.4)	1365 (6.3)
10 to <15 Years	1357 (6.0)	1226 (5.5)	1003 (4.5)	914 (4.2)	670 (3.1)
15+ Years	585 (2.6)	600 (2.7)	496 (2.3)	399 (1.8)	334 (1.6)



	Quintile 1 (Healthiest)	Quintile 2	Quintile 3	Quintile 4	Quintile 5 (Least healthy)	
Years of diet data assessment	Referent	OR (95%CI)	OR (95%CI)	OR (95%CI)	OR (95%CI)	P _{trend}
Baseline, year 1, DM	Г					
n(cases/non cases)	108/7549	104/7436	89/7287	117/7251	119/7116	
Age adjusted	1.00	1.06 (0.82, 1.36)	0.87 (0.67, 1.14)	1.25 (0.98, 1.60)	1.30 (1.02, 1.66)*	0.008
Multivariable- adjusted	1.00	0.97 (0.74, 1.27)	0.85 (0.64, 1.13)	1.11 (0.85, 1.46)	1.16 (0.88, 1.53)	0.13
Baseline, years 1,2, D	MT					
n(cases/non cases)	100/7734	98/7614	83/7509	101/7414	119/7304	
Age adjusted	1.00	1.03 (0.79, 1.34)	0.85 (0.65, 1.12)	1.15 (0.86, 1.48)	1.39 (1.08, 1.79)*	0.003
Multivariable- adjusted	1.00	0.99 (0.75, 1.31)	0.85 (0.63, 1.13)	1.05 (0.79, 1.39)	1.27 (0.95, 1.68)	0.05
Baseline, years 1-3, O	S & DMT					
n(cases/non cases)	226/22427	257/22113	243/21902	223/21659	291/21324	
Age adjusted	1.00	1.20 (1.01, 1.42)	1.14 (0.96, 1.36)	1.11 (0.93, 1.33)	1.50 (1.26, 1.77)*	<0.000 1
Multivariable- adjusted	1.00	1.13 (0.94, 1.35)	1.08 (0.90, 1.30)	1.00 (0.83, 1.21)	1.33 (1.10, 1.61)*	0.02
Baseline, years 1-3: C	OS					
n(cases/non cases)	137/14424	163/14370	159/14322	132/14247	187/14120	
Age adjusted	1.00	1.20 (0.96, 1.49)	1.18 (0.95, 1.48)	1.02 (0.81, 1.29)	1.50 (1.21, 1.86)*	0.003
Multivariable-	1.00	1.16 (0.92, 1.46)	1.13 (0.89, 1.43)	0.94 (0.73, 1.20)	1.34 (1.05, 1.70)*	0.11

Table 5.2. Risk of colorectal cancer by quintiles of cumulative average dietary inflammatory index over a ten-year period of time; Women's Health Initiative, 1993-2010



adj	usted

Baseline, years 1-3: D	MT					
n(cases/non cases)	90/7808	93/7704	77/7576	96/7484	106/7370	
Age adjusted	1.00	1.05 (0.80, 1.38)	0.87 (0.66, 1.18)	1.20 (0.92, 1.57)	1.37 (1.06, 1.79)*	0.005
Multivariable- adjusted	1.00	1.05 (0.79, 1.41)	0.88 (0.65, 1.20)	1.12 (0.84, 1.51)	1.28 (0.95, 1.73)	0.07
Baseline, years 1-4, D	MT					
n(cases/non cases)	77/7910	83/7832	82/7695	90/7537	86/7489	
Age adjusted	1.00	1.09 (0.81, 1.46)	1.07 (0.80, 1.44)	1.30 (0.98, 1.72)	1.28 (0.96, 1.70)	0.04
Multivariable- adjusted	1.00	1.09 (0.80, 1.49)	1.09 (0.79, 1.49)	1.24 (0.91, 1.70)	1.22 (0.88, 1.70)	0.16
Baseline, years 1-5, D	МТ					
n(cases/non cases)	70/8001	77/7943	71/7794	76/7638	75/7558	
Age adjusted	1.00	1.13 (0.83, 1.53)	1.07 (0.79, 1.46)	1.17 (0.86, 1.59)	1.25 (0.93, 1.70)	0.15
Multivariable- adjusted	1.00	1.11 (0.80, 1.54)	1.04 (0.75, 1.46)	1.15 (0.83, 1.51)	1.20 (0.85, 1.71)	0.31
Baseline, years 1-6, D	МТ					
n(cases/non cases)	61/8091	65/8006	73/7866	64/7711	67/7626	
Age adjusted	1.00	1.08 (0.78, 1.50)	1.16 (0.84, 1.59)	1.05 (0.75, 1.45)	1.26 (0.92, 1.74)	0.22
Multivariable- adjusted	1.00	1.08 (0.76, 1.53)	1.23 (0.87, 1.74)	1.11 (0.77, 1.60)	1.24 (0.85, 1.80)	0.30
Baseline, years 1-7, D	МТ					
n(cases/non cases)	46/8105	61/8004	57/7912	55/7728	56/7662	
Age adjusted	1.00	1.36 (0.93, 1.93)	1.25 (0.87, 1.79)	1.20 (0.83, 1.73)	1.39 (0.97, 2.00)	0.21
Multivariable- adjusted	1.00	1.33 (0.90, 1.95)	1.24 (0.83, 1.84)	1.24 (0.83, 1.86)	1.30 (0.85, 1.98)	0.32
Baseline, years 1-8, D	МТ					
n(cases/non cases)	42/8108	53/8012	47/7918	44/7719	43/7700	



Age adjusted	1.00	1.32 (0.90, 1.92)	1.17 (0.79, 1.73)	1.09 (0.73, 1.62)	1.26 (0.85, 1.87)	0.56
Multivariable- adjusted	1.00	1.28 (0.85, 1.92)	1.14 (0.75, 1.74)	1.11 (0.72, 1.73)	1.15 (0.72, 1.82)	0.85
Baseline, years 1-9, D	ОМТ					
n(cases/non cases)	30/8111	47/8010	36/7906	36/7741	37/7710	
Age adjusted	1.00	1.57 (1.02, 2.42)*	1.23 (0.78, 1.93)	1.28 (0.82, 2.02)	1.53 (0.98, 2.38)	0.23
Multivariable- adjusted	1.00	1.57 (0.99, 2.50)	1.21 (0.74, 1.99)	1.25 (0.76, 2.07)	1.35 (0.80, 2.28)	0.64
Baseline, years 1-10,	DMT					
n(cases/non cases)	19/8118	37/8005	27/7877	25/7762	27/7716	
Age adjusted	1.00	1.83 (1.10, 3.05)*	1.44 (0.84, 2.45)	1.33 (0.78, 2.30)	1.59 (0.94, 2.72)	0.41
Multivariable- adjusted	1.00	1.91 (1.09, 3.34)*	1.39 (0.77, 2.53)	1.31 (0.71, 2.41)	1.45 (0.77, 2.74)	0.84

*Statistically significant; ^aHazard ratios and 95% confidence interval; ^bAll multivariable models were adjusted for age, race/ethnicity, educational level, smoking status, diabetes, hypertension, arthritis, NSAID use, category and duration of estrogen use, category and duration of estrogen & progesterone use, body mass index, physical activity and total energy intake



www.manaraa.com



Figure 5.2. Multivariable-adjusted hazard ratios for the association between cumulative average DII (highest vs. lowest quintile) and colon cancer risk; Women's Health Initiative Dietary Modification Trial, 1993-2010



Figure 5.3. Multivariable-adjusted hazard ratios for the association between cumulative average DII (highest vs. lowest quintile) and rectal cancer risk; Women's Health Initiative Dietary Modification Trial, 1993-2010



Table 5.3. Risk of colorectal cancer across patterns of change in the dietary inflammatory index (DII) between baseline and year 3; Women's Health Initiative, 1993-2010

	Patterns of DII changes					
	Anti- inflammat ory stable	Anti- inflammatory change	Neutral inflammation stable	Pro- inflammatory change	Pro- inflammatory stable	
All participants	Referent	HR (95%CI) ^a	HR (95%CI)	HR (95%CI)	HR (95%CI)	
Colorectal cancer, n(cases/non cases)	290/23169	131/9168	251/18575	122/9476	277/18025	
Age adjusted	1.00	1.22 (1.00, 1.49)	1.12 (0.95, 1.32)	1.12 (0.92, 1.38)	1.29 (1.10, 1.52)	
Multivariable-adjusted ^b	1.00	1.13 (0.92, 1.39)	1.04 (0.88, 1.24)	1.04 (0.84, 1.29)	1.18 (0.99, 1.41)*	
Risk by colorectal cancer						
subsite						
Colon cancer n(cases/non cases)	249/23210	107/9192	215/18611	103/9495	226/18076	
Age adjusted	1.00	1.15 (0.92, 1.45)	1.10 (0.92, 1.32)	1.09 (0.86, 1.37)	1.27 (1.06, 1.52)	
Multivariable-adjusted	1.00	1.06 (0.86, 1.36)	1.04 (0.86, 1.25)	1.01 (0.80, 1.28)	1.11 (0.91, 1.35)	
Proximal ^c colon n(cases/non cases)	142/23209	63/9192	131/18611	69/9495	142/18076	
Age adjusted	1.00	1.19 (0.87, 1.61)	1.18 (0.93, 1.49)	1.28 (0.96, 1.70)	1.40 (1.11, 1.77)	
Multivariable-adjusted	1.00	1.12 (0.83, 1.51)	1.11 (0.87, 1.42)	1.20 (0.90, 1.62)	1.23 (0.96, 1.59)	
Distal ^c colon n(cases/non cases)	60/23210	22/9191	55/18611	22/9495	48/18075	
Age adjusted	1.00	0.98 (0.60, 1.59)	1.16 (0.80, 1.67)	0.95 (0.58, 1.54)	1.10 (0.75, 1.61)	
Multivariable-adjusted	1.00	0.93 (0.65, 1.52)	1.10 (0.76, 1.60)	0.89 (0.54, 1.47)	0.99 (0.66, 1.49)	
Rectal ^d cancer n(cases/non	46/23413	24/9275	43/18783	20/9578	57/18245	



cases)

Age adjusted	1.00	1.37 (0.84, 2.25)	1.19 (0.79, 1.80)	1.13 (0.67, 1.90)	1.70 (1.15, 2.51)
Multivariable-adjusted	1.00	1.24 (0.75, 2.04)	1.12 (0.73, 1.72)	1.10 (0.64, 1.88)	1.53 (1.01, 2.32)*

*Statistically significant in multivariable models; ^aHazard ratio and 95% confidence interval; ^bAll multivariable models were adjusted for age, race/ethnicity, educational level, smoking status, diabetes, hypertension, arthritis, NSAID use, category and duration of estrogen use, category and duration of estrogen & progesterone use, dietary modification trial arm, body mass index, physical activity; ^cICD-O-2 codes used to define location of colon cancer include C18.0 (cecum), C18.2 (ascending colon, right colon), C18.3 (hepatic flexure of colon), C18.4 (transverse colon), C18.5 (splenic flexure of colon), C18.6 (descending colon, left colon) and C18.7 (sigmoid colon); ^dRectal cancer included all rectum and rectosigmoid cases.



CHAPTER 6

A PROSPECTIVE INVESTIGATION OF CHANGES IN THE INFLAMMATORY POTENTIAL OF DIET AND RISK OF BREAST CANCER IN POSTMENOPAUSAL WOMEN⁴

¹Cancer Prevention and Control Program, University of South Carolina; ²Department of Epidemiology and Biostatistics, University of South Carolina; ³Center for Research in Nutrition and Health Disparities, University of South Carolina; ⁴Division of Preventive and Behavioral Medicine, University of Massachusetts Medical School; ⁵Department of Preventive Medicine, University of Tennessee Health Science Center; ⁶Department of Preventive Medicine, Stony Brook University School of Medicine; ⁷Division of Biostatistics, University of California, Davis School of Medicine; ⁸Department of Epidemiology, The University of Iowa; ⁹Department of Epidemiology & Prevention, Wake Forest School of Medicine.

To be submitted to Breast Cancer Research and Treatment



⁴ Fred K. Tabung^{1,2}, Susan E. Steck^{1,2,3}, Angela D. Liese^{2,3}, Jiajia Zhang², Yunsheng Ma⁴, Karen C. Johnson⁵, Dorothy S. Lane⁶, Lihong Qi⁷, Linda Snetselaar⁸, Mara Z. Vitolins⁹, Judith K. Ockene⁴, James R. Hebert^{1,2,3}

6.1 Abstract

Introduction: We utilized the dietary inflammatory index (DII) to evaluate associations between cumulative history, and changes over time in dietary inflammatory potential, and risk of breast cancer in the Women's Health Initiative (WHI). Methods: We included 106,644 postmenopausal women aged 50-79 years recruited from 1993-1998 into the WHI Observational Study and Dietary Modification Trial, and followed through September 30, 2010. We utilized data from food frequency questionnaires (FFQs) to calculate ten cumulative averages of DII, incrementally from baseline to Year 10, categorized each average into quintiles, and used to estimate hazards ratios (HR) and 95% confidence intervals (95% CI) for invasive breast cancer incidence in multiple Cox proportional hazards regression models. We also derived patterns of changes in DII in a subset of 76,329 women between baseline and Year 3, and used multiple Cox regression models to estimate hazard ratios (HR) and 95% CI for incidence of invasive breast cancer and its subtypes. **Results**: During an average 11.7 years, 4,242 cases of invasive breast cancer were identified. There was no substantial association between any of the ten averages of cumulative DII calculated between baseline and Year 10, and risk of invasive breast cancer. Also, HR revealed no substantial association between changes in DII between baseline and Year 3, and risk of invasive breast cancer or any of its subtypes. **Conclusion**: We did not observe a significant association between a history of long-term pro-inflammatory diets as well as shorter-term changes in the inflammatory potential of diets, and breast cancer risk in postmenopausal women. Findings imply that lowering the inflammatory potential of diet may not be a major means for breast cancer prevention.



www.manaraa.com

Key words: changes in dietary inflammatory potential, breast cancer, dietary patterns, Women's Health Initiative

6.2 Introduction

Breast cancer is the most commonly diagnosed cancer in American women¹⁷³ and most of the risk factors, including reproductive factors,²⁹⁰ and family history of breast cancer,²⁹¹ are generally non-modifiable. Diet, a potentially modifiable factor has been implicated in breast carcinogenesis, with specific dietary factors such as alcohol⁵⁵ and red/processed meat^{66,67} shown to be associated with increased risk. The fact that people eat meals consisting of a wide variety of individual foods with potentially complex interactions among the foods and nutrients has led to a growing interest in the examination of broader dietary patterns in relation to breast cancer risk.

Results of previous studies examining the association between dietary patterns and breast cancer risk are inconsistent.^{41-47,181,182,208-211} Some studies have found an increased risk of breast cancer with the Western (or unhealthy) diet pattern^{41,42} or a reduced risk with the prudent (or healthy) pattern,^{181,182} while others failed to observe a significant association.⁴³⁻⁴⁵ Indeed, some studies have found results contrary to hypothesized associations; that is, higher consumption of the prudent pattern associated with increased risk⁴² and higher consumption of the Western pattern associated with reduced risk²⁰⁸ of breast cancer. Additionally, findings from three large cohort studies did not support an association between the Western or prudent patterns and breast cancer risk.^{44,46,47}

Given the central role of chronic inflammation in the carcinogenesis process^{110,292,293} dietary patterns that modulate inflammation may be more predictive of



breast cancer risk. Additionally, dietary behaviors mainly influence chronic disease outcomes, including breast cancer, when they persist for a longer period of time,³¹ therefore changes in diet over time or the cumulative history of diet over time may be more predictive of breast cancer risk, compared to diet assessed at one point in time. We have shown that the inflammatory potential of diet decreased significantly over time among women enrolled in the Women's Health Initiative Dietary Modification Trial (WHI DMT) (Tabung FK, Steck SE, Zhang J, Ma Y, Liese AD, Tylavsky FA, et al., unpublished data, 2014). In the current study, we utilized the dietary inflammatory index (DII)^{38,39} to investigate the role of cumulative history, as well as changes in the inflammatory potential of diet, on breast cancer risk in postmenopausal women.

6.3 Methods

6.3.1 Study population

The WHI study is a large and complex clinical investigation of strategies for the prevention and control of some of the most common causes of morbidity and mortality among postmenopausal women. The design of the WHI has been described in detail elsewhere.⁴⁰ Briefly, The WHI began in 1992, implemented in 40 sites across the United States, and enrolled a total of 161,808 women between 1993 and 1998. The WHI enrolled 93,676 women into an Observational Study (OS) and 68,132 participants into Clinical Trials (CT), and followed them until September 30, 2010.²⁶⁵ The CTs included three components: Hormone Therapy, calcium and vitamin D, and the DMT. For the DMT, women were randomly assigned to a usual-diet comparison group (n=29,294) or an intervention group (n=19,541) with a 20% low-fat dietary pattern with increased vegetables, fruits, and whole grains. Women who proved to be ineligible for, or who were



unwilling to enroll in the CT components were invited to be part of the prospective cohort of women in the OS.⁴⁰

Exclusion criteria for both the OS and CT included any medical condition associated with a predicted survival of less than three years, alcoholism, other drug dependency, mental illness (e.g., major depressive disorder), dementia, active participation in another intervention trial and not likely to live in the area for at least 3 years. Demographic information and dietary data were obtained by self-report using standardized questionnaires. Certified staff performed physical measurements, including blood pressure, height and weight, and blood samples at the baseline clinic visit. Women were further excluded from the DMT if their diets were assessed to have <32% energy from fat.²⁶⁶ The WHI protocol was approved by the institutional review boards at the Clinical Coordinating Center (CCC) at the Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Center (Seattle, WA) and at each of the 40 Clinical Centers.¹⁴

6.3.2 Diet assessment

Figure 6.1 describes the administration of food frequency questionnaires (FFQ) in the WHI. During screening for the WHI, all participants completed a baseline FFQ. At follow-up, the FFQ was completed at Year 3 for ~90% of OS participants. About 92% of DMT participants completed an FFQ in Year 1, and a random third of participants were invited to complete an FFQ annually from Year 2 until study end (approximately ten years later) (Figure 6.1). There was an average of two FFQs per participant in the OS and three FFQs per participant in the DMT. The 122-item WHI FFQ line item nutrient data was obtained from the University of Minnesota's Nutrient Data system for research (NDSR) version 4.03_31 software,²⁷² which is based on the US Department of



Agriculture Standard Reference Releases and manufacturer information. The WHI FFQ has shown comparable results with 24-hour dietary recall interviews and food records.²⁶⁶

6.3.3 The dietary inflammatory index (DII)

Details of the development³⁸ and construct validation³⁹ of the DII have been described elsewhere. Briefly, an extensive literature search was performed to obtain peerreviewed journal articles that examined the association between six well known inflammatory biomarkers (Interleukin (IL)-1β, IL-4, IL-6, IL-10, tumor necrosis factor alpha, and C-reactive protein) and 45 specific foods and nutrients (components of the DII). Scores were derived and standardized to a representative global diet database constructed based on 11 datasets from diverse populations in different parts of the world. Overall DII scores for each individual participant represent the sum of each of the DII components in relation to the comparison global diet database.³⁸ The DII score characterizes an individual's diet on a continuum from maximally anti-inflammatory to maximally pro-inflammatory, with a higher DII score indicating a more proinflammatory diet and a lower (i.e., more negative) DII score indicating a more antiinflammatory diet. In the WHI FFQ, 32 of the 45 original DII components were available for inclusion in the overall DII score (see³⁸ for list of 45 DII components). Components such as ginger, turmeric, garlic, oregano, pepper, rosemary, eugenol, saffron, flavan-3-ol, flavones, flavonols, flavonones, anthocyanidins that are included in the original DII calculation³⁸ were not included in the current study because they were not available from the WHI FFQ.



116

www.manaraa.com

6.3.4 Outcomes assessment

The WHI outcomes ascertainment and adjudication process has been previously described.²⁶⁷ Briefly, participants (or next-of-kin) self-reported cancer diagnoses reported on questionnaires annually in the OS or semiannually in the CT through 2005 and annually in all thereafter. Invasive breast cancer was documented and coded according to primary site, diagnosis date, extent of disease (stage, tumor size, and laterality), tumor morphology (behavior, grade, histology) her2neu status and estrogen and progesterone receptors (ER, PR) status. Incident invasive breast cancer, including second primaries, were ascertained and adjudicated, but recurrent cancers were not included. For the full coding of the cancer, pathology reports from diagnostic aspirations, biopsies, and surgeries, plus the discharge summary, were used.

Breast cancer outcomes for the current study included invasive breast cancer, and molecular and histologic subtypes of breast cancer. Molecular subtypes were defined based on previous work by Carey et al., as follows: triple negative (HER2–, ER–, PR–), (HER2+, ER–, PR–) subtype, luminal A (ER+ and/or PR+, HER2–), and luminal B (ER+ and/or PR+, HER2+).²⁹⁴ The histological subtypes were defined based on SEER morphology codes. These included ductal carcinoma (including intraductal carcinoma, 8500/2, and infiltrating ductal carcinoma, 8500/3), lobular carcinoma (including lobular carcinoma, 8520/3, and lobular carcinoma in situ, 8520/2), and a combination of ductal and lobular carcinomas (8522/3 and 8520/2). Survival time was defined as days from enrollment or randomization until breast cancer diagnosis while censoring time was defined as days from enrollment or randomization until death or last contact occurring on or before September 30, 2010, in participants without breast cancer.



6.3.5 Statistical analysis

We utilized data from 142,511 women participating in the WHI OS (93,676) and DMT (48,835). Exclusion criteria included women with a history of breast cancer at baseline or missing breast cancer status at baseline (n=5,078), those who reported breast removal at baseline (n=277), or those with single FFQs or missing FFQs (n=14,655), as well as women with implausible reported total energy intake values (≤ 600 kcal/day or ≥ 5000 kcal/day) (n=1,796) or extreme BMI values (<15kg/m² or > 50kg/m²) (n=1,991) (Figure 6.1). Additionally, participants with missing data in the covariates listed below (n=10,797) were excluded, leaving a total of 106,644 participants for these analyses (68,319 in OS and 38,325 in DMT). Frequencies and percentages were computed to describe the distribution of covariates across quintiles of cumulative average DII for the DII assessed from baseline to Year 3.

To determine how cumulative history of the inflammatory potential of diet, affects breast cancer risk over time, we calculated cumulative averages of DII incrementally starting from the average between baseline and year one DII ¹⁷². The cumulative average was then categorized into quintiles, and used in multiple Cox proportional hazards (PH) models to estimate hazard ratios (HR) for the incidence of invasive breast cancer, while excluding breast cancer cases diagnosed prior to year one. This approach was repeated for the average DII of baseline, year one, and year two with breast cancer cases diagnosed prior to year two excluded to avoid the possibility of change in diet due to subclinical disease and to include only participants at risk of developing breast cancer going forward. This approach was repeated until DII estimates at all ten time points were used.¹⁷²



To determine how changes in patterns of the inflammatory potential of diet over time affect breast cancer risk, we calculated the DII from baseline and year 3 FFQs administered to 76,329 women in the OS and DMT. We categorized the DII at both time points into quintiles (Q) and further categorized changes in the inflammatory potential of diet based on quintile differences between baseline and year 3, as follows:

- 6. Anti-inflammatory stable: Q1 or Q2 at both time points or change from Q3 to Q2;
- 7. Anti-inflammatory change: changes $\leq -2Q$;
- Neutral inflammation stable: changes from Q2 to Q3, Q4 to Q3 or stable at Q3 at both time points;
- 9. Pro-inflammatory change: changes $\geq 2Q$;
- 10. Pro-inflammatory stable: Q4 or Q5 at both time points, or change from Q3 to Q4.

The names given to these categories of DII changes were meant to be qualitative. Next, Cox regression PH models were used to estimate hazard ratios (HR) and 95% CI for the incidence of invasive breast cancer including the molecular and histological subtypes, by patterns of DII changes and with adjustment for multiple covariates. The anti-inflammatory stable category, considered to be the healthiest category, was the referent for all models.

All multivariable-adjusted models included the following covariates as potential confounders based on \geq 10% change in HR between age-adjusted models with and without the potential confounder: age group (years) (50-59, 60-69, 70-79), race/ethnicity (European American (EA), African American (AA), Hispanic (HP), Asian or Pacific Islander (A/PI) and Other); educational levels (less than high school, some high school /GED, at least some college/graduate education), smoking status (current, past, and



never), body mass index [BMI= weight(kg)/height(m)²] (normal weight (<25kg/m²), overweight (25-<30 kg/m²), and obese (≥30kg/m²)); physical activity (PA), categorized based on public health recommendations,²⁸⁴ as meeting or not meeting PA recommendations (\geq 150 minutes/week of moderate intensity PA or \geq 75 minutes/week of vigorous intensity PA versus<150 minutes/week of moderate intensity PA or <75 minutes/week of vigorous intensity PA, respectively); use of non-steroidal antiinflammatory drug (NSAID) (yes/no); category and duration of estrogen use and category and duration of combined estrogen and progesterone use both categorized into five groups (none, <5y, 5 to <10y, 10 to <15y, and $\ge15y$), total energy intake (Kcal/day). Some covariates did not change HR of the association between age-adjusted DII and breast cancer risk by $\geq 10\%$ and were therefore not included in the final models. These included study participation (OS/DMT), age at menarche, age at first birth, number of live births, total duration of breastfeeding, mammography in the 2 years preceding study enrollment, oophorectomy status, and first degree relative with breast cancer. Data on potential confounders were collected by self-administered questionnaires on demographics, medical history, and lifestyle factors.⁴⁰

Each covariate in the final models of both the cumulative average DII and patterns of DII change was tested for proportional hazards using cumulative sums of Martingale-based residuals. Age group and combined use of estrogen and progesterone violated the PH assumption and all models were therefore stratified by these two covariates. To determine whether the association between both the cumulative average DII and changes in the DII and breast cancer incidence differed by age, race/ethnicity, education, BMI and combined use of estrogen and progesterone, we included interaction



terms for these covariates in the models and assessed significant effect modification at p <0.05. None of the interaction terms was significant. We evaluated 95% CIs to determine statistical significance. Statistical analyses were conducted using SAS version 9.3 (SAS Institute, Cary, NC), and all tests were two-sided.

6.4 **Results**

Table 6.1 presents the distribution of participants' characteristics across quintiles of the cumulative average DII between baseline and Year 3. Participants with higher cumulative average DII scores (representing a more pro-inflammatory diet) consisted of a higher proportion of women who were AA or HP, overweight or obese, current smokers, not meeting physical activity guidelines, and with lower educational attainment. In contrast, participants with a more anti-inflammatory diet consisted of a higher proportion of women who were EA or A/PI, had a normal BMI, were highly educated, and adhered to physical activity guidelines. Participants were followed for an average 11.7 years, during which 4,242 cases of invasive breast cancer were identified.

Table 6.2 presents HR of the association between cumulative average DII and risk of invasive breast cancer. There was an inverse association between cumulative DII and invasive breast cancer comparing quintiles 2 and 1 in the first year of follow-up (HR, 0.81; 95%CI, 0.70, 0.93; P_{trend} , 0.14), and in the second year of follow-up (HR, 0.84; 95%CI, 0.73, 0.98; P_{trend} , 0.35), but the trends across quintiles of cumulative average DII were not significant for these inverse associations. No other statistically significant associations between averages of cumulative DII and risk of invasive breast cancer were observed in the multiple adjusted models.



Table 6.3 shows HR for the association between changes in DII between baseline and Year 3, and risk of invasive breast cancer and its subtypes. Overall, there was no substantial association between changes in DII over time and total breast cancer or any of its subtypes. However, there was an inverse association between changes in DII and risk of triple negative breast cancer (HR, 0.47; 95%CI, 0.28, 0.79), comparing participants in the anti-inflammatory change category to those in the anti-inflammatory stable category of changes in DII between baseline and Year 3. In participants with (HER2+, ER–, PR–) subtype of breast cancer, HRs were indicative of a positive association, comparing participants in the pro-inflammatory stable category to those in the anti-inflammatory stable category of changes in DII, but did not attain statistical significance (HR, 1.60; 95%CI, 0.91, 2.80) (Table 6.3).

6.5 Discussion

In this large prospective study of the role of cumulative history, and changes in the inflammatory potential of diet over time in breast cancer risk, we observed no significant association between either 1) the cumulative history of dietary inflammatory potential, or 2) changes in dietary inflammatory potential over time, and risk of invasive breast cancer or subtypes of breast cancer in postmenopausal women, with the exception of a reduced risk of triple negative breast cancer among women who moved toward a more anti-inflammatory diet compared to those who consumed a more stable antiinflammatory diet from baseline to Year 3. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study to characterize the association between the cumulative history, or changes over time in the inflammatory potential of diet, and risk of breast cancer. Given that FFQs were administered to OS participants at baseline and Year 3 only; a cumulative average



DII could be calculated for OS participants at Year 3 only and analyses at all other time points included DMT participants. We selected these two time points for the analyses of changes in the DII over time, to include the maximum number of participants with FFQs (Figure 6.1).

Our results are generally similar to many previous prospective studies that did not observe significant associations between dietary patterns and breast cancer risk,^{44,46,47} though these other studies assessed diet quality at only one point in time. Other previous studies have described heterogeneity of the association between dietary patterns and breast cancer by hormone receptor status.^{44,295,296} Cottet et al. found evidence of an increased risk of ER+/PR+ tumors with a Western dietary pattern and reduced risk of ER+/PR- tumors with a Mediterranean pattern in a French Cohort study.²⁹⁵ Fung et al found that higher consumptions of fruits and vegetables was significantly associated with decreased risk for ER- breast cancer in the Nurses Health Study,⁴⁴ while Gaudet et al., found an inverse association between high fruit and vegetable intake and breast cancer risk among postmenopausal women with ER+ tumors.²⁹⁶ We cannot rule out that chance may account for our finding of an inverse association for invasive breast cancer comparing quintile 2 with quintile 1 of cumulative average DII in the first two years of follow-up in the DMT; and an inverse association in participants with triple negative tumors; given the number of comparisons made in this study.

Two potential mechanisms by which diet may affect breast carcinogenesis include hyperinsulinemia²⁹⁷⁻²⁹⁹ and inflammation.^{10,300} Generally, dietary patterns have been shown to modulate inflammation,⁴⁸⁻⁵⁰ and inflammation exerts an important role in the carcinogenesis process.^{10,300} However, our findings imply that inflammation may not be a



primary mechanism through which diet substantially influences breast cancer risk. Obesity, a state of low-grade chronic inflammation^{229,230} and a risk factor for breast cancer in postmenopausal women,³⁰¹ has been suggested to increase breast cancer risk mainly through the hormonal pathway, with increased exposure to endogenous estrogen from adipose tissue.^{302,303} Indeed, though concentrations of inflammatory markers have been found to be higher in obese than normal weight women,³⁰⁴ a meta-analysis of prospective studies did not find an association between inflammatory biomarkers and breast cancer risk,³⁰⁵ further indicating that inflammation may not play an important role in breast cancer development. Also, there was no data on inflammatory breast cancer in the WHI, for an assessment of the association of the inflammatory potential of diet and risk of this subtype of breast cancer.

While most of the evidence is consistent that chronic inflammation increases the risk of breast cancer recurrence or survival,⁹⁴⁻⁹⁶ the evidence has been inconsistent for the association between biomarkers of inflammation and breast cancer incidence. Studies of the association between regular use of aspirin and other NSAIDS and risk of breast cancer in postmenopausal women have found inconsistent results.^{300,306} However, two meta-analyses showed that regular use of aspirin and other NSAIDs is associated with reduced risk of breast cancer, ^{307,308} though these findings were not supported by results from randomized controlled trials.^{206,309}

In contrast, hyperinsulinemia may play a more important role in breast carcinogenesis. Hyperinsulinemia largely explained the association between obesity and postmenopausal breast cancer in a case-cohort study,²⁹⁹ while glucose and insulin-like



growth factors have been found to be positively associated with breast cancer development in postmenopausal women.³¹⁰

Strengths of the current study include accounting for changes in the inflammatory potential of diet over time in a large, well-characterized population of more than 106,000 women, a long follow-up period, the inclusion of women of diverse race/ethnic groups, and the central adjudication of breast cancer diagnosis. The use of a novel dietary index to score diet quality based on inflammatory potential at multiple time points provides evidence that inflammation may not be substantially linked to breast cancer risk. Limitations include known measurement error in using an FFQ for the assessment of diet and its inflammatory potential over time, and potential residual or unmeasured confounding though we adjusted for many potential confounders in the models. We assumed that the random 30% of DMT participants sampled from year 2 until study end was representative of the entire DMT study population, a plausible assumption since these random subsamples were used for intervention monitoring in the DMT, though the sample size reduced substantially in the last two years of follow-up.

6.6 Conclusion

In this large prospective study, we did not observe a significant association between a history of long-term pro-inflammatory diets as well as shorter-term changes in the inflammatory potential of diets, and breast cancer risk in postmenopausal women. Our findings imply that lowering the inflammatory potential of diet may not be a major means for breast cancer prevention and that if there is a role for diet in breast cancer prevention; it is likely through other mechanisms.



6.7 Tables and figures



Figure 6.1. Participant flow in the administration of food frequency questionnaires in the Women's Health Initiative (WHI) Observational Study (OS) and Dietary Modification Trial (DMT), 1993-2010

المنسارات

Characteristic	Q1 (-6.586, < - 3.166) (healthiest)	Q2 (-3.166, < -2.085)	Q3 (-2.085, < -0.710)	Q4 (< -0.710, 1.063)	Q5 (1.063, 5.255) (least healthy)
Age groups (years)					
<50-59	6703 (30.8)	6541 (30.4)	6940 (32.6)	7344 (34.8)	7830 (37.4)
60-69	10346 (47.5)	10103 (46.9)	9775 (45.9)	9437 (44.7)	9195 (43.9)
70-79	4715 (21.7)	4890 (22.7)	4582 (21.5)	4325 (20.5)	3918 (18.7)
Race/ethnicity					
Asian or Pacific Islander	964 (4.4)	518 (2.4)	551 (2.6)	512 (2.4)	378 (1.8)
African American	718 (3.3)	1000 (4.6)	1380 (6.5)	18796 (8.9)	3052 (14.6)
Hispanic/Latino	316 (1.5)	426 (2.0)	636 (3.0)	823 (3.9)	1152 (5.5)
European American	19473 (89.5)	19303 (89.6)	18418 (86.5)	17556 (83.2)	16007 (76.4)
Other	293 (1.3)	2879 (1.4)	305 (1.4)	336 (1.6)	354 (1.7)
Educational level					
< High school	83 (0.4)	143 (0.7)	205 (1.0)	257 (1.2)	415 (2.0)
Some high school/GED	4210 (19.3)	56482 (26.2)	6193 (29.1)	6829 (32.4)	8123 (38.8)
Some years of college/graduate	17471 (80.3)	157434 (73.1)	14899 (69.9)	14020 (66.4)	12405 (59.2)
Smoking status					
Never	10870 (49.9)	11198 (52.0)	11102 (52.1)	10994 (52.1)	10757 (51.4)
Former	101481 (46.6)	9308 (43.2)	9004 (42.3)	8724 (41.3)	8209 (39.2)
Current	746 (3.4)	1028 (4.8)	1191 (5.6)	1388 (6.6)	1977 (9.4)
Body mass index (kg/m ²)					
Normal weight (<25)	9236 (42.4)	7897 (36.7)	7290 (34.2)	6731 (31.9)	6012 (28.7)

Table 6.1. Frequencies (%) of participant's characteristics across quintiles of cumulative average DII (Years 0-3); Women's Health Initiative, 1993-2010



Overweight (25.0 - <30)	7435 (34.2)	7591 (35.2)	7585 (35.6)	7471 (35.4)	7146 (34.1)
Obese (≥30)	5093 (23.4)	6046 (28.1)	6422 (30.2)	69047 (32.7)	7785 (36.2)
Physical activity (PA), minutes/week					
Not meeting PA recommendations	9215 (42.3)	114731 (53.3)	12221 (57.4)	130938 (62.0)	14690 (70.1)
Meeting PA recommendations	125497 (57.7)	100611 (46.7)	90769 (42.6)	8013 (38.0)	6253 (29.9)
NSAIDs use					
No	9135 (42.0)	8684 (40.3)	8996 (42.2)	9506 (45.0)	10116 (48.3)
Yes	12629 (58.0)	12850 (59.7)	12301 (57.8)	11600 (55.0)	10827 (51.7)
Duration of estrogen use by categories	gory				
None	13342 (61.3)	12972 (60.2)	13067 (61.4)	13178 (62.4)	13690 (65.4)
<5 Years	2682 (12.3)	2720 (12.6)	2768 (13.0)	2839 (13.5)	2745 (13.1)
5 to <10 Years	1746 (8.0)	1713 (8.0)	1710 (8.0)	1523 (7.2)	1433 (6.8)
10 to <15 Years	1480 (6.8)	1412 (6.6)	1319 (6.2)	1239 (5.9)	1102 (5.3)
15+ Years	2514 (11.6)	2717 (12.6)	2433 (11.4)	2327 (11.0)	1973 (9.4)
Duration of estrogen and progeste	erone use by catego	ory			
None	14138 (65.0)	14636 (68.0)	15036 (70.6)	15352 (72.7)	16067 (76.7)
<5 Years	3551 (16.3)	3228 (15.0)	3047 (14.3)	2916 (13.8)	2606 (12.5)
5 to <10 Years	2206 (10.1)	1906 (8.9)	1763 (8.3)	1567 (7.4)	1300 (6.2)
10 to <15 Years	1308 (6.0)	1177 (5.4)	973 (4.6)	880 (4.2)	657 (3.1)
15+ Years	561 (2.6)	587 (2.7)	478 (2.2)	391 (1.9)	313 (1.5)



Table 6.2. Risk of invasive breast cancer by quintiles of cumulative average dietary inflammatory index over a ten-year period of time
Women's Health Initiative, 1993-2010

	Quintile 1 (Healthiest)	Quintile 2	Quintile 3	Quintile 4	Quintile 5 (Least healthy)	
	Referent	HR (95%CI) ^a	HR (95%CI)	HR (95%CI)	HR (95%CI)	Ptrend
Baseline, year 1, DMT						
Breast cancer n(cases/non cases) ^b	419/7257	329/7231	353/7058	399/6995	365/6928	
Age adjusted	1.00	0.85 (0.74, 0.97)	0.89 (0.78, 1.01)	1.02 (0.89, 1.16)	0.96 (0.84, 1.09)	0.49
Multivariable- adjusted ^c	1.00	0.81 (0.70, 0.93)*	0.90 (0.78, 1.04)	1.04 (0.91, 1.20)	0.99 (0.86, 1.15)	0.14
Baseline, years 1,2, DMT						
Breast cancer n(cases/non cases)	387/7431	317/7417	335/7245	364/7165	332/7128	
Age adjusted	1.00	0.86 (0.75, 0.99)	0.90 (0.78, 1.03)	0.99 (0.87, 1.13)	0.96 (0.84, 1.10)	0.70
Multivariable- adjusted	1.00	0.84 (0.73, 0.98)*	0.93 (0.80, 1.07)	1.03 (0.89, 1.19)	0.98 (0.84, 1.15)	0.35
Baseline, years 1-3, OS and DMT						
Breast cancer n(cases/non cases)	909/20855	885/20649	832/20465	819/20287	797/20146	
Age adjusted	1.00	1.00 (0.92, 1.10)	0.97 (0.88, 1.06)	0.97 (0.88, 1.06)	0.98 (0.90, 1.08)	0.55
Multivariable- adjusted	1.00	1.00 (0.91, 1.10)	0.98 (0.89, 1.07)	0.99 (0.90, 1.10)	1.02 (0.92, 1.14)	0.68
Baseline, years 1-3: OS						
Breast cancer n(cases/non cases)	561/13155	578/13121	537/13142	506/13102	476/13141	
Age adjusted	1.00	1.05 (0.94, 1.18)	0.99 (0.88, 1.11)	0.96 (0.85, 1.08)	0.93 (0.82, 1.05)	0.08


Multivariable- adjusted	1.00	1.05 (0.94, 1.19)	1.00 (0.89, 1.13)	0.98 (0.86, 1.11)	0.98 (0.86, 1.12)	0.42			
Baseline, years 1-3: DMT									
Breast cancer n(cases/non cases)	345/7523	305/7477	301/7321	329/7229	304/7191				
Age adjusted	1.00	0.93 (0.80, 1.08)	0.91 (0.78, 1.05)	1.03 (0.89, 1.18)	0.98 (0.85, 1.13)	0.67			
Multivariable- adjusted	1.00	0.91 (0.78, 1.07)	0.93 (0.80, 1.09)	1.05 (0.90, 1.23)	1.02 (0.86, 1.20)	0.35			
Baseline, years 1-4, DMT									
Breast cancer n(cases/non cases)	311/7625	280/7575	253/7483	308/7280	267/7294				
Age adjusted	1.00	0.95 (0.81, 1.11)	0.87 (0.74, 1.01)	1.07 (0.93, 1.25)	0.98 (0.84, 1.14)	0.64			
Multivariable- adjusted	1.00	0.93 (0.79, 1.09)	0.86 (0.73, 1.02)	1.09 (0.93, 1.28)	0.98 (0.82, 1.17)	0.48			
Baseline, years 1-5, DMT									
Breast cancer n(cases/non cases)	264/7732	263/7674	232/7564	246/7398	247/7356				
Age adjusted	1.00	1.04 (0.89, 1.23)	0.95 (0.81, 1.12)	1.01 (0.86, 1.19)	1.09 (0.93, 1.28)	0.38			
Multivariable- adjusted	1.00	1.03 (0.86, 1.22)	0.93 (0.78, 1.11)	1.02 (0.86, 1.22)	1.08 (0.89, 1.30)	0.44			
Baseline, years 1-6, I	DMT								
Breast cancer n(cases/non cases)	223/7821	216/7747	207/7629	210/7467	209/7421				
Age adjusted	1.00	1.03 (0.86, 1.22)	1.00 (0.84, 1.19)	1.02 (0.85, 1.22)	1.11 (0.93, 1.32)	0.27			
Multivariable- adjusted	1.00	1.00 (0.83, 1.21)	0.97 (0.80, 1.18)	1.03 (0.84, 1.25)	1.07 (0.88, 1.22)	0.43			
Baseline, years 1-7, I	DMT								
Breast cancer n(cases/non cases)	179/7833	172/7751	165/7680	176/7476	174/7452				



Age adjusted	1.00	0.99 (0.81, 1.20)	0.96 (0.79, 1.17)	1.04 (0.86, 1.26)	1.12 (0.93, 1.36)	0.16			
Multivariable- adjusted	1.00	1.00 (0.81, 1.23)	0.97 (0.78, 1.20)	1.09 (0.88, 1.36)	1.14 (0.91, 1.43)	0.15			
Baseline, years 1-8, DMT									
Breast cancer n(cases/non cases)	149/7839	145/7756	141/7685	160/7450	137/7506				
Age adjusted	1.00	1.03 (0.83, 1.27)	0.98 (0.79, 1.21)	1.13 (0.92, 1.39)	1.10 (0.89, 1.36)	0.21			
Multivariable- adjusted	1.00	1.02 (0.81, 1.29)	1.01 (0.80, 1.27)	1.22 (0.96, 1.53)	1.11 (0.86, 1.43)	0.18			
Baseline, years 1-9, DMT									
Breast cancer n(cases/non cases)	114/7836	112/7765	118/7653	121/7488	110/7519				
Age adjusted	1.00	0.99 (0.78, 1.26)	1.04 (0.82, 1.32)	1.10 (0.87, 1.39)	1.15 (0.97, 1.46)	0.15			
Multivariable- adjusted	1.00	1.03 (0.79, 1.34)	1.11 (0.85, 1.44)	1.20 (0.92, 1.56)	1.19 (0.89, 1.58)	0.14			
Baseline, years 1-10, DMT									
Breast cancer n(cases/non cases)	78/7848	80/7761	87/7625	92/7501	82/7526				
Age adjusted	1.00	1.04 (0.78, 1.38)	1.13 (0.86, 1.50)	1.19 (0.91, 1.57)	1.23 (0.93, 1.62)	0.09			
Multivariable- adjusted	1.00	1.09 (0.80, 1.49)	1.21 (0.88, 1.65)	1.34 (0.98, 1.83)	1.32 (0.94, 1.84)	0.05*			

*Statistically significant multivariable-adjusted HR; ^aHR=hazard ratio, CI=confidence interval; ^bcases/non-cases in the multivariable models; ^call models were adjusted for age, race/ethnicity, education, smoking status, physical activity, body mass index, NSAID use, category and duration of estrogen use, category and duration of estrogen & progesterone use, and total energy intake.

المنسارات

www.manaraa.com

Table 6.3. Risk of breast cancer by subtype, across patterns of change in the dietary inflammatory index (DII) between baseline and year 3; Women's Health Initiative, 1993-2010

	Patterns of DII quintile changes					
	Anti- inflammatory stable	Anti- inflammatory change	Neutral inflammation stable	Pro- inflammatory change	Pro- inflammatory stable	
	Referent	HR (95%CI) ^a	HR (95%CI)	HR (95%CI)	HR (95%CI)	
Invasive breast cancer						
Breast cancer cases/non-cases ^b	1293/21015	456/8542	897/17163	473/8743	835/16912	
Age adjusted model	1.00	0.89 (0.81, 0.99)	0.88 (0.81, 0.95)	0.90 (0.81, 1.00)	0.86 (0.79, 0.93)	
Multivariable adjusted model ^c	1.00	0.91 (0.81, 1.02)	0.91 (0.83, 0.99)*	0.98 (0.88, 1.10)	0.94 (0.85, 1.04)	
Molecular subtypes of						
breast cancer						
ER-, PR-)						
Breast cancer cases/non- cases	90/21015	17/8542	64/17163	36/8743	67/16912	
Age adjusted model	1.00	0.52 (0.32, 0.85)	0.88 (0.64, 1.21)	1.07 (0.74, 1.55)	1.02 (0.75, 1.38)	
Multivariable adjusted model	1.00	0.47 (0.28, 0.79)*	0.88 (0.63, 1.22)	1.02 (0.68, 1.52)	0.93 (0.66, 1.33)	
HER2+/ER- subtype (HER2+, ER-, PR-)						
Breast cancer cases/non-	25/21015	12/8542	28/17163	15/8743	33/16912	



1.00	1.01 (0.54, 1.87)	1.14 (0.70, 1.85)	1.24 (0.69, 2.23)	1.47 (0.93, 2.32)
1.00	1.14 (0.57, 2.28)	1.38 (0.79, 2.39)	1.46 (0.79, 2.82)	1.60 (0.91, 2.80)
649/21015	238/8542	460/17163	257/8743	404/16912
1.00	0.94 (0.81, 1.08)	0.91 (0.81, 1.02)	0.98 (0.85, 1.13)	0.83 (0.73, 0.93)
1.00	0.94 (0.81, 1.10)	0.92 (0.81, 1.04)	1.03 (0.89, 1.19)	0.88 (0.77, 1.01)
106/21015	35/8542	63/17163	33/8743	70/16912
1.00	0.80 (0.55, 1.17)	0.78 (0.58, 1.07)	0.76 (0.52, 1.11)	0.86 (0.64, 1.16)
1.00	0.92 (0.62, 1.35)	0.84 (0.61, 1.15)	0.92 (0.61, 1.37)	1.11 (0.80, 1.54)
816/21005	282/8540	585/17154	303/8740	547/16906
1.00	0.89 (0.79, 1.01)	0.90 (0.82, 1.00)	0.92 (0.81, 1.05)	0.89 (0.80, 0.98)
1.00	0.89 (0.77, 1.02)	0.92 (0.82, 1.03)	0.96 (0.84, 1.10)	0.93 (0.83, 1.05)
122/21015	42/8542	92/17163	57/8743	81/16912
1.00	0.79 (0.57, 1.10)	0.89 (0.69, 1.14)	1.08 (0.81, 1.45)	0.81 (0.63, 1.05)
	1.00 1.00 649/21015 1.00 1.00 106/21015 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00	1.001.01 (0.54, 1.87)1.001.14 (0.57, 2.28)649/21015238/85421.000.94 (0.81, 1.08)1.000.94 (0.81, 1.10)106/2101535/85421.000.80 (0.55, 1.17)1.000.92 (0.62, 1.35)816/21005282/85401.000.89 (0.79, 1.01)1.000.89 (0.77, 1.02)122/2101542/85421.000.79 (0.57, 1.10)	1.00 $1.01 (0.54, 1.87)$ $1.14 (0.70, 1.85)$ 1.00 $1.14 (0.57, 2.28)$ $1.38 (0.79, 2.39)$ $649/21015$ $238/8542$ $460/17163$ 1.00 $0.94 (0.81, 1.08)$ $0.91 (0.81, 1.02)$ 1.00 $0.94 (0.81, 1.10)$ $0.92 (0.81, 1.04)$ $106/21015$ $35/8542$ $63/17163$ 1.00 $0.80 (0.55, 1.17)$ $0.78 (0.58, 1.07)$ 1.00 $0.92 (0.62, 1.35)$ $0.84 (0.61, 1.15)$ $816/21005$ $282/8540$ $585/17154$ 1.00 $0.89 (0.79, 1.01)$ $0.90 (0.82, 1.00)$ 1.00 $0.89 (0.77, 1.02)$ $0.92 (0.82, 1.03)$ $122/21015$ $42/8542$ $92/17163$ 1.00 $0.79 (0.57, 1.10)$ $0.89 (0.69, 1.14)$	1.00 $1.01 (0.54, 1.87)$ $1.14 (0.70, 1.85)$ $1.24 (0.69, 2.23)$ 1.00 $1.14 (0.57, 2.28)$ $1.38 (0.79, 2.39)$ $1.46 (0.79, 2.82)$ $649/21015$ $238/8542$ $460/17163$ $257/8743$ 1.00 $0.94 (0.81, 1.08)$ $0.91 (0.81, 1.02)$ $0.98 (0.85, 1.13)$ 1.00 $0.94 (0.81, 1.10)$ $0.92 (0.81, 1.04)$ $1.03 (0.89, 1.19)$ $106/21015$ $35/8542$ $63/17163$ $33/8743$ 1.00 $0.80 (0.55, 1.17)$ $0.78 (0.58, 1.07)$ $0.76 (0.52, 1.11)$ 1.00 $0.92 (0.62, 1.35)$ $0.84 (0.61, 1.15)$ $0.92 (0.61, 1.37)$ $816/21005$ $282/8540$ $585/17154$ $303/8740$ 1.00 $0.89 (0.79, 1.01)$ $0.90 (0.82, 1.00)$ $0.92 (0.81, 1.05)$ 1.00 $0.89 (0.77, 1.02)$ $0.92 (0.82, 1.03)$ $0.96 (0.84, 1.10)$ $122/21015$ $42/8542$ $92/17163$ $57/8743$ 1.00 $0.79 (0.57, 1.10)$ $0.89 (0.69, 1.14)$ $1.08 (0.81, 1.45)$



Multivariable adjusted model Mixed ductal/lobular	1.00	0.89 (0.62, 1.27)	0.95 (0.72, 1.25)	1.18 (0.85, 1.63)	0.95 (0.67, 1.23)
carcinoma					
Breast cancer cases/non-	189/21015	68/8542	119/17163	54/8743	109/16912
cases	107/21015	00/05/12	117/1/105	51/0715	107/10712
Age adjusted model	1.00	0.88 (0.68, 1.15)	0.80 (0.64, 0.99)	0.71 (0.53, 0.95)	0.75 (0.60, 0.94)
Multivariable adjusted model	1.00	0.95 (0.72, 1.25)	0.84 (0.66, 1.06)	0.78 (0.57, 1.06)	0.86 (0.67, 1.11)

*Statistically significant multivariable-adjusted HR; ^aHR=hazard ratio, CI=confidence interval; ^bcases/non-cases in the multivariable models ^call models were adjusted for age, race/ethnicity, education, smoking status, physical activity, body mass index, NSAID use, category and duration of estrogen use, category and duration of estrogen & progesterone use, and total energy intake.



CHAPTER 7

LONGITUDINAL CHANGES IN DII AND RISK OF CANCER: A DISCUSSION OF STUDY RESULTS

7.1 Summary of results

Our hypothesis for this dissertation was that the inflammatory potential of diet changes over time and that long-term pro-inflammatory diets or shorter-term changes towards pro-inflammatory diets increase risk of colorectal cancer and of breast cancer. Using data from both the WHI OS and DMT, we first described changes over time in the inflammatory potential of diet using the DII, and showed that the DII score in the OS remained relatively stable from baseline to Year 3, while the DII decreased substantially from baseline to Year 1 in the DMT intervention arm, achieving the lowest mean score in Year 3, and then increasing gradually until study end while still remaining lower than baseline throughout the study period. The longitudinal trend of changes in DII was similar in both arms of the DMT; however, changes in the intervention arm were almost double those observed in the control arm during the first five years of follow-up. In both the OS and DMT, participants who experienced the largest DII decrease were more likely to have a normal BMI, a high educational level, and were A/PI or EA, while those who experienced the smallest decrease were more likely to be obese, had less than high school education, and were HP or AA.



Secondly, we demonstrated that: 1) a higher cumulative average score of the DII is associated with an increased risk of colorectal cancer especially colon cancer, while 2) a stable pro-inflammatory diet over a 3-year period increases the risk of rectal cancer. We found no substantial association between either cumulative average DII or shorter-term changes in DII and breast cancer, including molecular and histologic subtypes of breast cancer. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study to characterize longitudinal changes in the inflammatory potential of diet and the association between the cumulative history, and changes over time in the inflammatory potential of diet, and risk of colorectal cancer or breast cancer.

7.2 Potential mechanisms of action

The link between inflammation and colorectal cancer is supported by findings from several studies showing either a reduced risk of colorectal cancer with regular use of NSAIDs,^{83,84} or a positive association between higher concentrations of inflammatory biomarkers and colorectal cancer risk.^{89,113} Other potential mechanisms through which a pro-inflammatory diet may increase risk of colorectal cancer include components of the metabolic syndrome, especially insulin resistance or glucose intolerance,²⁸⁶⁻²⁸⁸ and the microbiota. A high and sustained pro-inflammatory potential of the diet may compromise the host-microbiota mutualism favoring the proliferation of toxic bacteria that have been suggested to promote colon carcinogensis.²⁸⁹ For breast cancer, two potential mechanisms through which diet may affect breast cancer risk include hyperinsulinemia²⁹⁷⁻²⁹⁹ and inflammation.^{10,300} Generally, dietary patterns have been shown to modulate inflammation,⁴⁸⁻⁵⁰ and inflammation exerts an important role in the carcinogenesis process,^{10,300} but our findings imply that inflammation may not be a



substantial mechanism through which diet may influence breast cancer risk. Obesity, a state of low-grade chronic inflammation^{229,230} and a risk factor for breast cancer in postmenopausal women,³⁰¹ has been suggested to increase breast cancer risk mainly through the hormonal pathway, with increased exposure to endogenous estrogen from adipose tissue.^{302,303} Indeed, though concentrations of inflammatory markers have been found to be higher in obese than normal weight women,³⁰⁴ a meta-analysis of prospective studies did not find an association between inflammatory biomarkers and breast cancer risk,³⁰⁵ further indicating that inflammation may not play an important role in breast cancer development.

7.3 Strengths and limitations

Major strengths of this study are the use of a large, well-characterized cohort (the WHI) with adequate number of outcomes providing ample power to detect significant associations. The DMT had a relatively long follow-up duration with diet assessed annually in random subsamples of the study population. Also, the use of a novel dietary index to score diet quality based on inflammatory potential at multiple time points provides evidence that inflammation may be substantially linked to colorectal cancer but not to breast cancer risk. Other strengths include accounting for changes in the inflammatory potential of diet over time, good regional and racial/ethnic representation, and the central adjudication of colorectal cancer and breast cancer diagnoses.

Limitations to our study included the following: FFQ data were not available in the OS after Year 3 and thus we were not able to compare dietary behavior change between the OS and DMT beyond the first three years of follow up. The decrease in dietary inflammatory potential over time may have been due to survey learning effects



rather than a real improvement in diet quality. In our DMT sample, not every participant had FFQ data at all 11 time points, which could have reduced the effect of survey learning as participants did not complete the FFQs every year. We assumed that the random 30% of DMT participants sampled from year 2 until study end was representative of the entire DMT study population, a plausible assumption since these random subsamples were used for intervention monitoring in the DMT. However, sample sizes from Year 8 to 10 were very small and may not be representative of the entire DMT population. WHI enrolled only postmenopausal women, so generalizability and interpretation of our results is restricted to this population; however, average DII scores in the WHI were comparable to other US populations that have been examined.^{39,282} Other limitations include known measurement error in using an FFQ for the assessment of diet and its inflammatory potential over time, and potential residual or unmeasured confounding, though we adjusted for many potential confounders in the models.

7.4 Public health implications

This dissertation addressed an important priority area of cancer research that includes the role of dietary patterns in relation to risk of cancer. The study is highly innovative in that this is the first time that repeated measures of the DII are being used to evaluate the association between changes in the dietary inflammatory potential over time and cancer endpoints. Our findings suggest lowering the inflammatory potential of diet as a means for colon cancer, and potentially rectal cancer prevention in postmenopausal women, but we did not find enough evidence that this potential prevention strategy may apply to breast cancer. Nevertheless, striving towards a more anti-inflammatory diet may have other potential health benefits beyond cancer prevention.



Patients at risk of inflammation-related conditions such as osteoporosis, obesity, cardiovascular disease, and diabetes, may also be at risk of cancer.^{51,52} Therefore a reduction in the inflammatory potential of the diet among patients with these conditions may improve overall health and reduce their cancer risk. We found that changes in the DII over time in the DMT were significantly modified by BMI, education and race/ethnicity, therefore interventions to reduce the inflammatory potential of diet need to incorporate differences in these lifestyle and demographic variables, in their designs. The diagnosis of most of these chronic diseases may be also a teachable moment during which most patients undergo lifestyle changes including diet changes to improve their survival experience,^{53,54} therefore health professionals armed with the knowledge of changes in the inflammatory potential of diets may be able to impart sound nutritional guidance that improves the overall health of patients with inflammation-related chronic diseases.

Our finding of a relatively stable dietary inflammatory potential in an observational setting could mean that diet assessment at any point in time in a ~10 year observational study of postmenopausal women could be equally useful in determining disease risk estimates. The same conclusion would not apply for dietary intervention studies where we demonstrated that diet quality with respect to its inflammatory potential improves significantly over time in women enrolled in a low-fat, high-fiber, high-vegetable and fruit intervention. Therefore diet assessments at multiple time points in an intervention study may be necessary for a more valid association between dietary inflammatory potential and disease risk. Finally, our findings strengthen the evidence for



a new tool assessing the long term overall quality of diet and providing support for its use in other studies of diet and cancer.

7.5 Suggestions for future research

Future observational studies with multiple diet assessments beyond three years will be needed to make more adequate comparisons in dietary behavior change in an observational versus an interventional setting. Studies (both observational and interventional) with multiple diet assessments in which every participant is surveyed at all the time points of diet assessment may be expensive but necessary to avoid making assumptions that random subsamples of participants are representative of the entire study population. Finally, interventions to test reductions in the inflammatory potential of diet as a means for both colon and rectal cancer prevention are now warranted given findings in the current study.

7.6 Conclusion

In this large prospective study of postmenopausal women, the average DII was relatively stable in the OS from baseline to Year 3, but decreased significantly over time in a manner consistent with improved anti-inflammatory potential, achieving its lowest mean value at Year 3 in DMT intervention participants and, to a smaller extent, among control arm participants. In all three study groups, the extent of decrease was influenced by BMI, education, and race/ethnicity.

A history of long-term pro-inflammatory diets as well as shorter-term stable proinflammatory diets; increase the risk of colon cancer and possibly rectal cancer, but was not associated with breast cancer risk. Our findings suggest lowering the inflammatory



potential of diet as a means for the primary prevention of colon cancer, and potentially rectal cancer but not breast cancer or any of its subtypes in postmenopausal women.

7.7 Acknowledgements

Research reported in this dissertation was supported by the National Cancer Institute of the National Institutes of Health under Award Number F31CA177255, to Mr. Tabung. The content is solely the responsibility of the author and does not necessarily represent the official views of the National Institutes of Health. Dr. Hebert was supported by National Cancer Institute grant number K05 CA136975. The WHI program was funded by the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute, National Institutes of Health, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services through contracts HHSN268201100046C, HHSN268201100001C, HHSN268201100002C, HHSN268201100003C, HHSN268201100004C, and HHSN271201100004C.



REFERENCES

- 1. Galland L. Diet and Inflammation. *Nutrition in Clinical Practice* 2010;**25**(6):634-640.
- 2. Villaseñor A, Ambs A, Ballard-Barbash R, Baumgartner KB, McTiernan A, Ulrich CM, Neuhouser ML. Dietary Fiber is Associated with Circulating Concentrations of C-Reactive Protein in Breast Cancer Survivors: The HEAL Study. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment* 2011;**129**(2):485-494.
- 3. Esmaillzadeh A, Kimiagar M, Mehrabi Y, Azadbakht L, Hu FB, Willett WC. Dietary Patterns and Markers of Systemic Inflammation among Iranian Women. *The Journal of Nutrition* 2007;**137**(4):992-998.
- 4. Chrysohoou C, Panagiotakos DB, Pitsavos C, Das UN, Stefanadis C. Adherence to the Mediterranean Diet Attenuates Inflammation and Coagulation Process in Healthy Adults: The Attica Study. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology* 2004;**44**(1):152-158.
- 5. Jonasson L, Guldbrand H, Lundberg AK, Nystrom FH. Advice to Follow a Lowcarbohydrate Diet has a Favourable Impact on Low-grade Inflammation in Type 2 Diabetes Compared with Advice to Follow a Low-fat Diet. *Annals of Medicine* 2014;**46**(3):82-187.
- Dai J, Ziegler TR, Bostick RM, Manatunga AK, Jones DP, Goldberg J, Miller A, Vogt G, Wilson PW, Jones L, Shallenberger L, Vaccarino V. High Habitual Dietary α-Linolenic Acid Intake is Associated with Decreased Plasma Soluble Interleukin-6 Receptor Concentrations in Male Twins. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 2010;**92**(1):177-185.
- 7. Balkwill F, Mantovani A. Inflammation and Cancer: Back to Virchow? *The Lancet* 2001;**357**(9255):539-545.
- 8. Macarthur M, Hold GL, El-Omar EM. Inflammation and Cancer II. Role of Chronic Inflammation and Cytokine Gene Polymorphisms in the Pathogenesis of Gastrointestinal Malignancy. *American Journal of Physiology - Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology* 2004;**286**(4):G515-G520.
- 9. Jackson L, Evers BM. Chronic Inflammation and Pathogenesis of GI and Pancreatic Cancers. *Cancer Treatment and Research* 2006;**130**:39-65.



- Dossus L, Jimenez-Corona A, Romieu I, Boutron-Ruault MC, Boutten A, Dupré T, Fagherazzi G, Clavel-Chapelon F, Mesrine S. C-reactive Protein and Postmenopausal Breast Cancer Risk: Results from the E3N Cohort Study. *Cancer Causes & Control* 2014:1-7.
- 11. World Cancer Research Fund and the American Institute for Cancer Research. Food, Nutrition and Prevention of Cancer: A Global Perspective *Washington, DC: American Institute for Cancer Research*, 2007.
- 12. Triantafillidis J, Nasioulas G, Kosmidis PA. Colorectal Cancer and Inflammatory Bowel Disease: Epidemiology, Risk Factors, Mechanisms of Carcinogenesis and Prevention Strategies. *Anticancer Research* 2009;**29**(7):2727-2737.
- King D, Egan BM, Geesey ME. Relation of Dietary Fat and Fiber to Elevation of C-reactive Protein.[erratum appears in Am J Cardiol. 2004 Mar 15;93(6):812]. *American Journal of Cardiology* 2003;92(11):1335-9.
- Ma Y, Hébert JR, Li W, Bertone-Johnson ER, Olendzki B, Pagoto SL, Tinker L, Rosal MC, Ockene IS, Ockene JK, Griffith JA, Liu S. Association Between Dietary Fiber and Markers of Systemic Inflammation in the Women's Health Initiative Observational Study. *Nutrition* 2008;24(10):941-949.
- 15. Cavicchia P, Steck SE, Hurley TG, Hussey JR, Ma Y, Ockene IS, Hébert JR. A New Dietary Inflammatory Index Predicts Interval Changes in Serum High-Sensitivity C-Reactive Protein. *The Journal of Nutrition* 2009;**139**(12):2365-2372.
- Serrano-Martinez M, Palacios M, Martinez-Losa E, Lezaun R, Maravi C, Prado M, Martínez JA, Martinez-Gonzalez MA. A Mediterranean Dietary Style Influences TNF-alpha and VCAM-1 Coronary Blood Levels in Unstable Angina Patients. *European Journal of Nutrition* 2005;44(6):348-54.
- Esposito K, Marfella R, Ciotola M, Di Palo C, Giugliano F, Giugliano G, D'Armiento M, D'Andrea F, Giugliano D. Effect of a Mediterranean-style Diet on Endothelial Dysfunction and Markers of Vascular Inflammation in the Metabolic Syndrome: A Randomized Trial. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 2004;**292**(12):1440-6.
- Kubota Y, Moriyama Y, Yamagishi K, Tanigawa T, Noda H, Yokota K, Harada M, Inagawa M, Oshima M, Sato S, Iso H. Serum Vitamin C Concentration and hs-CRP Level in Middle-aged Japanese Men and Women. *Atherosclerosis* 2010;**208**(2):496-500.
- 19. Oda E, Kawai R. Tentative Cutpoint of High-sensitivity C-reactive Protein for a Component of Metabolic Syndrome in Japanese. *Circulation Journal* 2009;**73**(4):755-9.



- 20. Nanri A, Moore MA, Kono S. Impact of C-Reactive Protein on Disease Risk and its Relation to Dietary Factors: Literature Review. *Asian Pacific Journal of Cancer Prevention* 2007;**8**(2):167-177.
- 21. Rennie K, Hughes J, Lang R, Jebb SA. Nutritional Management of Rheumatoid Arthritis: A Review of the Evidence. *Journal of Human Nutrition and Dietetics* 2003;**16**(2):97-109.
- 22. Rao C, Rivenson A, Simi B, Reddy BS. . Chemoprevention of Colon Carcinogenesis by Dietary Curcumin, a Naturally Occurring Plant Phenolic Compound. *Cancer Research* 1995;**55**:259-66.
- 23. Hu F. Dietary Pattern Analysis: A New Direction in Nutritional Epidemiology. *Current Opinion in Lipidology* 2002;**13**(1):3-9.
- 24. Randall E, Marshall JR, Graham S, Brasure J. Patterns in Food Use and their Associations with Nutrient Intakes. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 1990;**52**(4):739-45.
- 25. Moeller S, Reedy J, Millen AE, Dixon LB, Newby PK, Tucker KL, Krebs-Smith SM, Guenther PM. Dietary Patterns: Challenges and Opportunities in Dietary Patterns Research: An Experimental Biology Workshop, April 1, 2006. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association* 2007;**107**(7):1233-1239.
- 26. Jacques P, Tucker KL. Are Dietary Patterns Useful for Understanding the Role of Diet in Chronic Disease? *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 2001;**73**(1):1-2.
- 27. McNaughton S. Understanding the Eating Behaviors of Adolescents: Application of Dietary Patterns Methodology to Behavioral Nutrition Research. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association* 2011;**111**(2):226-229.
- 28. Miller P, Cross AJ, Subar AF, Krebs-Smith SM, Park Y, Powell-Wiley T, Hollenbeck A, Reedy J. Comparison of 4 Established DASH Diet Indexes: Examining Associations of Index Scores and Colorectal Cancer. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 2013;**98**(3):794-803.
- 29. McCullough M. Diet Patterns and Mortality: Common Threads and Consistent Results. *The Journal of Nutrition* 2014.
- 30. Reedy J, Krebs-Smith SM, Miller PE, Liese AD, Kahle LL, Park Y, Subar AF. Higher Diet Quality is Associated with Decreased Risk of All-Cause, Cardiovascular Disease, and Cancer Mortality among Older Adults. *The Journal of Nutrition* 2014.
- 31. Mulder M, Ranchor AV, Sanderman R, Bouma J, van den Heuvel WJ. The Stability of Lifestyle Behaviour. *International Journal of Epidemiology* 1998;**27**(2):199-207.



- 32. Mishra G, McNaughton SA, Bramwell GD, Wadsworth ME. Longitudinal Changes in Dietary Patterns during Adult Life. *British Journal of Nutrition* 2006;**96**(4):735-44.
- 33. Borland S, Robinson SM, Crozier SR, Inskip HM; SWS Study Group. Stability of Dietary Patterns in Young Women over a 2-year Period. *British Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 2008;**62**(1):119-26.
- 34. Weismayer C, Anderson JG, Wolk A. Changes in the Stability of Dietary Patterns in a Study of Middle-Aged Swedish Women. *The Journal of Nutrition* 2006;**136**(6):1582-1587.
- 35. Bertheke P, de Vente W, Kemper HC, Twisk JW. Longitudinal Trends in and Tracking of Energy and Nutrient Intake over 20 Years in a Dutch Cohort of Men and Women Between 13 and 33 Years of Age: The Amsterdam Growth and Health Longitudinal Study. *British Journal of Nutrition* 2001;**85**(3):375-85.
- 36. Newby P, Weismayer C, Akesson A, Tucker KL, Wolk A. Long-Term Stability of Food Patterns Identified by use of Factor Analysis among Swedish Women. *The Journal of Nutrition* 2006;**136**(3):626-633.
- 37. Northstone K, Emmett PM. Are Dietary Patterns Stable Throughout Early and Mid-childhood? A Birth Cohort Study. *British Journal of Nutrition* 2008;**100**(05):1069-1076.
- 38. Shivappa N, Steck SE, Hurley TG, Hussey JR, Hebert JR. Designing and Developing a Literature-derived, Population-based Dietary Inflammatory Index. *Public Health Nutrition* 2013:1-8.
- 39. Shivappa N, Steck SE, Hurley TG, Hussey JR, Ma Y, Ockene IS, Tabung FK, Hebert JR. A Population-based Dietary Inflammatory Index Predicts Levels of C-Reactive Protein in the Seasonal Variation of Blood Cholesterol Study (SEASONS). *Public Health Nutrition* 2013:1-9.
- 40. Women's Health Initiative Study Group. Design of the Women's Health Initiative Clinical Trial and Observational Study. *Controlled Clinical Trials* 1998;**19**(1):61-109.
- 41. Cui X, Dai Q, Tseng M, Shu XO, Gao YT, Zheng W. Dietary Patterns and Breast Cancer Risk in the Shanghai Breast Cancer Study. *Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers & Prevention* 2007;**16**(7):1443-1448.
- 42. Murtaugh M, Sweeney C, Giuliano AR, Herrick JS, Hines L, Byers T, Baumgartner KB, Slattery ML. Diet Patterns and Breast Cancer Risk in Hispanic and non-Hispanic White Women: The Four-Corners Breast Cancer Study. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 2008;**87**(4):978-984.



- 43. Brennan S, Cantwell MM, Cardwell CR, Velentzis LS, Woodside JV. Dietary Patterns and Breast Cancer Risk: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 2010;**91**(5):1294-1302.
- 44. Fung T, Hu FB, Holmes MD, Rosner BA, Hunter DJ, Colditz GA, Willett WC. Dietary Patterns and the Risk of Postmenopausal Breast Cancer. *International Journal of Cancer* 2005;**116**(1):116-121.
- 45. Prentice R, Caan B, Chlebowski RT, Patterson R, Kuller LH, Ockene JK, Margolis KL, Limacher MC, Manson JE, Parker LM, Paskett E, Phillips L, Robbins J, Rossouw JE, Sarto GE, Shikany JM, Stefanick ML, Thomson CA, Van Horn L, Vitolins MZ, Wactawski-Wende J, Wallace RB, Wassertheil-Smoller S, Whitlock E, Yano K, Adams-Campbell L, Anderson GL, Assaf AR, Beresford SA, Black HR, Brunner RL, Brzyski RG, Ford L, Gass M, Hays J, Heber D, Heiss G, Hendrix SL, Hsia J, Hubbell FA, Jackson RD, Johnson KC, Kotchen JM, LaCroix AZ, Lane DS, Langer RD, Lasser NL, Henderson MM. Low-Fat Dietary Pattern and Risk of Invasive Breast Cancer. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 2006;**295**(6):629-642.
- 46. Terry P, Suzuki R, Hu FB, Wolk A. A Prospective Study of Major Dietary Patterns and the Risk of Breast Cancer. *Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers & Prevention* 2001;**10**(12):1281-1285.
- 47. Adebamowo C, Hu FB, Cho E, Spiegelman D, Holmes MD, Willett WC. Dietary Patterns and the Risk of Breast Cancer. *Annals of epidemiology* 2005;**15**(10):789-795.
- 48. Barbaresko J, Koch M, Schulze MB, Nöthlings U. Dietary Pattern Analysis and Biomarkers of Low-grade Inflammation: A Systematic Literature Review. *Nutrition Reviews* 2013;**71**(8):511-527.
- 49. Oude-Griep L, Wang H, Chan Q. Empirically-derived Dietary Patterns, Diet Quality Scores, and Markers of Inflammation and Endothelial Dysfunction. *Current Nutrition Reports* 2014;**2**(2):97-104.
- 50. Lopez-Garcia E, Schulze MB, Fung TT, Meigs JB, Rifai N, Manson JE, Hu FB. Major Dietary Patterns are Related to Plasma Concentrations of Markers of Inflammation and Endothelial Dysfunction. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 2004;**80**(4):1029-1035.
- 51. Thompson M, Garland C, Barrett-Connor E, Khaw KT, Friedlander NJ, Wingard DL. Heart Disease Risk Factors, Diabetes, and Prostatic Cancer in an Adult Community. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 1989;**129**(3):511-517.
- 52. Taylor B, Rehm J. When Risk Factors Combine: The Interaction between Alcohol and Smoking for Aerodigestive Cancer, Coronary Heart Disease, and Traffic and Fire Injury. *Addictive Behaviors* 2006;**31**(9):1522-35.



- 53. Demark-Wahnefried W, Aziz NM, Rowland JH, Pinto BM. Riding the Crest of the Teachable Moment: Promoting Long-term Health after the Diagnosis of Cancer. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2005;**23**(24):5814-5830.
- 54. Blanchard C, Denniston MM, Baker F, Ainsworth SR, Courneya KS, Hann DM, Gesme DH, Reding D, Flynn T, Kennedy JS. Do Adults Change their Lifestyle Behaviors after a Cancer Diagnosis? *American Journal of Health Behavior* 2003;**27**(3):246-256.
- 55. Mattisson I, Wirfält, Elisabet, Wallström, Peter, Gullberg, Bo, Olsson, Håkan, Berglund, Göran. High fat and alcohol intakes are risk factors of postmenopausal breast cancer: A prospective study from the Malmö diet and cancer cohort. *International Journal of Cancer* 2004;**110**(4):589-597.
- 56. Boyd N, Stone J, Vogt KN, Connelly BS, Martin LJ, Minkin S. Dietary Fat and Breast Cancer Risk Revisited: A Meta-analysis of the Published Literature. *British Journal of Cancer* 2003;**89**(9):1672-1685.
- 57. Continuous Update Team Members. The Associations between Food, Nutrition and Physical Activity and the Risk of Breast Cancer. *World Cancer Research Fund/ American Institute Continuous Update Report* 2008.
- 58. Kushi L, Sellers TA, Potter JD, Nelson CL, Munger RG, Kaye SA, Folsom AR. Dietary Fat and Postmenopausal Breast Cancer. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 1992;**84**(14):1092-1099.
- 59. Wynder E, Cohen LA, Muscat JE, Winters B, Dwyer JT, Blackburn G. Breast Cancer: Weighing the Evidence for a Promoting Role of Dietary Fat. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 1997;**89**(11):766-775.
- 60. Barrett-Connor E, Friedlander NJ. Dietary Fat, Calories, and the Risk of Breast Cancer in Postmenopausal Women: A Prospective Population-based Study. *Journal of the American College of Nutrition* 1993;**12**(4):390-9.
- 61. Continuous Update Project Team Members. The Associations between Food, Nutrition and Physical Activity and the Risk of Colorectal Cancer. *WCRF/AICR Systematic Literature Review Continuous Update Project Report* 2010.
- 62. Michels K, Mohllajee AP, Roset-Bahmanyar E, Beehler GP, Moysich KB. Diet and Breast Cancer: A Review of the Prospective Observational Studies. *Cancer* 2007;**109**(S12):2712-2749.
- 63. Akhter M, Kuriyama S, Nakaya N, Shimazu T, Ohmori K, Nishino Y, Tsubono Y, Fukao A, Tsuji I. Alcohol Consumption is Associated with an Increased Risk of Distal Colon and Rectal Cancer in Japanese Men: The Miyagi Cohort Study. *European Journal of Cancer* 2007;**43**(2):383-390.



- 64. Tsong W, Koh WP, Yuan JM, Wang R, Sun CL, Yu MC. Cigarettes and Alcohol in Relation to Colorectal Cancer: The Singapore Chinese Health Study. *Br J Cancer* 2007;**96**(5):821-827.
- 65. Cross A, Leitzmann MF, Gail MH, Hollenbeck AR, Schatzkin A, Sinha R. A Prospective Study of Red and Processed Meat Intake in Relation to Cancer Risk. *PLoS Medicine* 2007;**4**(12):e325.
- 66. Steck S, Gaudet MM, Eng SM, Britton JA, Teitelbaum SL, Neugut AI, Santella RM, Gammon MD. Cooked Meat and Risk of Breast Cancer-Lifetime Versus Recent Dietary Intake. *Epidemiology* 2007;**18**(3):373-382
- 67. Taylor E, Burley VJ, Greenwood DC, Cade JE. Meat Consumption and Risk of Breast Cancer in the UK Women's Cohort Study. *Br J Cancer* 2007;**96**(7):1139-1146.
- 68. Egeberg R, Olsen A, Autrup H, Christensen J, Stripp C, Tetens I, Overvad K, Tjønneland A. Meat Consumption, N-acetyl transferase 1 and 2 Polymorphism and risk of Breast Cancer in Danish Postmenopausal Women. *European Journal* of Cancer Prevention 2008;**17**(1):39-47 10.1097/CEJ.0b013e32809b4cdd.
- 69. Cross A, Ferrucci LM, Risch A, Graubard BI, Ward MH, Park Y, Hollenbeck AR, Schatzkin A, Sinha R. A Large Prospective Study of Meat Consumption and Colorectal Cancer Risk: An Investigation of Potential Mechanisms Underlying this Association. *Cancer Research* 2010;**70**(6):2406-2414.
- 70. Larsson S, Rafter J, Holmberg L, Bergkvist L, Wolk A. Red Meat Consumption and Risk of Cancers of the Proximal Colon, Distal Colon and Rectum: The Swedish Mammography Cohort. *International Journal of Cancer* 2005;**113**(5):829-834.
- 71. Harnack L, Nicodemus K, Jacobs DR Jr, Folsom AR. An Evaluation of the Dietary Guidelines for Americans in Relation to Cancer Occurrence. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 2002;**76**(4):889-896.
- 72. McCullough M, Patel AV, Kushi LH, Patel R, Willett WC, Doyle C, Thun MJ, Gapstur SM. Following Cancer Prevention Guidelines Reduces Risk of Cancer, Cardiovascular Disease, and All-Cause Mortality. *Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers & Prevention* 2011;**20**(6):1089-1097.
- 73. Michels KB, Ekbom A. Caloric Restriction and Incidence of Breast Cancer. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 2004;**291**(10):1226-1230.
- 74. Eliassen A, Colditz GA, Rosner B, Willett WC, Hankinson SE. Adult Weight Change and Risk of Postmenopausal Breast Cancer. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 2006;**296**(2):193-201.



- 75. Klurfeld D, Weber MM, Kritchevsky D. Inhibition of Chemically Induced Mammary and Colon Tumor Promotion by Caloric Restriction in Rats Fed Increased Dietary Fat. *Cancer Research* 1987;**47**(11):2759-2762.
- 76. Steinbach G, Heymsfield S, Olansen NE, Tighe A, Holt PR. Effect of Caloric Restriction on Colonic Proliferation in Obese Persons: Implications for Colon Cancer Prevention. *Cancer Research* 1994;**54**(5):1194-1197.
- 77. Schwartz R. *Microbes and Malignancy: Infection as a cause of human cancers* (*Book Review*). New England Journal of Medicine. Vol. 341, 1999.
- 78. Thun M, Henley SJ, Gansler T. Inflammation and Cancer: An Epidemiological Perspective. *Novartis Foundation Symposia* 2004;**256**:6-21; discussion 22-8, 49-52, 266-9.
- 79. Balkwill F, Charles KA, Mantovani A. Smoldering and Polarized Inflammation in the Initiation and Promotion of Malignant Disease. *Cancer Cell* 2005;**7**(3):211-217.
- 80. Brücher B, Jamall IS. Epistemology of the Origin of Cancer: A New Paradigm. *BMC Cancer* 2014;**14**(1):331.
- 81. Bruce W, Giacca A, Medline A. Possible Mechanisms Relating Diet and Risk of Colon Cancer. *Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers & Prevention* 2000;**9**(12):1271-1279.
- 82. Ullman T, Itzkowitz SH. Intestinal Inflammation and Cancer. *Gastroenterology* 2011;**140**(6):1807-1816.
- 83. Dubé C, Rostom A, Lewin G, Tsertsvadze A, Barrowman N, Code C, Sampson M, Moher D; U.S. Preventive Services Task Force. The Use of Aspirin for Primary Prevention of Colorectal Cancer: A Systematic Review Prepared for the U.S. Preventive Services Task Force. *Annals of Internal Medicine* 2007;146(5):365-375.
- 84. Rostom A, Dubé C, Lewin G, Tsertsvadze A, Barrowman N, Code C, Sampson M, Moher D; U.S. Preventive Services Task Force. Nonsteroidal Antiinflammatory Drugs and Cyclooxygenase-2 Inhibitors for Primary Prevention of Colorectal Cancer: A Systematic Review Prepared for the U.S. Preventive Services Task Force. *Annals of Internal Medicine* 2007;**146**(5):376-389.
- 85. Moossavi S, Bishehsari F. Inflammation in Sporadic Colorectal Cancer. *Archives of Iranian Medicine* 2012;**15**(3):166-70.
- 86. Vogelstein B, Kinzler KW Cancer Genes and the Pathways they Control. *Nature Medicine* 2004;**10**(8):789-99.



- 87. Rouillier P, Senesse P, Cottet V, Valléau A, Faivre J, Boutron-Ruault MC. Dietary Patterns and the Adenomacarcinoma Sequence of Colorectal Cancer. *European Journal of Nutrition* 2005;**44**(5):311-318.
- 88. Lee Y, Lee HR, Nam CM, Hwang UK, Jee SH. White Blood Cell Count and the Risk of Colon Cancer. *Yonsei Medical Journal* 2006;**47**(5):646-656.
- 89. Toriola A, Cheng TY, Neuhouser ML, Wener MH, Zheng Y, Brown E, Miller JW, Song X, Beresford SA, Gunter MJ, Caudill MA, Ulrich CM. Biomarkers of Inflammation are Associated with Colorectal Cancer Risk in Women but are not Suitable as Early Detection Markers. *International Journal of Cancer* 2013;132(11):2648-58.
- 90. Erlinger T, Platz EA, Rifai N, Helzlsouer KJ. C-reactive Protein and the Risk of Incident Colorectal Cancer. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 2004;**291**(5):585-590.
- 91. Gunter M, Stolzenberg-Solomon R, Cross AJ, Leitzmann MF, Weinstein S, Wood RJ, Virtamo J, Taylor PR, Albanes D, Sinha R. A Prospective Study of Serum C-Reactive Protein and Colorectal Cancer Risk in Men. *Cancer Research* 2006;**66**(4):2483-7.
- 92. Mazhar D, Ngan S. C-reactive Protein and Colorectal Cancer. *Quarterly Journal* of Medicine 2006;**99**(8):555-559.
- 93. Pierce B, Ballard-Barbash R, Bernstein L, Baumgartner RN, Neuhouser ML, Wener MH, Baumgartner KB, Gilliland FD, Sorensen BE, McTiernan A, Ulrich CM. Elevated Biomarkers of Inflammation are Associated with Reduced Survival among Breast Cancer Patients. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2009;**27**(21):3437-3444.
- 94. Goldberg J, Schwertfeger KL. Proinflammatory Cytokines in Breast Cancer: Mechanisms of Action and Potential Targets for Therapeutics. *Current Drug Targets* 2010;**11**(9):1133-1146.
- 95. Heike K, Rainer P. Significance of Interleukin-6 (IL-6) in Breast Cancer (Review). *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment* 2007;**102**(2):129-135.
- 96. Benoy I, Salgado R, Van Dam P, Geboers K, Van Marck E, Scharpé S, Vermeulen PB, Dirix LY. Increased Serum Interleukin-8 in Patients with Early and Metastatic Breast Cancer Correlates with Early Dissemination and Survival. *Clinical Cancer Research* 2004;**10**(21):7157-7162.
- 97. Tsilidis K, Branchini C, Guallar E, Helzlsouer KJ, Erlinger TP, Platz EA. C-Reactive Protein and Colorectal Cancer risk: A Systematic Review of Prospective Studies. *International Journal of Cancer* 2008;**123**(5):1133-1140.



- 98. Lambe M, Johansson AL, Altman D, Eloranta S. Mastitis and the Risk of Breast Cancer. *Epidemiology* 2009;**20**(5):747-751.
- 99. Eliassen A, Chen WY, Spiegelman D, Willett WC, Hunter DJ, Hankinson SE. Use of Aspirin, other Nonsteroidal Anti-inflammatory Drugs, and Acetaminophen and Risk of Breast Cancer among Premenopausal Women in the Nurses Health Study. *Archives of Internal Medicine* 2009;**169**(2):115-121.
- 100. Brasky T, Bonner MR, Moysich KB, Ambrosone CB, Nie J, Tao MH, Edge SB, Kallakury BV, Marian C, Trevisan M, Shields PG, Freudenheim JL. Nonsteroidal Anti-inflammatory Drug (NSAID) Use and Breast Cancer Risk in the Western New York Exposures and Breast Cancer (WEB) Study. *Cancer Causes* and Control 2010;**21**(9):1503-1512.
- 101. Johnson T, Anderson KE, Lazovich D, Folsom AR. Association of Aspirin and Nonsteroidal Anti-inflammatory Drug Use with Breast Cancer. *Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers & Prevention* 2002;**11**(12):1586-1591.
- 102. Thun MJ, Henley SJ, Patrono C. Nonsteroidal Anti-inflammatory Drugs as Anticancer Agents: Mechanistic, Pharmacologic, and Clinical Issues. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 2002;**94**(4):252-266.
- 103. Lin W, Karin M. A Cytokine-mediated Link between Innate Immunity, Inflammation, and Cancer. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation* 2007;**117**(5):1175-1183.
- 104. Helicobacter Cancer Collaborative Group. Gastric Cancer and Helicobacter pylori: A Combined Analysis of 12 Case Control Studies Nested within Prospective Cohorts. *Gut* 2001;**49**(3):347-353.
- 105. Houghton JM, Wang TC. Helicobacter pylori and Gastric Cancer: A New Paradigm For Inflammation-Associated Epithelial Cancers. *Gastroenterology* 2005;**128**(6):1567-1578.
- 106. Harnois D, Gores GJ, Ludwig J, Steers JL, LaRusso NF, Wiesner RH. Are Patients with Cirrhotic Stage Primary Sclerosing Cholangitis at Risk for the Development of Hepatocellular Cancer? *Journal of Hepatology* 1997;**27**(3):512-516.
- 107. Bruno S, Silini E, Crosignani A, Borzio F, Leandro G, Bono F, Asti M, Rossi S, Larghi A, Cerino A, Podda M, Mondelli MU. Hepatitis C virus Genotypes and Risk of Hepatocellular Carcinoma in Cirrhosis: A Prospective Study. *Hepatology* 1997;25(3):754-758.
- 108. Muralidhar S, Pumfery AM, Hassani M, Sadaie MR, Kishishita M, Brady JN, Doniger J, Medveczky P, Rosenthal LJ. Identification of Kaposin (Open Reading Frame K12) as a Human Herpesvirus 8 (Kaposi's Sarcoma-Associated Herpesvirus) Transforming Gene. *Journal of Virology* 1998;**72**(6):4980-4988.



- 109. Monteleone G, Pallone F, Stolfi C. The Dual Role of Inflammation in Colon Carcinogenesis. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 2012;**13**(9):11071-11084.
- 110. Balkwill F. Cancer and the Chemokine Network. *Nat Rev Cancer* 2004;**4**(7):540-550.
- 111. Itzkowitz S, Yio X. Inflammation and Cancer IV. Colorectal Cancer in Inflammatory Bowel Disease: The Role of Inflammation. *American Journal of Physiology - Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology* 2004;**287**(1):G7-G17.
- 112. Taniguchi K, Karin M. IL-6 and Related Cytokines as the Critical Lynchpins Between Inflammation and Cancer. *Seminars in Immunology*;**26**(1):54-74.
- 113. Wu J, Cai Q, Li H, Cai H, Gao J, Yang G, Zheng W, Xiang YB, Shu XO. Circulating C-Reactive Protein and Colorectal Cancer Risk: A Report from the Shanghai Men's Health Study. *Carcinogenesis* 2013;**34**(12):2799-2803.
- 114. Wang D, DuBois RN. The Role of COX-2 in Intestinal Inflammation and Colorectal Cancer. *Oncogene* 2009;**29**(6):781-88.
- 115. Balkwill F. The Molecular and Cellular Biology of the Chemokines. *Journal of Viral Hepatitis* 1998;**5**(1):1-14.
- 116. Benamouzig R, Deyra J, Martin A, Girard B, Jullian E, Piednoir B, Couturier D, Coste T, Little J, Chaussade S. Daily Soluble Aspirin and Prevention of Colorectal Adenoma Recurrence: One-year Results of the APACC Trial. *Gastroenterology* 2003;**125**(2):328-336.
- 117. Flossmann E, Rothwell PM. Effect of Aspirin on Long-term Risk of Colorectal Cancer: Consistent Evidence from Randomised and Observational Studies. *The Lancet* 2007;**369**(9573):1603-1613.
- 118. George S, Neuhouser ML, Mayne ST, Irwin ML, Albanes D, Gail MH, Alfano CM, Bernstein L, McTiernan A, Reedy J, Smith AW, Ulrich CM, Ballard-Barbash R. Postdiagnosis Diet Quality Is Inversely Related to a Biomarker of Inflammation among Breast Cancer Survivors. *Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers & Prevention* 2010;**19**(9):2220-2228.
- 119. Tucker K. Dietary Patterns, Approaches, and Multicultural Perspective. *Applied Physiology, Nutrition & Metabolism* 2010;**35**(2):211-218.
- 120. Newby PK, Tucker KL. Empirically Derived Eating Patterns Using Factor or Cluster Analysis: A Review. *Nutrition Reviews* 2004;**62**(5):177-203.
- 121. Maki K, Slavin JL, Rains TM, Kris-Etherton PM. Limitations of Observational Evidence: Implications for Evidence-Based Dietary Recommendations. *Advances in Nutrition: An International Review Journal* 2014;**5**(1):7-15.



- 122. de Lorgeril M, Salen P, Martin JL, Monjaud I, Delaye J, Mamelle N. Mediterranean Diet, Traditional Risk Factors, and the Rate of Cardiovascular Complications after Myocardial Infarction: Final Report of the Lyon Diet Heart Study. *Circulation* 1999;**99**(6):779-785.
- 123. Karamanos B, Thanopoulou A, Anastasiou E, Assaad-Khalil S, Albache N, Bachaoui M, Slama CB, El Ghomari H, Jotic A, Lalic N, Lapolla A, Saab C, Marre M, Vassallo J, Savona-Ventura C. Relation of the Mediterranean Diet with the Incidence of Gestational Diabetes. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 2013.
- 124. Sundaram S JA, Makowski L. *Obesity, metabolism and the microenvironment: Links to cancer.* Vol. 12, 2013.
- 125. Hu F, Rimm E, Smith-Warner SA, Feskanich D, Stampfer MJ, Ascherio A, Sampson L, Willett WC. Reproducibility and Validity of Dietary Patterns Assessed with a Food-Frequency Questionnaire. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 1999;**69**(2):243-249.
- 126. Khani B, Ye W, Terry P, Wolk A. Reproducibility and Validity of Major Dietary Patterns among Swedish Women Assessed with a Food-Frequency Questionnaire. *The Journal of Nutrition* 2004;**134**(6):1541-1545.
- 127. Lindsay D. Diet and Ageing: The Possible Relation to Reactive Oxygen Species. *Journal of Nutrition Health and Aging* 1999;**3**(2):84-91.
- 128. Panagiotakos D, Pitsavos C, Yannakoulia M, Chrysohoou C, Stefanadis C. The Implication of Obesity and Central Fat on Markers of Chronic Inflammation: The ATTICA Study. *Atherosclerosis* 2005;**183**(2):308-315.
- 129. Pendyala S, Neff LM, Suárez-Fariñas M, Holt PR. Diet-induced Weight Loss Reduces Colorectal Inflammation: Implications for Colorectal Carcinogenesis. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 2011;**93**(2):234-242.
- 130. Mantovani G, Macciò A, Madeddu C, Mura L, Gramignano G, Lusso MR, Mulas C, Mudu MC, Murgia V, Camboni P, Massa E, Ferreli L, Contu P, Rinaldi A, Sanjust E, Atzei D, Elsener B. Quantitative Evaluation of Oxidative Stress, Chronic Inflammatory Indices and Leptin in Cancer Patients: Correlation with Stage and Performance Status. *International Journal of Cancer* 2002;98(1):84-91.
- 131. Rezaie A, Parker RD, Abdollahi M. Oxidative Stress and Pathogenesis of Inflammatory Bowel Disease: An Epiphenomenon or the Cause? *Digestive Diseases and Sciences* 2007;**52**(9):2015-2021.
- 132. Kennedy E, Ohls J, Carlson S, Fleming K. The Healthy Eating Index: Design and Applications. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association* 1995;**95**(10):1103-1108.



- 133. Ford E, Mokdad AH, Liu S. Healthy Eating Index and C-reactive protein concentration: Findings from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey III, 1988-1994. *Eur J Clin Nutr* 2004;**59**(2):278-283.
- 134. Fung T, McCullough ML, Newby PK, Manson JE, Meigs JB, Rifai N, Willett WC, Hu FB. Diet-quality Scores and Plasma Concentrations of Markers of Inflammation and Endothelial Dysfunction. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 2005;82(1):163-73.
- 135. Boynton A, Neuhouser ML, Wener MH, Wood B, Sorensen B, Chen-Levy Z, Kirk EA, Yasui Y, Lacroix K, McTiernan A, Ulrich CM. Associations between Healthy Eating Patterns and Immune Function or Inflammation in Overweight or Obese Postmenopausal Women. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 2007;86(5):1445-1455.
- 136. McCullough M, Willett WC. Evaluating Adherence to Recommended Diets in Adults: The Alternate Healthy Eating Index. *Public Health Nutrition* 2006;**9**(1a):152-157.
- 137. McCullough M, Feskanich D, Stampfer MJ, Giovannucci EL, Rimm EB, Hu FB, Spiegelman D, Hunter DJ, Colditz GA, Willett WC. Diet Quality and Major Chronic Disease Risk in Men and Women: Moving toward Improved Dietary Guidance. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 2002;**76**(6):1261-1271.
- 138. Guenther P, Casavale KO, Reedy J, Kirkpatrick SI, Hiza HA, Kuczynski KJ, Kahle LL, Krebs-Smith SM. Update of the Healthy Eating Index: HEI-2010. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics* 2013;**113**(4):569-580.
- 139. Bosetti C, Turati F, Dal Pont A, Ferraroni M, Polesel J, Negri E, Serraino D, Talamini R, La Vecchia C, Zeegers MP. The Role of Mediterranean Diet on the Risk of Pancreatic Cancer. *British Journal of Cancer* 2013;**109**(5):1360-6.
- 140. Fung T, Rexrode KM, Mantzoros CS, Manson JE, Willett WC, Hu FB. Mediterranean Diet and Incidence of and Mortality from Coronary Heart Disease and Stroke in Women. *Circulation* 2009;**119**(8):1093-1100.
- 141. Thompson F, Kipnis V, Subar AF, Krebs-Smith SM, Kahle LL, Midthune D, Potischman N, Schatzkin A. Evaluation of 2 Brief Instruments and a Food-Frequency Questionnaire to Estimate Daily Number of Servings of Fruit and Vegetables. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 2000;**71**(6):1503-1510.
- 142. Alamanos Y, Drosos AA. Epidemiology of Adult Rheumatoid Arthritis. *Autoimmunity Reviews* 2005;**4**(3):130-136.
- 143. Liese A, Nichols M, Sun X, D'Agostino RB Jr, Haffner SM. Adherence to the DASH Diet is Inversely Associated with Incidence of Type 2 Diabetes: The Insulin Resistance Atherosclerosis Study. *Diabetes Care* 2009;**32**(8):1434-1436.



- 144. Thompson FE SA, Smith AF, Midthune D, Radimer KL, Kahle LL, Kipnis V. Fruit and Vegetable Assessment: Performance of 2 New Short Instruments and a Food Frequency Questionnaire. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association* 2002;**102**(12):1764-72.
- 145. Fung T, Hu FB, Wu K, Chiuve SE, Fuchs CS, Giovannucci E. The Mediterranean and Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension (DASH) Diets and Colorectal Cancer. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 2010;**92**(6):1429-1435.
- 146. Milà-Villarroel R, Bach-Faig A, Puig J, Puchal A, Farran A, Serra-Majem L, Carrasco JL. Comparison and Evaluation of the Reliability of Indexes of Adherence to the Mediterranean Diet. *Public Health Nutrition* 2011;**14**(Special Issue 12A):2338-2345.
- 147. Lassale C, Fezeu L, Andreeva VA, Hercberg S, Kengne AP, Czernichow S, Kesse-Guyot E. Association between Dietary Scores and 13-year Weight Change and Obesity Risk in a French Prospective Cohort. *International Journal of Obesity* 2012:1476-5497.
- 148. Salas-Salvadó J, Garcia-Arellano A, Estruch R, Marquez-Sandoval F, Corella D, Fiol M, Gómez-Gracia E, Viñoles E, Arós F, Herrera C, Lahoz C, Lapetra J, Perona JS, Muñoz-Aguado D, Martínez-González MA, Ros E; PREDIMED Investigators. Components of the Mediterranean-type Food Pattern and Serum Inflammatory Markers among Patients at High Risk for Cardiovascular Disease. *Eur J Clin Nutr* 2007;**62**(5):651-59.
- 149. Jun D MA, Bremner JD, Goldberg J, Jones L, Shallenberger L, Buckham R, Murrah NV, Veledar E, Wilson PW, Vaccarino V. Adherence to the Mediterranean Diet is Inversely Associated with Circulating Interleukin-6 Among Middle-Aged Men. *Circulation* 2008;**117**(2):169-175.
- 150. Richard C, Couture P, Desroches S, Lamarche B. Effect of the Mediterranean Diet with and without Weight Loss on Markers of Inflammation in Men With Metabolic Syndrome. *Obesity* 2012.
- 151. Estruch R, Martínez-González MA, Corella D, Salas-Salvadó J, Ruiz-Gutiérrez V, Covas MI, Fiol M, Gómez-Gracia E, López-Sabater MC, Vinyoles E, Arós F, Conde M, Lahoz C, Lapetra J, Sáez G, Ros E. Effects of a Mediterranean-style Diet on Cardiovascular Risk Factors: A Randomized Trial. *Annals of Internal Medicine* 2006;**145**(1):1-11.
- 152. Trichopoulou A, Costacou T, Bamia C, Trichopoulos D. Adherence to a Mediterranean Diet and Survival in a Greek Population. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2003;**348**(26):2599-2608.
- 153. Schulze M, Hoffmann K, Manson JE, Willett WC, Meigs JB, Weikert C, Heidemann C, Colditz GA, Hu FB. Dietary Pattern, Inflammation, and Incidence



of Type 2 Diabetes in Women. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 2005;**82**(3):675-684.

- 154. Varraso R, Garcia-Aymerich J, Monier F, Le Moual N, De Batlle J, Miranda G, Pison C, Romieu I, Kauffmann F, Maccario J. Assessment of Dietary Patterns in Nutritional Epidemiology: Principal Component Analysis Compared with Confirmatory Factor Analysis. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 2012;96(5):1079-1092.
- 155. Martínez ME, Marshall, James R., Sechrest, Lee. Invited Commentary: Factor Analysis and the Search for Objectivity. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 1998;**148**(1):17-19.
- 156. Slattery M. Analysis of Dietary Patterns in Epidemiological Research. This paper is one of a selection of papers published in the CSCN–CSNS 2009 Conference, entitled "Are Dietary Patterns the Best Way to Make Nutrition Recommendations for Chronic Disease Prevention?". *Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism* 2010;**35**(2):207-210.
- 157. Reedy J, Wirfält E, Flood A, Mitrou PN, Krebs-Smith SM, Kipnis V, Midthune D, Leitzmann M, Hollenbeck A, Schatzkin A, Subar AF. Comparing 3 Dietary Pattern Methods—Cluster Analysis, Factor Analysis, and Index Analysis—with Colorectal Cancer Risk. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 2010;**171**(4):479-487.
- 158. Wirfält A, Jeffery RW. Using Cluster Analysis to Examine Dietary Patterns: Nutrient Intakes, Gender, and Weight Status Differ Across Food Pattern Clusters. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association* 1997;**97**(3):272-279.
- 159. DiBello J, Kraft P, McGarvey ST, Goldberg R, Campos H, Baylin A. Comparison of 3 Methods for Identifying Dietary Patterns Associated with Risk of Disease. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 2008;**168**(12):1433-1443.
- 160. Hoffmann K, Schulze MB, Schienkiewitz A, Nöthlings U, Boeing H. Application of a New Statistical Method to Derive Dietary Patterns in Nutritional Epidemiology. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 2004;**159**(10):935-944.
- 161. Hoffmann K, Zyriax BC, Boeing H, Windler E. A Dietary Pattern Derived to Explain Biomarker Variation is Strongly Associated with the Risk of Coronary Artery Disease. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 2004;**80**(3):633-640.
- 162. Heidemann C, Hoffmann K, Spranger J, Klipstein-Grobusch K, Möhlig M, Pfeiffer AF, Boeing H; EPIC-Potsdam Study Cohort. A Dietary Pattern Protective against Type 2 Diabetes in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC)—Potsdam Study cohort. *Diabetologia* 2005;48(6):1126-1134.



- 163. McNaughton S, Mishra GD, Brunner EJ. Dietary Patterns, Insulin Resistance, and Incidence of Type 2 Diabetes in the Whitehall II Study. *Diabetes Care* 2008;**31**(7):1343-1348.
- 164. Nettleton J, Steffen LM, Schulze MB, Jenny NS, Barr RG, Bertoni AG, Jacobs DR Jr. Associations between Markers of Subclinical Atherosclerosis and Dietary Patterns Derived by Principal Components Analysis and Reduced Rank Regression in the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis (MESA). *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 2007;85(6):1615-1625.
- 165. Liese A, Weis KE, Schulz M, Tooze JA. Food Intake Patterns Associated With Incident Type 2 Diabetes: The Insulin Resistance Atherosclerosis Study. *Diabetes Care* 2009;**32**(2):263-268.
- 166. Wu M, Ware JH. On the Use of Repeated Measurements in Regression Analysis with Dichotomous Responses. *Biometrics* 1979;**35**(2):513-21.
- 167. Parekh N, Voland RP, Moeller SM, Blodi BA, Ritenbaugh C, Chappell RJ, Wallace RB, Mares JA; CAREDS Research Study Group. Association Between Dietary Fat intake and Age-related Macular Degeneration in the Carotenoids in Age-related Eye Disease Study (CAREDS): An Ancillary Study of the Women's Health Initiative. Archives of Ophthalmology 2009;127(11):1483-1493.
- 168. Cupples L, D'Agostino RB, Anderson K, Kannel WB. Comparison of Baseline and Repeated Measure Covariate Techniques in the Framingham Heart Study. *Statistics in Medicine* 1988;7(1-2):205-22.
- 169. Schatzkin A, Cupples LA, Heeren T, Morelock S, Kannel WB. Sudden Death in the Framingham Heart Study. Differences in Incidence and Risk Factors by Sex and Coronary Disease Status. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 1984;**120**(6):888-899.
- 170. Prentice R, Gloeckler LA. Regression Analysis of Grouped Survival Data with Application to Breast Cancer Data. *Biometrics* 1978;**34**(1):57-67.
- 171. D'Agostino R, Lee ML, Belanger AJ, Cupples LA, Anderson K, Kannel WB.
 Relation of Pooled Logistic Regression to Time Dependent Cox Regression
 Analysis: The Framingham Heart Study. *Statistics in Medicine* 1990;9(12):1501-15.
- 172. Hu F, Stampfer MJ, Rimm E, Ascherio A, Rosner BA, Spiegelman D, Willett WC. Dietary Fat and Coronary Heart Disease: A Comparison of Approaches for Adjusting for Total Energy Intake and Modeling Repeated Dietary Measurements. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 1999;**149**(6):531-540.
- 173. Siegel R, Ma J, Zou Z, Jemal A. Cancer Statistics, 2014. *CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians* 2014;**64**(1):9-29.



- 174. World Cancer Research Fund / American Institute for Cancer Research. Continuous Update Project Report Summary. Food, Nutrition, Physical Activity, and the Prevention of Colorectal Cancer. 2011.
- 175. Wei EK, Colditz GA, Giovannucci EL, Fuchs CS, Rosner BA. Cumulative Risk of Colon Cancer up to Age 70 Years by Risk Factor Status Using Data From the Nurses' Health Study. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 2009;**170**(7):863-872.
- Randi G, Edefonti V, Ferraroni M, La Vecchia C, Decarli A. Dietary Patterns and the Risk of Colorectal Cancer and Adenomas. *Nutrition Reviews* 2010;68(7):389-408.
- 177. Miller P, Lesko SM, Muscat JE, Lazarus P, Hartman TJ. Dietary Patterns and Colorectal Adenoma and Cancer Risk: A Review of the Epidemiological Evidence. *Nutrition & Cancer* 2010;**62**(4):413-424.
- 178. Yusof A, Isa ZM, Shah SA. Dietary Patterns and Risk of Colorectal Cancer: A Systematic Review of Cohort Studies (2000-2011). *Asian Pacific Journal of Cancer Prevention* 2012;**13**(9):4713-7.
- 179. Magalhães B, Peleteiro B, Lunet N. Dietary Patterns and Colorectal Cancer: Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *European Journal of Cancer Prevention* 2012;**21**(1):15-23 10.1097/CEJ.0b013e3283472241.
- 180. Fung T, Brown LS. Dietary Patterns and the Risk of Colorectal Cancer. *Current Nutrition Reports* 2013;**2**(148-55).
- 181. Link L, Canchola AJ, Bernstein L, Clarke CA, Stram DO, Ursin G, Horn-Ross PL. Dietary Patterns and Breast Cancer Risk in the California Teachers Study Cohort. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 2013;**98**(6):1524-1532.
- 182. Baglietto L, Krishnan K, Severi G, Hodge A, Brinkman M, English DR, McLean C, Hopper JL, Giles GG. Dietary Patterns and Risk of Breast Cancer. *Bristish Journal of Cancer* 2011;**104**(3):524-31.
- 183. Miller P, Lazarus P, Lesko SM, Muscat JE, Harper G, Cross AJ, Sinha R, Ryczak K, Escobar G, Mauger DT, Hartman TJ. Diet Index-Based and Empirically Derived Dietary Patterns are Associated with Colorectal Cancer Risk. *The Journal of Nutrition* 2010;**140**(7):1267-1273.
- 184. Giovannucci E. An Updated Review of the Epidemiological Evidence that Cigarette Smoking Increases Risk of Colorectal Cancer. *Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers & Prevention* 2001;**10**(7):725-731.
- 185. Giovannucci E, Martinez ME. Tobacco, Colorectal Cancer, and Adenomas: a Review of the Evidence. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 1996;**88**(23):1717-1730.



- 186. Giovannucci E, Rimm EB, Stampfer MJ, Colditz GA, Ascherio A, Kearney J, Willett WC. A Prospective Study of Cigarette Smoking and Risk of Colorectal Adenoma and Colorectal Cancer in U.S. Men. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 1994;86(3):183-191.
- 187. Hannan L, Jacobs EJ, Thun MJ. The Association between Cigarette Smoking and Risk of Colorectal Cancer in a Large Prospective Cohort from the United States. *Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers & Prevention* 2009;**18**(12):3362-3367.
- 188. Terry P, Ekbom A, Lichtenstein P, Feychting M, Wolk A. Long-term Tobacco Smoking and Colorectal Cancer in a Prospective Cohort Study. *International Journal of Cancer* 2001;**91**(4):585-587.
- 189. Paskett E, Reeves KW, Rohan TE, Allison MA, Williams CD, Messina CR, Whitlock E, Sato A, Hunt JR. Association Between Cigarette Smoking and Colorectal Cancer in the Women's Health Initiative. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 2007;99(22):1729-1735.
- 190. Botteri E, Iodice S, Bagnardi V, Raimondi S, Lowenfels AB, Maisonneuve P. Smoking and Colorectal Cancer: A Meta-analysis. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 2008;**300**(23):2765-2778.
- 191. Nyrén O, Bergström R, Nyström L, Engholm G, Ekbom A, Adami HO, Knutsson A, Stjernberg N. Smoking and Colorectal Cancer: A 20-Year Follow-up Study of Swedish Construction Workers. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 1996;88(18):1302-1307.
- 192. Gong J, Hutter C, Baron JA, Berndt S, Caan B, Campbell PT, Casey G, Chan AT, Cotterchio M, Fuchs CS, Gallinger S, Giovannucci E, Harrison T, Hayes R, Hsu L, Jiao S, Lin Y, Lindor NM, Newcomb P, Pflugeisen B, Phipps AI, Rohan T, Schoen R, Seminara D, Slattery ML, Stelling D, Thomas F, Warnick G, White E, Potter J, Peters U. A Pooled Analysis of Smoking and Colorectal Cancer: Timing of Exposure and Interactions with Environmental Factors. *Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers & Prevention* 2012;**21**(11):1974-1985.
- 193. Stürmer T, Glynn RJ, Lee IM, Christen WG, Hennekens CH. Lifetime Cigarette Smoking and Colorectal Cancer Incidence in the Physicians' Health Study I. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 2000;**92**(14):1178-1181.
- 194. Boffetta P, Hashibe M, La Vecchia C, Zatonski W, Rehm J. The Burden of Cancer Attributable to Alcohol Drinking. *International Journal of Cancer* 2006;**119**(4):884-887.
- 195. Fedirko V, Tramacere I, Bagnardi V, Rota M, Scotti L, Islami F, Negri E, Straif K, Romieu I, La Vecchia C, Boffetta P, Jenab M. Alcohol Drinking and Colorectal Cancer Risk: An Overall and Dose–response Meta-analysis of Published Studies. *Annals of Oncology* 2011;**22**(9):1958-1972.



- 196. Moskal A, Norat T, Ferrari P, Riboli E. Alcohol Intake and Colorectal Cancer Risk: A Dose–response Meta-analysis of Published Cohort Studies. *International Journal of Cancer* 2007;**120**(3):664-671.
- 197. Mizoue T, Tanaka K, Tsuji I, Wakai K, Nagata C, Otani T, Inoue M, Tsugane S; Research Group for the Development and Evaluation of Cancer Prevention Strategies in Japan. Alcohol Drinking and Colorectal Cancer Risk: an Evaluation Based on a Systematic Review of Epidemiologic Evidence among the Japanese Population. *Japanese Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2006;**36**(9):582-597.
- 198. Bagnardi V, Blangiardo M, Vecchia C La, Corrao G. A Meta-analysis of Alcohol Drinking and Cancer Risk. *Br J Cancer* 2001;**85**(11):1700-05.
- 199. Cho E, Smith-Warner SA, Ritz J, van den Brandt PA, Colditz GA, Folsom AR, Freudenheim JL, Giovannucci E, Goldbohm RA, Graham S, Holmberg L, Kim DH, Malila N, Miller AB, Pietinen P, Rohan TE, Sellers TA, Speizer FE, Willett WC, Wolk A, Hunter DJ. Alcohol Intake and Colorectal Cancer: A Pooled Analysis of 8 Cohort Studies. *Annals of Internal Medicine* 2004;**140**(8):603-613.
- 200. Pöschl G, Seitz HK. Alcohol and Cancers. *Alcohol and Alcoholism* 2004;**39**(3):155-165.
- 201. International Agency for Research on Cancer. Weight control and physical activity IARC Handbooks of Cancer Prevention, IARC Press: Lyon, France. Vol. 6. Lyon, France: IARC, 2002.
- 202. Romaguera D, Vergnaud AC, Peeters PH, van Gils CH, Chan DS, Ferrari P, Romieu I, Jenab M, Slimani N, Clavel-Chapelon F, Fagherazzi G, Perquier F, Kaaks R, Teucher B, Boeing H, von Rüsten A, Tjønneland A, Olsen A, Dahm CC, Overvad K, Quirós JR, Gonzalez CA, Sánchez MJ, Navarro C, Barricarte A, Dorronsoro M, Khaw KT, Wareham NJ, Crowe FL, Key TJ, Trichopoulou A, Lagiou P, Bamia C, Masala G, Vineis P, Tumino R, Sieri S, Panico S, May AM, Bueno-de-Mesquita HB, Büchner FL, Wirfält E, Manjer J, Johansson I, Hallmans G, Skeie G, Benjaminsen Borch K, Parr CL, Riboli E, Norat T. Is Concordance with World Cancer Research Fund/American Institute for Cancer Research Guidelines for Cancer Prevention Related to Subsequent Risk of Cancer? Results from the EPIC Study. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 2012;**96**(1):150-163.
- 203. Bianchini F, Kaaks R, Vainio H. Weight Control and Physical Activity in Cancer Prevention. *Obesity Reviews* 2002;**3**(1):5-8.
- 204. Johnson I, Lund EK. Review Article: Nutrition, Obesity and Colorectal Cancer. *Alimentary Pharmacology & Therapeutics* 2007;**26**(2):161-181.
- 205. Calle E, Kaaks R. Overweight, Obesity and Cancer: Epidemiological Evidence and Proposed Mechanisms. *Natue Reviews Cancer* 2004;**4**(8):579-91.



- 206. Cook N, Lee IM, Gaziano JM, Gordon D, Ridker PM, Manson JE, Hennekens CH, Buring JE. Low-dose Aspirin in the Primary Prevention of Cancer: The Women's Health Study: A Randomized Controlled Trial. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 2005;**294**(1):47-55.
- 207. Gann P, Manson JE, Glynn RJ, Buring JE, Hennekens CH. Low-Dose Aspirin and Incidence of Colorectal Tumors in a Randomized Trial. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 1993;**85**(15):1220-1224.
- 208. Männistö S, Dixon LB, Balder HF, Virtanen MJ, Krogh V, Khani BR, Berrino F, van den Brandt PA, Hartman AM, Pietinen P, Tan F, Wolk A, Goldbohm RA. Dietary Patterns and Breast Cancer Risk: Results from three Cohort Studies in the DIETSCAN Project. *Cancer Causes & Control* 2005;**16**(6):725-733.
- 209. Cade J, Taylor EF, Burley VJ, Greenwood DC. Does the Mediterranean Dietary Pattern or the Healthy Diet Index Influence the Risk of Breast Cancer in a large British Cohort of Women? *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 2011;65(8):920-8.
- 210. Shikany J, Redden DT, Neuhouser ML, Chlebowski RT, Rohan TE, Simon MS, Liu S, Lane DS, Tinker L. Dietary Glycemic Load, Glycemic Index, and Carbohydrate and Risk of Breast Cancer in the Women's Health Initiative. *Nutrition and Cancer* 2011;**63**(6):899-907.
- 211. Nkondjock A, Ghadirian P. Diet Quality and BRCA-associated Breast Cancer Risk. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment* 2007;**103**(3):361-369.
- 212. Karimi Z, Jessri M, Houshiar-Rad A, Mirzaei HR, Rashidkhani B. Dietary Patterns and Breast Cancer Risk Among Women. *Public Health Nutrition* 2013;**FirstView**:1-9.
- 213. Wu A, Yu MC, Tseng CC, Stanczyk FZ, Pike MC. Dietary Patterns and Breast Cancer Risk in Asian American Women. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 2009;**89**(4):1145-1154.
- 214. Hirose K, Matsuo K, Iwata H, Tajima K. Dietary Patterns and the Risk of Breast Cancer in Japanese Women. *Cancer Science* 2007;**98**(9):1431-1438.
- 215. Albuquerque R, Baltar VT, Marchioni DM. Breast Cancer and Dietary Patterns: A Systematic Review. *Nutrition Reviews* 2014;**72**(1):1-17.
- 216. Sieri S, Krogh V, Pala V, Muti P, Micheli A, Evangelista A, Tagliabue G, Berrino F. Dietary Patterns and Risk of Breast Cancer in the ORDET Cohort. *Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers & Prevention* 2004;13(4):567-572.
- 217. Cade J, Taylor EF, Burley VJ, Greenwood DC. Common Dietary Patterns and Risk of Breast Cancer: Analysis From the United Kingdom Women's Cohort Study. *Nutrition and Cancer* 2010;**62**(3):300-306.



- 218. Aune D, Chan DS, Greenwood DC, Vieira AR, Rosenblatt DA, Vieira R, Norat T. Dietary Fiber and Breast Cancer Risk: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis of Prospective Studies. *Annals of Oncology* 2012;**23**(6):1394-1402.
- 219. Smith-Warner S, Spiegelman D, Yaun SS, Adami HO, Beeson WL, van den Brandt PA, Folsom AR, Fraser GE, Freudenheim JL, Goldbohm RA, Graham S, Miller AB, Potter JD, Rohan TE, Speizer FE, Toniolo P, Willett WC, Wolk A, Zeleniuch-Jacquotte A, Hunter DJ. Intake of Fruits and Vegetables and Risk of Breast Cancer: A Pooled Analysis of Cohort Studies. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 2001;**285**(6):769-776.
- 220. Agurs-Collins T, Rosenberg L, Makambi K, Palmer JR, Adams-Campbell L. Dietary Patterns and Breast Cancer Risk in Women Participating in the Black Women's Health Study. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 2009;**90**(3):621-628.
- 221. Aune D, Chan DS, Vieira AR, Rosenblatt DA, Vieira R, Greenwood DC, Norat T. Fruits, Vegetables and Breast Cancer Risk: A Systematic Review and Metaanalysis of Prospective Studies. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment* 2012;**134**(2):479-493.
- 222. Mills P, Beeson WL, Phillips RL, Fraser GE. Dietary Habits and Breast Cancer Incidence among Seventh-day Adventists. *Cancer* 1989;**64**(3):582-90.
- 223. Travis R, Allen NE, Appleby PN, Spencer EA, Roddam AW, Key TJ. A Prospective Study of Vegetarianism and Isoflavone Intake in Relation to Breast Cancer Risk in British Women. *International Journal of Cancer* 2008;**122**(3):705-710.
- 224. Mai V, Kant AK, Flood A, Lacey JV Jr, Schairer C, Schatzkin A. Diet Quality and Subsequent Cancer Incidence and Mortality in a Prospective Cohort of Women. *International Journal of Epidemiology* 2005;**34**(1):54-60.
- 225. Fung T, Hu FB, McCullough ML, Newby PK, Willett WC, Holmes MD. Diet Quality is Associated with the Risk of Estrogen Receptor–Negative Breast Cancer in Postmenopausal Women. *The Journal of Nutrition* 2006;**136**(2):466-472.
- 226. Cho Y, Kim J, Shin A, Park KS, Ro J. Dietary Patterns and Breast Cancer Risk in Korean Women. *Nutrition and Cancer* 2010;**62**(8):1161-1169.
- 227. Do M, Lee SS, Kim JY, Jung PJ, Lee MH. Fruits, Vegetables, Soy Foods and Breast Cancer in Pre- and Postmenopausal Korean women: A Case-control Study. *International Journal for Vitamin and Nutrition Research* 2007;**77**(22):130-41.
- 228. Zhang C, Ho SC, Fu JH, Cheng SZ, Chen YM, Lin FY. Dietary Patterns and Breast cancer Risk among Chinese Women. *Cancer Causes & Control* 2011;**22**(1):115-124.



- 229. Lee H, Lee IS, Choue R. Obesity, Inflammation and Diet. *Pediatric, Gastroenterology, Hepatology and Nutrition* 2013;**16**(3):143-152.
- 230. Trayhurn P, Wood IS. Adipokines: Inflammation and the Pleiotropic Role of White Adipose Tissue. *British Journal of Nutrition* 2004;**92**(03):347-355.
- 231. Eng S, Gammon MD, Terry MB, Kushi LH, Teitelbaum SL, Britton JA, Neugut AI. Body Size Changes in Relation to Postmenopausal Breast Cancer among Women on Long Island, New York. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 2005;**162**(3):229-237.
- 232. Harvie M, Howell A, Vierkant RA, Kumar N, Cerhan JR, Kelemen LE, Folsom AR, Sellers TA. Association of Gain and Loss of Weight before and after Menopause with Risk of Postmenopausal Breast Cancer in the Iowa Women's Health Study. *Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers & Prevention* 2005;**14**(3):656-661.
- 233. Vrieling A, Buck, Katharina, Kaaks, Rudolf, Chang-Claude, Jenny. Adult Weight Gain in Relation to Breast Cancer Risk by Estrogen and Progesterone Receptor Status: A Meta-analysis. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment* 2010;**123**(3):641-649.
- 234. McTiernan A. Associations between Energy Balance and Body Mass Index and Risk of Breast Carcinoma in Women from Diverse Racial and Ethnic Backgrounds in the U.S. *Cancer* 2000;**88**(5):1248-55.
- 235. van den Brandt P, Spiegelman D, Yaun SS, Adami HO, Beeson L, Folsom AR, Fraser G, Goldbohm RA, Graham S, Kushi L, Marshall JR, Miller AB, Rohan T, Smith-Warner SA, Speizer FE, Willett WC, Wolk A, Hunter DJ. Pooled Analysis of Prospective Cohort Studies on Height, Weight, and Breast Cancer Risk. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 2000;**152**(6):514-527.
- 236. Renehan A, Tyson M, Egger M, Heller RF, Zwahlen M. Body Mass Index and Incidence of Cancer: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis of Prospective Observational Studies. *The Lancet* 2008;**371**(9612):569-578.
- 237. Suzuki R, Orsini N, Saji S, Key TJ, Wolk A. Body Weight and Incidence of Breast Cancer Defined by Estrogen and Progesterone Receptor Status: A Metaanalysis. *International Journal of Cancer* 2009;**124**(3):698-712.
- 238. Pedersen B. The Anti-inflammatory Effect of Exercise: Its Role in Diabetes and Cardiovascular Disease Control. *Essays Biochem* 2006;**42**:105-17.
- 239. Panagiotakos D, Pitsavos C, Chrysohoou C, Kavouras S, Stefanadis C. The Associations between Leisure-time Physical Activity and Inflammatory and Coagulation Markers Related to Cardiovascular Disease: The ATTICA Study. *Preventive Medicine* 2005;**40**(4):432-7.



- 240. Ford E. Does Exercise Reduce Inflammation? Physical Activity and C-Reactive Protein among U.S. Adults. *Epidemiology* 2002;**13**(5):561-8.
- 241. Petersen A, Pedersen BK. The Role of IL-6 in Mediating the Anti-inflammatory Effects of Exercise. *Journal of Physiology and Pharmacology* 2007;**57**(Suppl 10):43-51.
- 242. Mathur N, Pedersen BK. Exercise as a Means to Control Low-grade Systemic Inflammation. *Mediators of Inflammation* 2008.
- 243. McCullough L, Eng SM, Bradshaw PT, Cleveland RJ, Teitelbaum SL, Neugut AI, Gammon MD. Fat or fit: The Joint Effects of Physical Activity, Weight Gain, and Body Size on Breast Cancer Risk. *Cancer* 2012;**118**(19):4860-4868.
- 244. McTiernan A, Kooperberg C, White E, Wilcox S, Coates R, Adams-Campbell LL, Woods N, Ockene J; Women's Health Initiative Cohort Study. Recreational Physical activity and the Risk of Breast Cancer in Postmenopausal Women: The Women's Health Initiative Cohort Study. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 2003;**290**(10):1331-1336.
- 245. McTiernan A. Physical Activity, Weight, Diet, and Breast Cancer Risk Reduction: Comment on "Physical Activity and Risk of Breast Cancer among Postmenopausal Women". *Archives of Internal Medicine* 2010;**170**(20):1792-1793.
- 246. Brinton L, Daling JR, Liff JM, Schoenberg JB, Malone KE, Stanford JL, Coates RJ, Gammon MD, Hanson L, Hoover RN. Oral Contraceptives and Breast Cancer Risk Among Younger Women. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 1995;87(11):827-835.
- 247. Ross R, Paganini-Hill A, Wan PC, Pike MC. Effect of Hormone Replacement Therapy on Breast Cancer Risk: Estrogen Versus Estrogen Plus Progestin. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 2000;**92**(4):328-332.
- 248. Schairer C, Lubin J, Troisi R, Sturgeon S, Brinton L, Hoover R. Menopausal Estrogen and Estrogen-Progestin Replacement Therapy and Breast Cancer Risk. *Journal of the American Medical Aassociation* 2000;**283**(4):485-491.
- 249. Collaborative Group on Hormonal Factors in Breast Cancer. Breast Cancer and Hormone Replacement Therapy: Collaborative Reanalysis of Data from 51 Epidemiological Studies of 52705 Women with Breast Cancer and 108411 Women without Breast Cancer. *The Lancet* 1997;**350**(9084):1047-1059.
- 250. Karim R, Mack WJ, Hodis HN, Roy S, Stanczyk FZ. Influence of Age and Obesity on Serum Estradiol, Estrone, and Sex Hormone Binding Globulin Concentrations following Oral Estrogen Administration in Postmenopausal Women. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism* 2009;**94**(11):4136-4143.



- 251. Rossouw J, Anderson GL, Prentice RL, LaCroix AZ, Kooperberg C, Stefanick ML, Jackson RD, Beresford SA, Howard BV, Johnson KC, Kotchen JM, Ockene J; Writing Group for the Women's Health Initiative Investigators. Risks and Benefits of Estrogen plus Progestin in Healthy Postmenopausal Women: Principal Results from the Women's Health Initiative Randomized Controlled Trial. *Journal of the American Medical Aassociation* 2002;**288**(3):321-333.
- 252. Anderson G, Limacher M, Assaf AR, Bassford T, Beresford SA, Black H, Bonds D, Brunner R, Brzyski R, Caan B, Chlebowski R, Curb D, Gass M, Hays J, Heiss G, Hendrix S, Howard BV, Hsia J, Hubbell A, Jackson R, Johnson KC, Judd H, Kotchen JM, Kuller L, LaCroix AZ, Lane D, Langer RD, Lasser N, Lewis CE, Manson J, Margolis K, Ockene J, O'Sullivan MJ, Phillips L, Prentice RL, Ritenbaugh C, Robbins J, Rossouw JE, Sarto G, Stefanick ML, Van Horn L, Wactawski-Wende J, Wallace R, Wassertheil-Smoller S; Women's Health Initiative Steering Committee. Effects of Conjugated Equine Estrogen in Postmenopausal Women with Hysterectomy: The Women's Health Initiative Randomized Controlled Trial. *Journal of the American Medical Aassociation* 2004;**291**(14):1701-1712.
- 253. Stefanick M, Anderson GL, Margolis KL, Hendrix SL, Rodabough RJ, Paskett ED, Lane DS, Hubbell FA, Assaf AR, Sarto GE, Schenken RS, Yasmeen S, Lessin L, Chlebowski RT; WHI Investigators. EFfects of Conjugated Equine Estrogens on Breast Cancer and Mammography Screening in Postmenopausal Women with Hysterectomy. *Journal of the American Medical Aassociation* 2006;**295**(14):1647-1657.
- 254. Hargreaves D, Knox F, Swindell R, Potten CS, Bundred NJ. Epithelial Proliferation and Hormone Receptor Status in the Normal Post-menopausal Breast and the Effects of Hormone Replacement Therapy. *Bristish Journal of Cancer* 1998;**78**(7):945-9.
- 255. Goss P, Ingle JN, Alés-Martínez JE, Cheung AM, Chlebowski RT, Wactawski-Wende J, McTiernan A, Robbins J, Johnson KC, Martin LW, Winquist E, Sarto GE, Garber JE, Fabian CJ, Pujol P, Maunsell E, Farmer P, Gelmon KA, Tu D, Richardson H; NCIC CTG MAP.3 Study Investigators. Exemestane for Breast-Cancer Prevention in Postmenopausal Women. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2011;**364**(25):2381-2391.
- 256. Kelsey JL, Berkowitz GS. Breast Cancer Epidemiology. *Cancer Research* 1988;**48**(20):5615-5623.
- 257. Howlader N, Noone AM, Krapcho M, Neyman N, Aminou R, Altekruse SF, Kosary CL, Ruhl J, Tatalovich Z, Cho H, Mariotto A, Eisner MP, Lewis DR, Chen HS, Feuer EJ, Cronin KA (eds). SEER Cancer Statistics Review, 1975– 2009 (Vintage 2009 Populations). National Cancer Institute. Bethesda, MD, <u>http://seer.cancer.gov/csr/1975_2009_pops09/</u>, based on November 2011 SEER data submission, posted to the SEER web site, April 2012. 2012.


- 258. Bauer K, Brown M, Cress RD, Parise CA, Caggiano V. Descriptive Analysis of Estrogen Receptor (ER)-negative, Progesterone Receptor (PR)-negative, and HER2-negative Invasive Breast Cancer, the so-called Triple-negative Phenotype. *Cancer* 2007;**109**(9):1721-1728.
- 259. Agurs-Collins T, Dunn BK, Browne D, Johnson KA, Lubet R. Epidemiology of Health Disparities in Relation to the Biology of Estrogen Receptor–Negative Breast Cancer. *Seminars in oncology* 2010;**37**(4):384-401.
- 260. Lund M, Trivers KF, Porter PL, Coates RJ, Leyland-Jones B, Brawley OW, Flagg EW, O'Regan RM, Gabram SG, Eley JW. Race and Triple Negative Threats to Breast Cancer Survival: A Population-based Study in Atlanta, GA. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment* 2009;**113**(2):357-370.
- 261. Brown M, Tsodikov A, Bauer KR, Parise CA, Caggiano V. The Role of Human Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor 2 in the Survival of Women with Estrogen and Progesterone Receptor-negative, Invasive Breast Cancer: The California Cancer Registry, 1999–2004. *Cancer* 2008;**112**(4):737-747.
- 262. Li C. Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Breast Cancer Stage, Treatment, and Survival in the United States. *Ethnicty ad Disease* 2005;**15**(2):S5-9.
- 263. Baquet C, Commiskey P. Socioeconomic Factors and Breast Carcinoma in Multicultural Women. *Cancer* 2000;**88**(5):1256-64.
- 264. Grabler P, Dupuy D, Rai J, Bernstein S, Ansell D. Regular Screening Mammography before the Diagnosis of Breast Cancer Reduces Black:White Breast Cancer Differences and Modifies Negative Biological Prognostic Factors. Breast Cancer Research and Treatment 2012;135(2):549-553.
- 265. Design of the Women's Health Initiative clinical trial and observational study. The Women's Health Initiative Study Group. *Control Clin Trials* 1998;**19**(1):61-109.
- 266. Patterson R, Kristal AR, Tinker LF, Carter RA, Bolton MP, Agurs-Collins T. Measurement Characteristics of the Women's Health Initiative Food Frequency Questionnaire. *Annals of Epidemiology* 1999;**9**(3):178-187.
- 267. Curb J, McTiernan A, Heckbert SR, Kooperberg C, Stanford J, Nevitt M, Johnson KC, Proulx-Burns L, Pastore L, Criqui M, Daugherty S; WHI Morbidity and Mortality Committee. Outcomes Ascertainment and Adjudication Methods in the Women's Health Initiative. *Annals of Epidemiology* 2003;**13**(9):S122-S128.
- 268. Szklo M, Nieto F. Javier. Sudbury M. *Epidemiology: Beyond the Basics*. 2nd ed. Sudbury, Mass.: Jones and Bartlett, 2004.
- 269. Tinker L, Rosal MC, Young AF, Perri MG, Patterson RE, Van Horn L, Assaf AR, Bowen DJ, Ockene J, Hays J, Wu L. Predictors of Dietary Change and



www.manaraa.com

Maintenance in the Women's Health Initiative Dietary Modification Trial. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association* 2007;**107**(7):1155-1165.

- 270. Davis N, Ma Y, Delahanty LM, Hoffman HJ, Mayer-Davis E, Franks PW, Brown-Friday J, Isonaga M, Kriska AM, Venditti EM, Wylie-Rosett J; Diabetes Prevention Program Research Group. Predictors of Sustained Reduction in Energy and Fat Intake in the Diabetes Prevention Program Outcomes Study Intensive Lifestyle Intervention. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics* 2013;**113**(11):1455-1464.
- 271. Hébert J, Wirth M, Davis L, Davis B, Harmon BE, Hurley TG, Drayton R, Angela Murphy E, Shivappa N, Wilcox S, Adams SA, Brandt HM, Blake CE, Armstead CA, Steck SE, Blair SN. C-Reactive Protein Levels in African Americans: A Diet and Lifestyle Randomized Community Trial. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine* 2013;45(4):430-440.
- 272. Nutrition Coordinating Center at the University of Minnesota M, MN Nutrition Data System for Research (NDSR). <u>http://www.ncc.umn.edu/products/ndsr.html</u> Accessed December 18, 2013.
- 273. Hebert J, Patterson RE, Gorfine M, Ebbeling CB, St Jeor ST, Chlebowski RT. Differences between Estimated Caloric Requirements and Self-reported Caloric Intake in the Women's Health Initiative. *Annals of epidemiology* 2003;**13**(9):629-637.
- 274. Sijtsma F, Meyer KA, Steffen LM, Shikany JM, Van Horn L, Harnack L, Kromhout D, Jacobs DR Jr. Longitudinal Trends in Diet and Effects of Sex, Race, and Education on Dietary Quality Score Change: The Coronary Artery Risk Development in Young Adults Study. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 2012;**95**(3):580-586.
- 275. Chaix B, Bean K, Daniel M, Zenk SN, Kestens Y, Charreire H, Leal C, Thomas F, Karusisi N, Weber C, Oppert JM, Simon C, Merlo J, Pannier B. Associations of Supermarket Characteristics with Weight Status and Body Fat: A Multilevel Analysis of Individuals within Supermarkets (RECORD Study). *PLoS One* 2012;7(4):e32908.
- 276. Drewnowski A MA, Jiao J, Aggarwal A, Charreire H, Chaix B. Food Environment and Socioeconomic Status Influence Obesity Rates in Seattle and in Paris. *International Journal of Obesity* 2014;**38**(2):306-314.
- 277. Brenner D, Boucher BA, Kreiger N, Jenkins D, El-Sohemy A. Dietary Patterns in an Ethnoculturally Diverse Population of Young Canadian Adults. *Candian Journal of Dietetic Practice and Research* 2011;**72**(3):e161-8.
- 278. Garduño-Diaz S, Khokhar S. South Asian Dietary Patterns and their Association with Risk Factors for the Metabolic Syndrome. *Journal of Human Nutrition and Dietetics* 2013;**26**(2):145-155.



- 279. Hays J, Hunt JR, Hubbell FA, Anderson GL, Limacher M, Allen C, Rossouw JE. The Women's Health Initiative Recruitment Methods and Results. *Annals of Epidemiology* 2003;**13**(9, Supplement):S18-S77.
- 280. Hebert J, Clemow L, Pbert L, Ockene IS, Ockene JK. Social Desirability Bias in Dietary Self-report May Compromise the Validity of Dietary Intake Measures. *International Journal of Epidemiology* 1995;**24**:389-398.
- 281. Hebert J, Ma Y, Clemow L, Ockene IS, Saperia G, Stanek EJ 3rd, Merriam PA, Ockene JK. Gender Differences in Social Desirability and Social Approval Bias in Dietary Self-report. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 1997;**146**(12):1046-1055.
- 282. Wirth M, Burch J, Shivappa N, Steck SE, Hurley TG, Vena JE, Hébert JR. Dietary Inflammatory Index Scores Differ by Shift Work Status: NHANES 2005 to 2010. *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine* 2014;**56**(2):145-148
- 283. Snedecor G, Cochran WG. *Statistical Methods*. 8 ed. Vol. 276. Ames Iowa: Iowa State University Press, 1989.
- 284. Department of Health and Human Services. 2008 Physical Activity Guidelines for Americans. <u>http://www.health.gov/paguidelines/</u> Accessed 4/8/2013.
- 285. Reedy J, Mitrou PN, Krebs-Smith SM, Wirfält E, Flood A, Kipnis V, Leitzmann M, Mouw T, Hollenbeck A, Schatzkin A, Subar AF. Index-based Dietary Patterns and Risk of Colorectal Cancer. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 2008;**168**(1):38-48.
- Bruce W, Wolever TM, Giacca A. Mechanisms Linking Diet and Colorectal Cancer: The Possible Role of Insulin Resistance. *Nutrition and Cancer* 2000;**37**(1):19-26.
- 287. Giovannucci E. Insulin and colon cancer. *Cancer Causes and Control* 1995;**6**(2):164-179.
- 288. Kabat G, Kim MY, Peters U, Stefanick M, Hou L, Wactawski-Wende J, Messina C, Shikany JM, Rohan TE. A Longitudinal Study of the Metabolic Syndrome and Risk of Colorectal Cancer in Postmenopausal Women. *European Journal of Cancer Prevention* 2012;**21**(4):326-332 10.1097/CEJ.0b013e32834dbc81.
- 289. Candela M, Turroni S, Biagi E, Carbonero F, Rampelli S, Fiorentini C, Brigidi P. Inflammation and Colorectal Cancer, when Microbiota-host Mutualism Breaks. *World Journal of Gastroenterology* 2014;**20**(4):908-22.
- 290. Anderson K, Schwab RB, Martinez ME. Reproductive Risk Factors and Breast Cancer Subtypes: A Review of the Literature. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment* 2014;**144**(1):1-10.



- 291. Collaborative Group on Hormonal Factors in Breast Cancer. Familial Breast Cancer: Collaborative Reanalysis of Individual Data from 52 Epidemiological Studies Including 58209 Women with Breast Cancer and 101986 Women without the Disease. *The Lancet* 2001;**358**(9291):1389-1399.
- 292. Touvier M, Fezeu L, Ahluwalia N, Julia C, Charnaux N, Sutton A, Méjean C, Latino-Martel P, Hercberg S, Galan P, Czernichow S. Association Between Prediagnostic Biomarkers of Inflammation and Endothelial Function and Cancer Risk: A Nested Case-Control Study. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 2013;**177**(1):3-13.
- 293. Hong T, Liu A, Cai D, Zhang Y, Hua D, Hang X, Wu X. Preoperative Serum C-Reactive Protein Levels and Early Breast Cancer by BMI and Menopausal Status. *Cancer Investigation* 2013;**31**(4):279-285.
- 294. Carey L, Perou CM, Livasy CA, Dressler LG, Cowan D, Conway K, Karaca G, Troester MA, Tse CK, Edmiston S, Deming SL, Geradts J, Cheang MC, Nielsen TO, Moorman PG, Earp HS, Millikan RC. Breast Cancer Subtypes, and Survival in the Carolina Breast Cancer Study. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 2006;**295**(21):2492-2502.
- 295. Cottet V, Touvier M, Fournier A, Touillaud MS, Lafay L, Clavel-Chapelon F, Boutron-Ruault MC. Postmenopausal Breast Cancer Risk and Dietary Patterns in the E3N-EPIC Prospective Cohort Study. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 2009;**170**(10):1257-1267.
- 296. Gaudet M, Britton JA, Kabat GC, Steck-Scott S, Eng SM, Teitelbaum SL, Terry MB, Neugut AI, Gammon MD. Fruits, Vegetables, and Micronutrients in Relation to Breast Cancer Modified by Menopause and Hormone Receptor Status. *Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers & Prevention* 2004;**13**(9):1485-1494.
- 297. Gaudet M, Patel AV, Teras LR, Sun J, Campbell PT, Stevens VL, Jacobs EJ, Gapstur SM. Obesity-related Markers and Breast Cancer in CPS-II Nutrition Cohort. *International Journal of Molecular Epidemiology and Genetics* 2013;**4**(3):156-66.
- 298. Catsburg C, Gunter MJ, Chen C, Cote ML, Kabat GC, Nassir R, Tinker L, Wactawski-Wende J, Page DL, Rohan TE. Insulin, Estrogen, Inflammatory Markers, and Risk of Benign Proliferative Breast Disease. *Cancer Research* 2014.
- 299. Gunter M, Hoover DR, Yu H, Wassertheil-Smoller S, Rohan TE, Manson JE, Li J, Ho GY, Xue X, Anderson GL, Kaplan RC, Harris TG, Howard BV, Wylie-Rosett J, Burk RD, Strickler HD. Insulin, Insulin-Like Growth Factor-I, and Risk of Breast Cancer in Postmenopausal Women. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 2009;101(1):48-60.
- 300. Bardia A, Olson JE, Vachon CM, Lazovich D, Vierkant RA, Wang AH, Limburg PJ, Anderson KE, Cerhan JR. Effect of Aspirin and other NSAIDs on



Postmenopausal Breast Cancer Incidence by Hormone Receptor Status: Results from a Prospective Cohort Study. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment* 2011;**126**(1):149-155.

- 301. Sinicrope F, Dannenberg AJ. Obesity and Breast Cancer Prognosis: Weight of the Evidence. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2011;**29**(1):4-7.
- 302. Key T, Appleby PN, Reeves GK, Roddam A, Dorgan JF, Longcope C, Stanczyk FZ, Stephenson HE Jr, Falk RT, Miller R, Schatzkin A, Allen DS, Fentiman IS, Key TJ, Wang DY, Dowsett M, Thomas HV, Hankinson SE, Toniolo P, Akhmedkhanov A, Koenig K, Shore RE, Zeleniuch-Jacquotte A, Berrino F, Muti P, Micheli A, Krogh V, Sieri S, Pala V, Venturelli E, Secreto G, Barrett-Connor E, Laughlin GA, Kabuto M, Akiba S, Stevens RG, Neriishi K, Land CE, Cauley JA, Kuller LH, Cummings SR, Helzlsouer KJ, Alberg AJ, Bush TL, Comstock GW, Gordon GB, Miller SR, Longcope C; Endogenous Hormones Breast Cancer Collaborative Group. Body Mass Index, Serum Sex Hormones, and Breast Cancer Risk in Postmenopausal Women. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 2003;95(16):1218-1226.
- 303. Cleary M, Grossmann ME. Obesity and Breast Cancer: The Estrogen Connection. *Endocrinology* 2009;**150**(6):2537-2542.
- 304. Yudkin J, Stehouwer CD, Emeis JJ, Coppack SW. C-Reactive Protein in Healthy Subjects: Associations with Obesity, Insulin Resistance, and Endothelial Dysfunction: A Potential Role for Cytokines Originating From Adipose Tissue? *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology* 1999;19(4):972-978.
- 305. Heikkilä K, Harris R, Lowe G, Rumley A, Yarnell J, Gallacher J, Ben-Shlomo Y, Ebrahim S, Lawlor DA. Associations of Circulating C-reactive Protein and Interleukin-6 with Cancer Risk: Findings from two Prospective Cohorts and a Meta-analysis. *Cancer Causes and Control* 2009;**20**(1):15-26.
- 306. Zhang X, Smith-Warner SA, Collins LC, Rosner B, Willett WC, Hankinson SE. Use of Aspirin, Other Nonsteroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drugs, and Acetaminophen and Postmenopausal Breast Cancer Incidence. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2012;**30**(28):3468-3477.
- 307. Takkouche B, Regueira-Méndez C, Etminan M. Breast Cancer and Use of Nonsteroidal Anti-inflammatory Drugs: A Meta-analysis. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 2008;**100**(20):1439-1447.
- 308. Luo T, Yan HM, He P, Luo Y, Yang YF, Zheng H. Aspirin Use and Breast Cancer Risk: A Meta-analysis. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment* 2012;**131**(2):581-587.
- 309. Zhang S, Cook NR, Manson JE, Lee IM, Buring JE. Low-dose Aspirin and Breast Cancer Risk: Results by Tumour Characteristics from a Randomised Trial. *Br J Cancer* 2008;**98**(5):989-991.



www.manaraa.com

310. Muti P, Quattrin T, Grant BJ, Krogh V, Micheli A, Schünemann HJ, Ram M, Freudenheim JL, Sieri S, Trevisan M, Berrino F. Fasting Glucose is a Risk Factor For Breast Cancer: A Prospective Study. *Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers & Prevention* 2002;**11**(11):1361-1368.



APPENDIX A - SHORT LIST OF WHI INVESTIGATORS

Program Office: (National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute, Bethesda, Maryland) Jacques Rossouw, Shari Ludlam, Dale Burwen, Joan McGowan, Leslie Ford, and Nancy Geller

Clinical Coordinating Center: (Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Center, Seattle, WA) Garnet Anderson, Ross Prentice, Andrea LaCroix, and Charles Kooperberg Investigators and Academic Centers: (Brigham and Women's Hospital, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA) JoAnn E. Manson; (MedStar Health Research Institute/Howard University, Washington, DC) Barbara V. Howard; (Stanford Prevention Research Center, Stanford, CA) Marcia L. Stefanick; (The Ohio State University, Columbus, OH) Rebecca Jackson; (University of Arizona, Tucson/Phoenix, AZ) Cynthia A. Thomson; (University at Buffalo, Buffalo, NY) Jean Wactawski-Wende; (University of Florida, Gainesville/Jacksonville, FL) Marian Limacher; (University of Iowa, Iowa City/Davenport, IA) Robert Wallace; (University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA) Lewis Kuller; (Wake Forest University School of Medicine, Winston-Salem, NC) Sally Shumaker Women's Health Initiative Memory Study: (Wake Forest University School of Medicine, Winston-Salem, NC) Sally Shumaker



172

For a list of all the investigators who have contributed to WHI science, please visit: https://www.whi.org/researchers/Documents%20%20Write%20a%20Paper/WHI%20In vestigato_r%20Long%20List.pdf

